| Technical Report Documentation Page | | | 1 | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 1. Report No. FHWA/TX-06/0-4618-1 | 2. Government Accessio | n No. | 3. Recipient's Catalog N | 0. |
| 4. Title and Subtitle COMPARISONS OF CRASHES ON RURAL TWO-L FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS IN TEXAS | | LANE AND | 5. Report Date September 2005 | |
| | | | 6. Performing Organizat | ion Code |
| 7. Author(s) Kay Fitzpatrick, William H. Schnei | der IV, and Eun Su | g Park | 8. Performing Organization Report No. Report 0-4618-1 | |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and Address Texas Transportation Institute | | | 10. Work Unit No. (TRA | IS) |
| The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135 | | | 11. Contract or Grant No Project 0-4618 | |
| 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Texas Department of Transportation Research and Technology Impleme | | | 13. Type of Report and F Technical Report September 2003- | :: August 2005 |
| P. O. Box 5080 Austin, Texas 78763-5080 | | | 14. Sponsoring Agency (| Code |
| 15. Supplementary Notes Project performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration. Project Title: Conversion of Two-Lane Rural Roadways to Four-Lane Roadways URL: http://tti.tamu.edu/documents/0-4618-1.pdf 16. Abstract The selection of the cross section for a roadway is a critical decision in the design process. This decision substantially impacts safety, capacity, and cost. Although capacity and cost considerations are generally readily evaluated, the impact of the cross section on safety is not always apparent. Lane width and shoulder width can have a significant impact on safety of rural two-lane and four-lane highways. Prediction models were used to generate estimates of the percent change in crashes between different shoulder or lane width decisions. These values can be used when evaluating alternatives. The prediction equations can also be used to identify the mean crash value over roadway segments of similar conditions. An upgrade for a rural two-lane highway to a rural four-lane divided highway with full shoulders can provide significant crash reductions. A conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulder cross section to a four-lane with narrow shoulder cross section should be considered only at very high average daily traffic counts and wide surface widths based on safety. Several variables were found through the literature and through this research that affect crash prediction at rural intersections. Those elements that can be influenced by designers with the greatest benefits in decreasing crashes include left-turn lanes, lighting, and wider right shoulders. | | | | This decision re generally th and shoulder diction models or lane width can also be used or a rural two- at crash th narrow d wide surface research that ners with the |
| ^{17. Key Words} Rural Highways, Two-Lane, Four-Lane, Safety, Crashes, Rural Intersections, Crash Prediction | | 18. Distribution Statement No restrictions. This document is available to the public through NTIS: National Technical Information Service Springfield, Virginia 22161 http://www.ntis.gov | | |
| 19. Security Classif.(of this report) Unclassified | 20. Security Classif.(of the Unclassified | nis page) | 21. No. of Pages 170 | 22. Price |
| Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) | Reproduction of complete | d nage authorized | ļ | ļ |

COMPARISONS OF CRASHES ON RURAL TWO-LANE AND FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS IN TEXAS

by

Kay Fitzpatrick, Ph.D., P.E. Research Engineer Texas Transportation Institute

and

William H. Schneider IV, Ph.D. Assistant Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute

Eun Sug Park, Ph.D. Assistant Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute

Report 0-4618-1 Project 0-4618 Project Title: Conversion of Two-Lane Rural Roadways to Four-Lane Roadways

> Performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration

> > September 2005

TEXAS TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) or the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. The engineer in charge was Kay Fitzpatrick, P.E. (TX-86762).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was conducted in cooperation with TxDOT and FHWA.

The authors thank the members of TxDOT's Project Monitoring Committee:

- Marty Smith, P.E., Project Director, TxDOT, Childress District
- Walter McCullogh, P.E., Project Coordinator, TxDOT, San Angelo District
- Tom D. Beeman, P.E., Project Advisor, TxDOT, Design Division
- Efrain Esparza, P.E., Project Advisor, TxDOT, El Paso District
- Cheryl P. Flood, P.E., Project Advisor, TxDOT, Lufkin District
- Wesley Naumann, P.E., Project Advisor, TxDOT, Houston District
- Charles B. Steed, P.E., Project Advisor, TxDOT, Childress District

Mark Wooldridge and Dick Zimmer provided advice and assistance on how to collect the roadway geometric data. Assisting the authors in data collection and analysis or report production included Todd Hausman, Charles Stevens, Denise Robledo, Maria Medrano, Pammy Katsabas, Megan Kubecka, Aaron Milsaps, and Brianne McEwen.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DISCLAIMER | v |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | vi |
| LIST OF FIGURES | ix |
| LIST OF TABLES | |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| RESEARCH OBJECTIVES | |
| ORGANIZATION | |
| CRASHES VERSUS ACCIDENTS | 3 |
| CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESEARCH | 5 |
| SAFETY EFFECT OF CHANGE IN CROSS SECTION | 5 |
| SAFETY EFFECT OF WIDENING LANES AND SHOULDERS | 9 |
| RURAL INTERSECTIONS | 13 |
| CHAPTER 3: COLLECTION OF FIELD DATA | 19 |
| PROCEDURE | 19 |
| ROADWAY SEGMENT SITE SELECTION | 19 |
| INTERSECTION SITE SELECTION | 22 |
| DATA COLLECTION EQUIPMENT | 23 |
| PRE-DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURE | 25 |
| FIELD DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURE | 27 |
| CHAPTER 4: REDUCTION OF FIELD DATA | 29 |
| DESCRIPTION OF ROADWAY SEGMENT DATASET | 29 |
| TWO-LANE OR FOUR-LANE HIGHWAY PERFORMANCE | |
| COMPARISON OF TWO-LANE AND FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS | 34 |
| DESCRIPTION OF INTERSECTION DATASET | |
| ADDITION OF CRASH RECORDS TO INTERSECTION DATASET | 39 |
| CHAPTER 5: CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS | 41 |
| OVERVIEW | 41 |
| CRASHES | 41 |
| DATA | 41 |
| MODELS | 42 |
| COMPARISON BETWEEN ACTUAL DATA AND PREDICTED VALUES | 51 |
| EFFECTS OF VARIABLES | 53 |
| RATIO | |
| COMPARISON WITH TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES | |
| WIDEN SHOULDER OR WIDEN LANE FIRST? | |
| CHAPTER 6: CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS | 69 |
| OVERVIEW | |
| CRASHES AND DATA | 69 |
| MODELS | |
| COMPARISON BETWEEN ACTUAL DATA AND PREDICTED VALUES | |
| EFFECTS OF VARIABLES | |
| RATIO | 80 |

| COMPARISON WITH TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES | 87 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| CHAPTER 7: FINDINGS FROM COMPARISON OF CRASHES ON 44- TO 54-FT | |
| SURFACE WIDTH | 93 |
| OVERVIEW | 93 |
| CRASHES | 93 |
| DATA | 94 |
| MODELS | 95 |
| TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES | 107 |
| COMPARISON | 107 |
| CHAPTER 8: CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL INTERSECTIONS | |
| OVERVIEW | 115 |
| CRASHES AND DATA | |
| MODELS | |
| CRASH PREDICTION FOR INTERSECTIONS WITH CROSS-ROAD ADT | 123 |
| CRASH PREDICTION FOR ALL INTERSECTIONS | 127 |
| CHAPTER 9: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS | |
| SUMMARY OF RESEARCH | |
| CONCLUSIONS | 140 |
| APPENDIX: SUGGESTIONS ON MATERIAL FOR REFERENCE DOCUMENTS | |
| POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER 3 ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL | 143 |
| POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER 4 ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL | 151 |
| POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR SAFETY REFERENCES | 151 |
| REFERENCES | 155 |

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

| Figure 2-1. All Crashes for Different Roadway Cross Sections (7). | 8 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Figure 2-2. Nonintersection Crashes for Different Roadway Cross Sections (7) | |
| Figure 2-3. Accident Modification Factors for Shoulder Width (2). | |
| Figure 2-4. Accident Modification Factors for Lane Width (2). | |
| Figure 2-5. Example of Left-Turn Lanes. | |
| Figure 3-1. Districts with Roads Included in Dataset. | |
| Figure 3-2. Example of Video Camera Mounted on Windshield. | |
| Figure 3-3. Example of DMI and Video Recording System along with Text Box of Information | |
| Recorded on the Video | |
| Figure 3-4. View of the Calibration Grid from the Video Camera | |
| Figure 3-5. Schematic of the Experimental Setup Used to Calibrate the Research Vehicle | |
| Figure 5-1. Distribution of Variables per Number of Miles for Rural Two-Lane Highway | |
| | 43 |
| Figure 5-2. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway | |
| Segments with ADT Greater Than 2000. | 52 |
| Figure 5-3. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway | |
| Segments with ADT 2000 or Less. | 52 |
| Figure 5-4. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation by Shoulder Width for a Range of | of |
| ADT Values. | 53 |
| Figure 5-5. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation by Lane Width for a Range of | |
| ADT Values. | |
| Figure 5-6. Plot of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highway | S. |
| | |
| Figure 5-7. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Shoulder Width | 59 |
| Figure 5-8. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Lane Width | 61 |
| Figure 5-9. Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Shoulder Width | 63 |
| Figure 5-10. Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Lane Width. | |
| Figure 5-11. Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to Total Crashes and SWICs | |
| for Shoulder Width. | |
| Figure 5-12. Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to Total Crashes and SWICs | 3 |
| for Lane Width | |
| Figure 6-1. Distribution of Crashes by Mile for Rural Four-Lane Highway Dataset | |
| Figure 6-2. Distribution of Variables by Mile for Rural Four-Lane Highway Dataset | 71 |
| Figure 6-3. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway | |
| Segments with ADT Less Than 5000. | 79 |
| Figure 6-4. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway | |
| Segments with ADT Greater than 5000. | |
| Figure 6-5. Comparison of Results From Prediction Equation by Shoulder Width for a Range | |
| ADT Values. | |
| Figure 6-6. Plot of Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on SWIG | |
| | |
| Figure 6-7. Comparison of Ratios. | |
| Figure 6-8. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Shoulder Width | 86 |

| Figure 6-9. | Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Shoulder Width. | 88 |
|-------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Figure 6-10 | . Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to SWICs for Shoulder Wid | th. |
| | - | 91 |
| Figure 7-1. | Distribution of Variables per Mile by Number of Lanes. | 96 |
| Figure 7-2. | Comparison of SWIC Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (10 mil | le |
| Segme | nt and ADT of 6000)1 | 109 |
| Figure 7-3. | Examples of Predicted Number of Annual SWICs by Surface Width for Different | |
| | _evels1 | |
| Figure 7-4. | Comparison of Total Crash Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (1 | 10- |
| mile S | egment and ADT of 6000)1 | 12 |
| Figure 7-5. | Comparison of SWIC KAB Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (| 10- |
| mile S | egment and ADT of 6,000)1 | 12 |
| Figure 7-6. | Comparison of Results Using Different Crash Types | 13 |
| Figure 8-1. | Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections on Rural Two | - |
| Lane H | Highways (3109 Intersections). 1 | 20 |
| Figure 8-2. | Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections on Rural Four | - |
| | Highways (630 Intersections). 1 | 21 |
| Figure 8-3. | Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections with Known | |
| | Road ADT (265 Intersections) 1 | |
| | Examples of Roadway Segments Included in Dataset | |
| | Reproduction of <i>Roadway Design Manual</i> Table 3-8 | |
| | Reproduction of <i>Roadway Design Manual</i> Table 4-2 | |
| | Material from Roadway Design Manual on Conversion. | |
| Figure A-4. | Reproduction of <i>Roadway Design Manual</i> Table 3-121 | 147 |
| | Reproduction of <i>Roadway Design Manual</i> Table 4-1 | |
| - | Reproduction of Roadway Design Manual Material on Intersections in Chapter 3, | |
| | n 4, Rural Two-Lane Highway Section 1 | |
| | Reproduction of Roadway Design Manual Material on Intersections in Chapter 3, | |
| | n 5, Multi-lane Rural Highway Section 1 | |
| Figure A-8. | Reproduction of <i>Roadway Design Manual</i> Table 3-11 | 150 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 2-1. Accident Reduction Factors for Related Accident Types for Combination of Lane and | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---|
| Shoulder Widening (8) |) |
| Shoulder Widening (8) | |
| Shoulder Width (AMF_{wra}) (2) | |
| Table 2-3. Equations for Accident Modification Factors for Related Accidents Based on Lane 12 | |
| Width (AMF_{lwra}) (2). 12 | 1 |
| Table 2-4. Negative Binomial Regression Results at Rural Four-Leg, Stop-Controlled Intersections from 2000 FUWA Study (11) | |
| Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11) | Ł |
| Table 2-5. Negative Binomial Regression Results at Rural Three-Leg, Stop-Controlled Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11) | |
| Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11) | Ł |
| | |
| on Major Road Approaches (16) |) |
| Table 2-7. Crash Rates Before and After Adding Left-Turn Channelization at Unsignalized | , |
| Intersections in Rural Areas (17) | |
| Table 4-1. Location Data Variables. 30 Table 4-2. Video Data Variables. 21 | |
| Table 4-2. Video Data Variables. 31 Table 4-2. DDS DL Assident Legistical Variables. 32 | |
| Table 4-3. DPS-RI Accident Location Information Variables. 32 Table 4-4. Data Mariables. 32 | |
| Table 4-4. Data Variables Gathered from the DPS-RI Accident File | |
| Table 4-5. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 1 | |
| Table 4-6. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 4 | |
| Table 4-7. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 5 | |
| Table 4-8. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 6 | |
| Table 5-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Dataset. 42 | |
| Table 5-2. Model 1A Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression 46 | |
| Table 5-3. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression 47 | |
| Table 5-4. Model 1C Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression 48 | |
| Table 5-5. Information for 3 yr TSWIC with Least-Squares Fit. 50 |) |
| Table 5-6. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways | _ |
| Based on Predictions of SWICs |) |
| Table 5-7. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Roadway Characteristics | _ |
| by ADT Group | |
| Table 5-8. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT<400. 57 | |
| Table 5-9. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT between 400 and 2000.58 | |
| Table 5-10. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT>2000. 58 | ; |
| Table 5-11. Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways by ADT Groups for | |
| Texas Data and DPC Values |) |
| Table 5-12. Ratios for Lane Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways by ADT Groups for Texas | |
| Data and <i>DPC</i> Values. 60 | |
| Table 5-13. Model Information for 3 yr Total Crash Data with Negative Binomial Regression. 63 |) |
| Table 5-14. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways | |
| Based on Predictions of Total Crashes | ŀ |

| Table 5-15. Model Information for 3 yr Crash KAB and 3 yr SWIC KAB Data with Negative | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------|
| Binomial Regression | 5 |
| Table 6-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Data Set |) |
| Table 6-2. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression for | |
| Four-Lane Highway | 3 |
| Table 6-3. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression for | |
| Four-Lane Highway with Right Shoulder, Median Class Revised, LogLen, and Log ADT | |
| Included in Model | 1 |
| Table 6-4. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression for | |
| Four-Lane Highway with Right Shoulder, LogLen, and Log ADT Included in Model | 5 |
| Table 6-5. Information for 3 yr TSWIC with Least-Squares Fit for Four-Lane Highway | |
| Table 6-6. List of Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on | |
| Predictions of SWICs | |
| Table 6-7. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Roadway Characteristics | 1 |
| by ADT Group | ł |
| Table 6-8. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADT < 4320 84 | |
| Table 6-9. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADT Between | 1 |
| 4320 and 8800 | 1 |
| Table 6-10. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADT > 8800. 85 | |
| Table 6-11. Ratios for Shoulder Widths for SWICs on Rural Four-Lane Highways by ADT | ′ |
| Groups for Texas Data and Two-Lane Highway <i>DPC</i> Values | 7 |
| Table 6-12. Model Information for 3yr Total Crash data with Negative Binomial Regression 88 | |
| Table 6-13. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based | , |
| |) |
| on Predictions of Total Crashes | ' |
| Binomial Regression | 1 |
| Table 7-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways with | ' |
| Surface Widths of 44 to 54 ft | 1 |
| Table 7-2. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1A: | r |
| Two- and Four-Lane Highways) | 2 |
| Table 7-3. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1B: | , |
| Two-Lane Highways) | ۱. |
| Table 7-4. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1B: | ' |
| Four-Lane Highways) | |
| Table 7-5. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1C: | 2 |
| | 2 |
| Two- and Four-Lane Highways) | |
| | |
| Table 7-7. Least-Squares Fit for 3 yr TSWIC for Four-Lane Highways. 105 Table 7-8. Madel Information for Tatal Crack Data with Negative Dimensiol Regression (True) |) |
| Table 7-8. Model Information for Total Crash Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Two- | , |
| and Four-Lane Highways) |) |
| Table 8-1. Distribution of Variables for Intersections on Two-Lane Highways (3109 Intersections) | 7 |
| Intersections) | I. |
| Table 8-2. Distribution of Variables for Intersections on Four-Lane Highways (630 Intersections) | , |
| Intersections) | \$ |
| | 、 |
| Intersections) | , |

| Table 8-4. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available |
| Table 8-5. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression |
| for Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available |
| Table 8-6. Model Information for Total Crashes KAB with Negative Binomial Regression for |
| Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available |
| Table 8-7. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for |
| Intersections on Two-Lane Highways |
| Table 8-8. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression |
| for Intersections on Two-Lane Highways |
| Table 8-9. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for |
| Intersections on Four-Lane Highways |
| Table 8-10. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial |
| Regression for Intersections on Four-Lane Highways |
| Table 9-1. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways |
| Based on Total Crashes |
| Table 9-2. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on |
| Predictions of Total Crashes |
| Table 9-3. Alpha Level Results from Negative Binomial Regression for Intersections |
| Table A-1. Suggested New Material for Roadway Design Manual Chapter 4, Section 3 151 |
| Table A-2. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways |
| Based on Predictions of Total Crashes |
| Table A-3. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on |
| Predictions of Total Crashes. 153 |

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Selection of a cross section is a major decision and turning point for a roadway design. Decisions regarding number of lanes, presence and width of a median, lane width, and shoulder width greatly affect safety, cost, and capacity of a roadway. The availability of information regarding those factors (safety, cost, and capacity) varies greatly. Cost information is available on a project-specific level as quantities are developed through application of state-wide and district cost estimates. Capacity information is available through application of *Highway Capacity Manual* (1) worksheets and formulas (or software). Previously, safety information was not available on a similar level. Recent efforts both on a national level (2) and within the state of Texas (3), however, are developing guidance materials that can evaluate potential safety effects of different design alternatives.

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objective of the study was to develop guidance suitable for use by an engineer or designer in the decision to upgrade rural two-lane highways and to support the decision regarding lane and shoulder width and use of left-turn lanes. Draft materials that could be incorporated into TxDOT publications are included in the Appendix of this report. The intent of the material is to improve resources available to TxDOT engineers and designers that can be used in the evaluation of cross-section options.

Additional objectives that supported the development of guidance material included the following:

- Identify the relationship between cross-sectional elements (e.g., lane width and shoulder width) with crashes on rural two-lane highways.
- Identify the relationship between cross-sectional elements (e.g., lane width, shoulder width, and median width or type) with crashes on rural four-lane highways.
- Compare the crash performance between rural two-lane with wide shoulder highways and rural four-lane with narrow shoulder highways.

1

Determine intersection characteristics, especially left-turn lanes, effect on intersection crashes.

ORGANIZATION

The research findings are presented in nine chapters and the Appendix. A brief summary of the material in each follows:

Chapter 1: Introduction contains a brief overview of project. It also explains the research objectives and provides an overview of the contents of the report.

Chapter 2: Review of Previous Research presents a summary of previous work.

Chapter 3: Collection of Field Data discusses the methodology used to collect the field data.

Chapter 4: Reduction of Field Data presents the procedure used to create the datasets used in the evaluations.

Chapter 5: Crash Prediction for Rural Two-Lane Highways presents prediction equations that demonstrate the effects of lane width and shoulder width on crash prediction for rural two-lane highways.

Chapter 6: Crash Prediction for Rural Four-Lane Highways presents prediction equations that demonstrate the effects of lane width and shoulder width on crash prediction for rural four-lane highways.

Chapter 7: Findings from Comparison of Crashes on 44 to 54 ft Surface Width contains the results from the analysis of 1999 to 2001 crash data that compares the safety performance of two-lane highways with wide shoulders to four-lane highways with minimal shoulders.

Chapter 8: Crash Prediction for Rural Intersections discusses the findings from evaluation of intersections on two- and four-lane highways.

Chapter 9: Summary and Conclusions summarizes the project and presents the conclusions from the project.

Appendix: Suggestions on Material for Reference Documents presents draft materials that can be included in the TxDOT *Roadway Design Manual* and integrated into safety reference documents.

CRASHES VERSUS ACCIDENTS

Most previous works use the term "accidents." That is also the term currently used within TxDOT and the Department of Public Safety (DPS) in stored data. The term recommended by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) is "crashes," which is the term primarily used in this report. The term "accident" will be used when referencing other materials which use that term.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESEARCH

SAFETY EFFECT OF CHANGE IN CROSS SECTION

In 1999, Council and Stewart (4) published their findings on estimating the benefits of converting a two-lane highway to a four-lane highway. They noted that a large sample of studies examined the nonsafety operational effects of such improvements but that only three studies examined the safety effects. These four studies (the three studies identified by Council and Stewart along with their study) basically examined three levels of improvements:

- addition of short four-lane passing segments on two-lane arterials,
- conversion of a two-lane facility to an undivided four-lane facility, and
- full-scale upgrade to a divided four-lane facility.

Addition of Short Four-Lane Passing Segments

Harwood and St. John (5) conducted a comparative evaluation of case and control sites in which the former were short four-lane undivided road segments and the latter were sections of two-lane road immediately preceding and immediately following that treated segment. They noted that other improvements may have occurred at the same time. The crash-rate analysis (based on relatively small samples of locations) yielded a nonsignificant decrease in total crash rate of 34 percent, a statistically significant decrease in cross-centerline crashes of 50 percent, and nonsignificant decreases across all other crash types and within injury categories. Importantly, no increase in crash rate was noted for any treated section of roadway. Before-and-after data were available for only one site, which showed an overall crash rate decrease of 40 percent after the lanes were added – a change from 2.16 to 1.3 crashes per million vehicle miles of travel.

Full-Scale Upgrade

Harwood (6) conducted a comparative evaluation of different types of suburban arterials in California and Michigan. He studied suburban arterials for speeds between 35 and 50 mph and

5

average daily traffic (ADT) greater than 7000 vpd; therefore, the findings are not directly applicable to rural two-lane highways.

Council and Stewart estimated the benefits of converting from a two-lane to a four-lane highway. They used cross-sectional models and produced crash rates for typical sections of two- and fourlane roadways in four states. The assumed typical sections used were:

- two-lane roads:
 - o 24-ft paved travelway with 6-ft shoulders,
 - o 24-ft paved travelway with 8-ft shoulders, and
 - o 22-ft paved travelway with 6-ft shoulders.
- four-lane undivided:
 - o 48-ft paved travelway with 8-ft outside shoulders.
- four-lane divided:
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width of 16 ft, and shoulder widths of 10 ft;
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width of 16 ft, and shoulder widths of 12 ft;
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width of 60 ft, and shoulder widths of 10 ft;
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width of 60 ft, and shoulder widths of 12 ft;
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width between 16 and 60 ft, and shoulder widths of 10 ft; and
 - 24-ft paved travelway in each direction, median width between 16 and 60 ft, and shoulder widths of 12 ft.

Predicted crash reductions for conversion from typical two-lane roadway to a four-lane divided section ranged from 40 to 60 percent. The reduction due to conversion from a two-lane roadway to a four-lane undivided configuration is much less well defined, ranging from no effect to perhaps a 20 percent reduction. Note that the conversion always involved shoulders of at least

8 ft in width; therefore, similar reductions in crashes should not be expected when converting a two-lane with wide shoulders to a four-lane with minimal shoulders.

Conversion of a Two-Lane Facility to an Undivided Four-Lane Facility

A 1980s Texas study by Fambro et al. (7) is the previous research most relevant to this current TxDOT project. It was also a TxDOT study, and it used a comparative analysis and a before-and-after study design to assess the effect of converting a two-lane rural road with paved shoulders to four lanes without paved shoulders (i.e., directly applicable to this current study). The before-and-after study evaluated a total of 60 sites; crash data at each site were recorded over a 4-year period (2 years before and 2 years after the conversion). No comparison sites were included in the study. The sites were divided into three ADT categories – fewer than 3000 vpd, 3000 to 5000 vpd, and 5000 to 7000 vpd. The only statistically significant findings for total crashes were in the 3000 to 5000 ADT range, in which total crashes decreased by 9.1 percent. For nonintersection crashes, a statistically significant increase of 12.6 percent was observed for ADT levels of fewer than 3000 vpd, and statistically significant decreases of 19 and 28 were observed for the two higher ADT ranges.

The comparative analysis used a total of 16,334 crashes with 8815 representing nonintersection crashes for the years 1975 to 1977. The authors generated Figures 2-1 and 2-2 to illustrate the results of the crash rate investigation for the all-crash and nonintersection crash datasets, respectively. The authors observed from these figures that the crash rate for each highway type increased as the traffic volume increased. Two-lane highways without paved shoulders had the highest crash rates and were the most sensitive to changes in traffic volumes. Two-lane highways with paved shoulders had the lowest crash rates. Four-lane highways with no shoulders were the least sensitive to volume level and had a crash rate between the other two types of highways. The researchers concluded that the presence of paved shoulders had a noticeable effect in reducing the crash rate on rural Texas highways.



Figure 2-1. All Crashes for Different Roadway Cross Sections (7).



Figure 2-2. Nonintersection Crashes for Different Roadway Cross Sections (7).

SAFETY EFFECT OF WIDENING LANES AND SHOULDERS

Numerous studies have been conducted to determine the effects of lane width, shoulder width, and shoulder type on crash experience. A 1987 FHWA study by Zegeer et al. (8) quantified the effects of lane width, shoulder width, and shoulder type on highway crash experience based on an analysis of data for nearly 5000 miles of rural two-lane highways from seven states. Crash types found to be related to lane and shoulder width, shoulder type, and roadside condition include run-off-road (fixed object, rollover, and other run-off-road crashes), head-on, and opposite- and same-direction sideswipe crashes, which together were termed as "related accidents." An accident prediction model was developed and used to determine the expected effects of lane- and shoulder-widening improvements on related accidents.

The study found that lane widening of 1 ft (e.g., from 10-ft to 11-ft lanes) is expected to reduce related accidents by 12 percent. Widening lanes by 2 ft, 3 ft, and 4 ft will reduce related accident types by 23 percent, 32 percent, and 40 percent, respectively. Table 2-1 summarizes the accident reduction factors for projects involving combinations of lane and shoulder widening. Factors are also available for paving shoulders (see Zegeer et al.) and combining reductions for multiple treatments. The factors in Table 2-1 are appropriate for two-lane roads with ADTs of 100 to 10,000 vehicles per day, lane widths of 8 to 12 ft, and 0- to 12-ft paved shoulders.

Zegeer and Council (9) reported on several studies that reviewed the effects of roadway widening on rural two-lane highways. The studies used a wide range of sample sizes and analysis techniques and all basically found that crash rates decrease because of wider lanes or shoulders or both, even though there was considerable variation in the exact amount of crash reduction.

| Amount of Lane | Existing Shoulder | Percent Related Accidents Reduced | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|
| Widening (ft) | Condition | | | | |
| _ | (Before | | | | |
| | Period) | Sh | oulder Condition | on in After Peri | od |
| | Shoulder | 2-ft Shoulder | 4-ft Shoulder | 6-ft Shoulder | 8-ft Shoulder |
| | Width (ft) | | | | |
| | 0 | 43 | 52 | 59 | 65 |
| | 2 | 32 | 43 | 52 | 59 |
| 3 | 4 | | 32 | 43 | 52 |
| | 6 | | | 32 | 43 |
| | 8 | | | | 32 |
| | 0 | 35 | 45 | 53 | 61 |
| | 2 | 25 | 37 | 46 | 53 |
| 2 | 4 | | 27 | 38 | 45 |
| | 6 | | | 29 | 35 |
| | 8 | | | | 23 |
| | 0 | 26 | 37 | 47 | 55 |
| | 2 | 12 | 26 | 37 | 47 |
| 1 | 4 | | 12 | 26 | 37 |
| | 6 | | | 12 | 26 |
| | 8 | | | | 12 |
| Cells were left blank where they correspond to projects which would decrease shoulder width. | | | | | |

| Table 2-1. Accident Reduction Factors for Related Accident Types for Combinatio | n of |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Lane and Shoulder Widening (8). | |

Values are only for rural two-lane highways.

Factors are appropriate for two-lane roads with ADTs of 100 to 10,000 vpd, lane widths of 8 to 12 ft, and 0- to 12-ft shoulders that are paved.

Using the findings from the Zegeer's studies along with several other studies, Harwood et al. (10) developed a methodology to predict the expected safety performance of rural two-lane highways. The methodology formed the basis of the rural two-lane highway Draft Prototype Chapter (DPC) (2) developed for consideration of the forthcoming Highway Safety Manual. Figure 2-3 shows the accident modification factors (AMFs) that would be used with related accidents to determine the impact of different shoulder widths on the prediction of crashes. Table 2-2 provides equations that can be used in place of the figure. For lane width changes, the values in the DPC are shown in Figure 2-4 and Table 2-3.



Figure 2-3. Accident Modification Factors for Shoulder Width (2).

 Table 2-2. Equations for Accident Modification Factors for Related Accidents Based on

 Shoulder Width (AMF_{wra}) (2).

| Shoulder Width (ft) | ADT | | |
|---------------------|------|------------------------------------------------|-------|
| | <400 | 400 to 2000 | >2000 |
| 0 | 1.10 | $1.1 + 2.50 \times 10^{-4} (\text{ADT-400})$ | 1.50 |
| 2 | 1.07 | $1.07 + 0.43 \times 10^{-4}$ (ADT-400) | 1.30 |
| 4 | 1.02 | $1.02 + 8.125 \times 10^{-5} (\text{ADT-400})$ | 1.15 |
| 6 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| 8 | 0.98 | $0.98 - 6.875 \times 10^{-5} (\text{ADT-400})$ | 0.87 |



Figure 2-4. Accident Modification Factors for Lane Width (2).

Table 2-3. Equations for Accident Modification Factors for Related Accidents Based on
Lane Width (AMF_{lwra}) (2).

| Lane Width | ADT | | | |
|------------|------|-----------------------------------------------|-------|--|
| (ft) | <400 | 400 to 2000 | >2000 | |
| 9 or less | 1.05 | $1.05 + 2.81 \times 10^{-4} (\text{ADT-400})$ | 1.50 | |
| 10 | 1.02 | $1.02 + 1.75 \times 10^{-4}$ (ADT-400) | 1.30 | |
| 11 | 1.01 | $1.01 + 2.50 \times 10^{-5} (\text{ADT-400})$ | 1.05 | |
| 12 or more | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | |

RURAL INTERSECTIONS

Regression Models

FHWA (*11*) sponsored a research study to develop statistical models of the relationship between traffic crashes and highway geometric elements for at-grade intersections. Of the several statistical modeling approaches used, negative binomial regression was the preferred approach for rural intersections. Regression models of the relationship between crashes and intersection geometric design, traffic control, and ADT variables explained between 16 and 39 percent of the variability in the crash data. However, most of that variability was explained by the traffic volume variables considered (major road and cross-road ADTs). Geometric design variables accounted for only a small additional portion of the variability.

In the FHWA study, negative binomial regression models were developed to fit the 3-year crash data at rural three- and four-leg, stop-controlled intersections. After the initial run with all available variables, the significance of each regression coefficient was examined. If a coefficient was not significant at the 10 percent level, the corresponding variable was deleted from the model and the negative binomial regression was rerun. Only variables with significance levels higher than 10 percent were included in the model. Table 2-4 lists the independent variables for total crashes and fatal/injury crashes for rural four-leg, stop-controlled intersections. These variables are listed in decreasing order of their ability to explain the variations in intersection crash frequencies as indicated by the chi-square value in the final negative binomial model. The rural four-leg, stop-controlled intersections study was based on 1434 intersections. Table 2-5 lists the results for rural three-leg, stop-controlled intersections. A total of 2692 intersections were available for the evaluation.

| Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11). | | | | |
|------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Total Crashes | Fatal/Injury Crashes | | | |
| Intercept | Intercept | | | |
| Cross-road ADT (log) | Cross-road ADT (log) | | | |
| Major road ADT (log) | Major road ADT (log) | | | |
| Number of lanes on major road | Number of lanes on major road | | | |
| Design speed on major road | Design speed on major road | | | |
| Access control on major road | Terrain | | | |
| Functional class of major road | Functional class of major road | | | |
| Lighting | Lighting | | | |
| Terrain | | | | |
| Major road right-turn channelization | | | | |

 Table 2-4. Negative Binomial Regression Results at Rural Four-Leg, Stop-Controlled

 Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11).

 Table 2-5. Negative Binomial Regression Results at Rural Three-Leg, Stop-Controlled

 Intersections from 2000 FHWA Study (11).

| Total Crashes | Fatal/Injury Crashes |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| Intercept | Intercept |
| Major road ADT (log) | Major road ADT (log) |
| Cross-road ADT (log) | Cross-road ADT (log) |
| Major road left-turn channelization | Outside shoulder width on major road |
| Access control on major road | Lighting |
| Functional class of major road | Major road left-turn channelization |
| Outside shoulder width on major road | Functional class of major road |
| Terrain | Cross-road right-turn channelization |

Left-Turn Lane

The left-turn lane is generally the key auxiliary lane at an intersection (see Figure 2-5 for an example). It creates the opportunity to separate and avoid speed differences between the left-turning vehicle and the through vehicles. It also decreases the delay that can be experienced by through vehicles behind a turning vehicle. Plus increasing the operational efficiency of the intersection increases intersection capacity and safety. Left-turn lanes can also provide increased visibility to the turning vehicle by the opposing traffic.



Figure 2-5. Example of Left-Turn Lanes.

The American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) *A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets* (commonly known as the *Green Book*) (12) indicates that left-turn lanes should be established on roadways where traffic volumes are high enough (see *Green Book* Exhibit 9-75) or safety considerations are sufficient to justify left-turn treatment. Similar information is included in the TxDOT *Roadway Design Manual* (see Chapter 3, Section 4, "Left-Turn Lanes" of the TxDOT *Roadway Design Manual*) (13). Additional information on left-turn treatments at intersections is included in National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Synthesis 225 (14) and NCHRP Report 279 (15). Information on taper designs and deceleration and acceleration lengths for different grades or running speed assumptions is included in the *Green Book* (12).

A 2002 FHWA study found that the addition of a left-turn lane can result in crash reductions of 7 to 48 percent (see Table 2-6) (*16*). The study gathered geometric design, traffic control, traffic volume, and traffic crash data for a total of 280 improved sites under the jurisdiction of the participating states, as well as 300 similar intersections that were not improved during the study

period. The types of improvement projects evaluated included installation of added left-turn lanes, installation of added right-turn lanes, installation of added left- and right-turn lanes as part of the same project, and extension of the length of existing left- or right-turn lanes. An observational before-and-after evaluation of these projects was performed.

| Intersection Type | Intersection Traffic Control | Number of Major-Road Approaches on Which Left-Turn Lanes Are Installed | | | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Traine Control | One Approach | Both Approaches | | | | | |
| RURAL | | | | | | | | |
| Three-leg | Stop Sign 44 | | | | | | | |
| intersection | Traffic Signal | 15 | | | | | | |
| Four-leg | Stop Sign | 28 | 48 | | | | | |
| intersection | tersection Traffic Signal 18 | | 33 | | | | | |
| URBAN | | | | | | | | |
| Three-leg | Stop Sign | 33 | | | | | | |
| intersection | Traffic Signal | 7 | | | | | | |
| Four-leg | Stop Sign | 27 | 47 | | | | | |
| intersection | Traffic Signal | 10 | 19 | | | | | |

 Table 2-6. Expected Percentage Reduction in Total Crashes from Installation of Left-Turn Lanes on Major Road Approaches (16).

A 1967 California study examined the difference in the effectiveness of the raised barrier protected left turn versus the painted left turn in rural areas (*17*). Both treatments provided a significant reduction in crash rates with relatively little difference between the types of treatment for rural areas (see Table 2-7).

| intersections in Kurai Areas (17). | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|-------------------|--|--|
| | Raised Barrier Protected | | | Painted | | | | |
| | Rate Before | Rate After | Percent Change | Rate Before | Rate After | Percent Change | | |
| Crash Type | | | | | | | | |
| Single Vehicle | 0.10 | 0.07 | -30 | 0.10 | 0.15 | +50 | | |
| Left-Turn | 0.18 | 0.05 | -72 | 0.28 | 0.15 | -46 | | |
| Rear-End | 0.49 | 0.02 | -96 S | 0.51 | 0.09 | -82 S | | |
| Crossing | 0.28 | 0.27 | -4 | 0.19 | 0.16 | -16 | | |
| Other | 0.13 | 0.07 | -46 | 0.07 | 0.03 | -57 | | |
| Severity | | | | | | | | |
| Property Damage | 0.72 | 0.34 | -53 S | 0.61 | 0.31 | -49 S | | |
| Injury | 0.39 | 0.15 | -62 S | 0.54 | 0.25 | -54 S | | |
| Fatal | 0.08 | 0.00 | -100 | 0.01 | 0.01 | 0 | | |
| Light Condition | | | | | | | | |
| Day | 0.67 | 0.25 | -64 S | 1.18 | 0.55 | -53 S | | |
| Night | 0.51 | 0.24 | -53 S | 1.13 | 0.63 | -44 | | |
| TOTAL | 1.18 | 1.049 | -58 S | 1.16 | 0.58 | -50 S | | |
| Changes indicated with "S" are significant at the 0.10 level using the chi-square test. Crash rates are the number of crashes per million entering vehicles. | | | | | | | | |

 Table 2-7. Crash Rates Before and After Adding Left-Turn Channelization at Unsignalized

 Intersections in Rural Areas (17).

CHAPTER 3

COLLECTION OF FIELD DATA

PROCEDURE

To compare the safety relationships for cross-sectional elements on rural two- and four-lane roadways, a dataset containing a range of lane widths and shoulder widths is needed. The dataset of roadway segments was to include the following:

- rural highways (as defined in the TxDOT database),
- two- and four-lane segments,
- range of shoulder widths (between 0 and 12 ft or more),
- range of lane widths (between 9 and 12 ft or more), and
- for the four-lane roadways, a sample of median types and widths.

The overall data collection procedure was to identify roadway segments of interest, to videotape those roadways while driving at or near highway speed, and then to pull geometric information from the video tapes in the office. The videotapes would also be used to identify intersections of interest for the intersection analyses. Supplementing the data from the video was (a) information from straight-line diagrams provided by the districts and (b) data, such as average daily traffic values, from the Texas Reference Marker (TRM) databases.

ROADWAY SEGMENT SITE SELECTION

To obtain the diverse sample, data collection efforts focused on the following districts:

- Bryan,
- Dallas,
- Childress,
- El Paso,
- Lufkin, and
- San Angelo.

The primary evaluation for this study was comparing crash data for two-lane with wide shoulder to four-lane with narrow shoulder highways. A review of the distribution of data gathered from the above districts revealed that a much larger number of two-lane with wide shoulder highways were available compared to four-lane with minimal shoulder highways. Therefore additional data collection efforts to gather data on four-lane with minimal shoulder highways also occurred in:

- Abilene,
- Austin,
- San Antonio,
- Atlanta, and
- Brownwood.

Figure 3-1 shows the location of the districts with roads included in the dataset.



Figure 3-1. Districts with Roads Included in Dataset.

The procedure for identifying sites began with the roadway geometric information for the selected districts. In the beginning the Roadway Inventory (RI) file database was used. The RI

file includes information on the traffic characteristics and geometry for roadway segments for both state highways and county roads. The RI file contains relevant highway and county road information for the years 2000 and earlier.

After 2000, information about state highway segments was superseded by other databases, such as the Texas Reference Marker system, RhiNO, Geo-Hini, and P-HiNI databases. The information in these databases is referenced to the roadside reference markers that are usually placed on route marker signs at approximately 2-mile intervals and the control section and mile point used in the straight-line diagrams. In addition to locating the roadway segments, the RhiNO database provides segment descriptions including surface and shoulder widths, number of lanes, ADTs, and functional classification.

Geometric information used to identify potential study sites for the two- and four-lane rural highway analysis included:

- surface width,
- number of lanes,
- median type,
- median width,
- shoulder (right and left) width, and
- shoulder (right and left) type.

In some cases, the RhiNO database did not include geometric data of interest to this project. One example of a potentially key variable is lane width. Researchers were able to estimate lane width for each segment by dividing the surface width by the number of lanes.

In addition, a number of other variables were pulled from the RhiNO database. These variables included items that would locate the segment, such as highway number, control section, mile point, reference number, and displacement from the reference marker. The TRM provides reference locations in units of reference markers and control sections/mile points. Unlike reference markers, control sections and mile points are used to locate the DPS crash records.

Other variables in addition to locations and geometries were the average daily traffic values for the segment and the functional classification of the roadway.

The target roadway segment study sites were divided into the following classes:

- number of lanes: 2 or 4,
- lane width groups: <11 ft, 11 to 13 ft, and >13 ft; and
- shoulder width groups: <2 ft, 2 to 6 ft, 6 to 12 ft, and >12 ft

These classes were used to select the driving route. Generally, the groups with the largest number of roadway segments were those with 11- to 13-ft lane widths and 6- to 12-ft shoulders, although there was a reasonable sample of roads with the less than 2-ft shoulder criterion compared to other groups. The group with the smallest number of roadway segments when compared to the other groups was the rural four-lane highway group, especially those with the smaller shoulder widths. Therefore, the data collection effort emphasized those roadways and then collected roadways in other groups as available between four-lane segments.

The process to select the driving route began by locating four-lane highways, two-lane highways with less than 6-ft shoulders, and two-lane highways with greater than 6-ft shoulders for each district. The driving route was designed to cover the four-lane highways, any two-lane highways of interest, and then other two-lane highways that created a logical and efficient route. Approximately 1 to 2 weeks was spent collecting the data in each of the initial six districts (Bryan, Dallas, Childress, El Paso, Lufkin, and San Angelo). The number of miles of roadway collected was a function of the distance between roadway segments of interest.

INTERSECTION SITE SELECTION

In addition to roadway segments, information provided by the TRM included the Geo-Hini and the P-HiNI database. The Geo-Hini database provides information about horizontal curvatures and the P-HiNI database contains attributes about point-specific features of the roadway including the location of intersections.
The intersections dataset was to include the following:

- intersections with turn lanes and
- intersections without turn lanes.

Intersections were identified using the P-HiNI database, straight-line diagrams provided by the district, and the field study video tapes.

DATA COLLECTION EQUIPMENT

Texas Transportation Institute (TTI) researchers developed a video collection system for the field data collection. This video system recorded lane/shoulder/median conditions along with distance traveled while driving at or near highway speeds. The video camera was mounted to the windshield of the vehicle for each trip as shown in Figure 3-2. From this camera, TTI technicians were able to identify the conditions and specific lengths associated with each roadway segment.



Figure 3-2. Example of Video Camera Mounted on Windshield.

The mileage for each segment was determined using a distance measuring instrument (DMI). The DMI was installed and calibrated for each vehicle used in the data collection. While driving, the DMI determined the distance covered by the TTI vehicle. Software developed for this project generated a text block of information that included: roadway name, distance traveled from origin, descriptive information supplied by technician, and date of data collection (see Figure 3-3). The information was recorded on the video every 3 seconds. In the case shown in Figure 3-3, the text box reads Eastbound US 175, 12.899 miles from reference marker 628, on March 23, 2004. Videotaping the roadway with mileage superimposed on the videotape permitted determination of location of changes in the roadway characteristics.



Figure 3-3. Example of DMI and Video Recording System along with Text Box of Information Recorded on the Video.

Lane width was measured as the distance between the centerline and the white edge line. Shoulder width was measured from the white edge line to the edge of pavement. Comparing measurements obtained from the video early in the data collection efforts with measurements in the field indicated that a technician could estimate lane width and shoulder width within 1-ft accuracy. Measurement of median width, however, could not be as accurate, especially on fourlane highways or on two- or four-lane highways with wide medians. Therefore, median width was estimated as being above or below certain values (e.g., 12 ft for a flush median or 16 ft for a raised or depressed median).

The system was then used on several miles of roadway. A comparison of the lane and shoulder widths measured from the video with the calculated lane width (surface width divided by number of lanes) and shoulder widths in the Reference Marker database indicated sufficient differences to result in the decision to collect all lane and shoulder width data from the video rather than using data contained within the TxDOT databases. This approach permitted the collection of actual roadway conditions visible to the driver (i.e., paved shoulder width beyond an edge line).

PRE-DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURE

The video system was calibrated before each data collection trip. This calibration improved the overall quality control/quality assurance of the data from the field. The video system calibration involved two protocols. The first protocol was calibration of the video recorder attached to the windshield of the vehicle. The second protocol used later in the data collection process involved manual measurement of the lane and shoulder width at the beginning roadway segment in the field. These measurements were compared to values pulled from the video to check the accuracy of the developed grid.

The researchers used a grid system to measure the shoulder widths and median widths for each roadway segment. To create the grid system, markers were placed at a test location to represent 10 ft, 12 ft, 15 ft, 18 ft, 21 ft, and 24 ft away from the centerline of the lane. Figure 3-4 shows a driver's view of the markers that were recorded by the video prior to a data collection trip and used to calibrate the video image.



Figure 3-4. View of the Calibration Grid from the Video Camera.

A schematic of the grid system is shown in Figure 3-5. In this figure, lines were added to show the different measured widths with respect to the centerline. The box near the bottom of Figure 3-5 represents the vehicle used in the trip. The horizontal lines show the downstream location of the markers with respect to the front end of the vehicle. The six lines on each side of the centerline were used to measure the lane and shoulder width. These lines illustrate the effects of paradox associated with measuring widths on the horizon.

Video of the markers was recorded for several minutes prior to each data collection trip. In the office, a set of transparencies was created based on the markers. These transparencies were used to measure the shoulder and median widths for the roads traveled during the trip. Because the video camera placement on the windshield varied between data collection trips, the calibration process was completed before each data collection trip. With the completion of the two protocols, the video system used for the data field collection was considered properly calibrated.



Figure 3-5. Schematic of the Experimental Setup Used to Calibrate the Research Vehicle.

FIELD DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURE

Video taping began at a major intersection or reference maker. At the start of a segment, the technicians recorded the following information: roadway number, direction of travel, starting mile point, description of location, and date. This information was recorded on a laptop and used to process the field data. At this time, the technician also used the laptop to verify the correct location of the segment and mile point. With the added information and confirmed location, the technician began driving. When on a four-lane section, the driver generally remained in the rightmost lane. In most cases, to remain consistent, the technicians traveled at 60 mph while collecting data. When the roadway segment was complete, the technician turned off the video system and proceeded to the next roadway.

CHAPTER 4

REDUCTION OF FIELD DATA

Two datasets were created in this project – segments (RS) and intersections (INTER). The roadway segment dataset includes geometric characteristics for each segment of roadway pulled from the video with crash data added once the specific control section/mile point was determined. A subset of this dataset was created to permit evaluation of crash performance between highways with two lanes with wide shoulders and highways with four lanes with narrow shoulders when the surface width is between 44 and 54 ft. The intersection dataset included geometric information specifically for intersections with crashes occurring within 250 ft of the intersection.

The remaining sections of this chapter describe the development and the quality control protocols used for the RS and INTER datasets.

DESCRIPTION OF ROADWAY SEGMENT DATASET

The roadway segment dataset was developed over three steps. The first step was field data collection. During the field data collection, video was recorded for each road. The second step of the data collection was pulling the correct information from the video and recording this information in the appropriate cell in the RS spreadsheet. The third step of RS development required identifying the crash records for each roadway segment. The variables found in the RS dataset can be divided into three subgroups: location information, data from video, and data from the RI accident file. These subgroups are explained below.

Field Information

The variables in Table 4-1 describe the location of each segment of road. Initial information was from the RhiNO database. The RhiNO database was developed from the Texas Reference Marker System and provides a wide range of geometric and location information associated with each roadway segment. When in the field, the technician began recording at an intersection or reference marker; hence, the mile value recorded on the video may not directly coincide with the

29

reference maker plus displacement value (or control section/mile point). Therefore, the relationship between the mile value recorded at the start of a segment with the control section/mile point (or reference marker plus displacement) value would be determined. From that relationship, the relative mile points could be calculated.

During the field data collection, it was difficult to find the exact control section/mile point locations; therefore, the video was generally tied to reference markers because they were easier to locate . "Begin V-M" and "End V-M" represent the values generated by the DMI installed in the TTI vehicle. The initial "Begin V-M" was linked to the reference marker and an "equation" or relationship was identified so that the Begin R-MP and End R-MP could be determined for each roadway segment.

| X7 • 11 | |
|----------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Variable | Description |
| Trip | Data collection trip (e.g., Bryan, Childress, etc.). |
| Hwy | Designated highway system from the RhiNO database. |
| Num | Roadway number from the RhiNO database. |
| Con-Sec | Control section number from the RhiNO database. |
| Begin | Beginning mile value shown on the video as determined by the DMI located in the |
| V-M | vehicle. New beginning mile points were generated approximately every 1/4 mile |
| | within a segment. |
| End | Ending mile value shown on the video as determined by the DMI located in the |
| V-M | vehicle. Ending were generated approximately every 1/4 mile. Depending on the |
| | direction of travel, End V-M may decrease/increase in sequential order when |
| | compared with Begin V-M. |
| Begin | Beginning mile point determined from Begin V-M converted to the location system |
| R-MP | used in the RhiNO database. This value was used to obtain crash data. |
| End | Ending mile point correlated to the RhiNO database. When needed, the Begin and |
| R-MP | End MPs were flipped so that End R-MP was sequentially greater than Begin R-MP. |
| Seg Len | Calculated field representing the difference between End R-MP and Begin R-MP. |
| ADT | Average annual daily traffic obtained from RhiNO for the Begin R-MP location. The |
| | average daily traffic includes the time period between 1999 and 2001. |
| Таре | Tape number associated with the field collection. |
| Мар | Map number associated with the field collection. |
| Num | |

Table 4-1. Location Data Variables.

ADTs were identified from the RhiNO database. The tape and map number were stored to create a quick reference between the RS dataset and the video. This quick reference system was used many times to spot check the consistency of the recorded data.

Video Data

The video data reduction efforts began with assembling relevant materials such as maps, video tapes, the grid system for the roadway, and the spreadsheet file. To record the width measurements, transparencies created during calibration of the video system were placed on the monitors. The variables listed in Table 4-2 were recorded at ¹/₄-mile increments. The compiled RS dataset was developed and stored in a computer spreadsheet.

After the video data reduction was completed for the roads within a district, the dataset was reviewed for errors. Examples of potential errors included recording a lane width as only being 1 ft (rather than 10 or 11 ft) or having an inconsistency between the median width and the median class). When inconsistencies were found, the video for the particular segment of roadway was analyzed and the data in question corrected.

| Variable | Description |
|----------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| LN | Number of through lanes on the roadway segment. |
| RT Lane | Width of the right lane (ft) measured at Begin V-M. |
| RT Shou | Width of the right shoulder (ft) measured at Begin V-M. |
| Med Wid | Width of the median (ft) measured at Begin V-M. In cases where the median could |
| | not be determined "unk" was recorded in the data field. |
| Med | Median classification estimated from the video |
| Class | NONE – None, <2 ft; |
| | F-N-Flush, >2 ft and <12 ft; |
| | F-W – Flush, 12 ft or more; |
| | D-N – Depressed, <16 ft; |
| | D-W – Depressed, 16 ft or more; |
| | R-N-Raised, >2 ft and <12 ft; |
| | R-W – Raised, 12 ft or more; |
| | T-N – Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, >2 ft and <12 ft; and |
| | T-W – Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, 12 ft or more. |

Table 4-2. Video Data Variables.

Crash Data

The DPS Accident History Database contains information about each reported crash in Texas. The DPS database is linked to the TxDOT RI file through control section/mile points. The linked database is referred to as the TxDOT-DPS database. The most current 3 years (1999 to 2001) of crash data were used in this project. The data listed in Table 4-3 provides location information for each crash. With this information the RI crash information is capable of being merged with the RS dataset. For this portion of the data reduction, there is no major quality control aspect since all of these data are from the DPS RI crash file.

| Variable | Description |
|----------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Acc_No | Accident number associated with each crash. This variable is used to maintain and |
| | guarantee that there are no duplicate records in this analysis. |
| County | County associated with the crash |
| Mile1 | Mile location on the higher priority road for the crash |
| Mile2 | Mile location on the lower priority road. If there is no additional road this column is |
| | left empty and reported as a null field. |
| Contsec1 | Control section for the higher priority road for the crash. |
| Contsec2 | Control section for the lower priority road for the crash. Similar to Mile2, if there is |
| | no additional road this column is left empty and reported as a null field. |

Table 4-3. DPS-RI Accident Location Information Variables.

To begin the integration of the two datasets, common unique values were established between both datasets. In this case both datasets include the control section/mile point. The boundary conditions for the integration of the two datasets were developed on the RS dataset because it provides a beginning and ending mile point, based on observations collected in the field instead of one fixed point in space that is represented by the crash. The crashes were summed based on the condition that the crash occurred at a location that is greater or equal to Begin R-MP and less than End R-MP. The categories used for the crash data are listed in Table 4-4. Data for severity levels 1, 2, and 4 were merged to create the number of fatal/injury crashes (called KAB crashes).

| Variable | Description |
|--------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Total Crash | Total crashes: all crashes that occurred at a location \geq Beg R-M and \leq End R- |
| | M. |
| Total Inter or | Total intersection or intersection-related crashes: those that occurred at a |
| Inter-Related | location greater than or equal to Beg R-M and less than End R-M; counted |
| Crash | based on RI file "intersct" ≤ 2 . |
| Total DW Crash | Total driveway crashes: crashes ≥Beg R-M and <end based<="" counted="" r-m;="" td=""></end> |
| | on RI file "interset" = 3. |
| Total Non Int Crash | Total nonintersection-related crashes: crashes \geq Beg R-M and \leq End R-M; counted based on RI file "intersct" = 4. |
| SWIC Crash | Surface width influence crashes(SWIC): crashes \geq Beg R-M \leq End R-M; |
| | SWICs are nonintersection crashes (intersection related code = 4) with a |
| | collision code, vehicle movement/manner of (a) two motor vehicles going |
| | same direction, (b) two motor vehicles going opposite directions, or (c) |
| | single vehicles. |
| Severity 1, | Number of crashes for the segment with severity $ evel = 1$. |
| Incapacitating | |
| Severity 2, | Number of crashes for the segment with severity $evel = 2$. |
| Nonincapacitating | |
| Severity 3, | Number of crashes for the segment with severity $level = 3$. |
| Possible Injury | |
| Severity 4, Fatal | Number of crashes for the segment with severity level = 4. |
| Severity 5, PDO | Number of crashes for the segment with severity level = 5 (property damage only [PDO]). |
| SWIC, Severity 1, | Number of SWICs for the segment with severity level = 1. |
| Incapacitating | |
| SWIC, Severity 2, | Number of SWICs for the segment with severity $evel = 2$. |
| Nonincapacitating | |
| SWIC, Severity 3, | Number of SWICs for the segment with severity level $= 3$. |
| Possible Injury | |
| SWIC, Severity 4, | Number of SWICs for the segment with severity $evel = 4$. |
| Fatal | |
| SWIC, Severity 5, PDO | Number of SWICs for the segment with severity level $= 5$. |

| Table 4-4. Data Variables Gathered from the DPS-RI Accident File. | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
|-------------------------------------------------------------------|--|

Once the crash data from the RI files were incorporated with the RS dataset, quality control checks were conducted. The first and second checks tested the integration of the total crashes and the levels of severity associated with each crash. The third check tested the complete integration of the two sets of data and guaranteed that no recorded DPS accident record was missing or double counted in the final RS dataset.

After the three checks were completed and the integrity of the RS dataset was satisfactory, the final RS compiled dataset included approximately 18,500 segments totaling 4800 miles of data. This robust dataset also includes more than 8800 crashes between 1999 and 2001.

TWO-LANE OR FOUR-LANE HIGHWAY PERFORMANCE

The RS dataset can be used to determine the influence of lane width, shoulder width, and median type on crashes. Preliminary evaluation revealed that maintaining the ¹/₄-mile increments generated poor results. Therefore, the ¹/₄-mile increments were merged with neighboring segments to form longer segments that had the same lane width, shoulder width, and median width/class. Roadway segments that were less than 0.20 miles in length were eliminated from the dataset along with segments where the right-turn lane was longer than 15 ft (generally locations where the lane was widened due to a downstream intersection or near a mailbox).

COMPARISON OF TWO-LANE AND FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS

The key evaluation for this research was the comparison between two-lane highways with wide shoulders and four-lane highways with narrow shoulders. The crash prediction models developed using the RS dataset could be compared to determine the crash differences between two-lane and four-lane highways. Initial reviews of the RS dataset and these models, however, generated findings that indicated additional considerations were needed to accurately determine the safety performance of the two alternatives. Geometric data were reviewed to determine the surface widths where either a two-lane with wide shoulders or a four-lane with narrow shoulders was present. The following requirements were set:

- surface width (sum of lane widths and shoulder widths) = 44 to 54 ft,
- maximum right lane width = 15 ft,
- only two- and four-lane highways (no three-lane highways), and
- segment lengths a minimum of 0.20 miles.

DESCRIPTION OF INTERSECTION DATASET

Intersections located on the roadway segments included in the RS dataset were identified from the video. In addition to the roadway geometric information that existed for each segment, the following intersection characteristics were pulled for the INTER dataset:

- type of control,
- number of legs and lanes,
- skew angle,
- number of right/left-turn lanes,
- width of right/left-turn lanes,
- lengths of right/left-turn lanes,
- offset left-turn lanes,
- median description,
- horizontal and vertical curvature, and
- location of the intersection.

Intersection information was divided into three categories: roadway approaches in the direction of travel, roadway approaches for the opposite direction, and cross-road approaches. The final intersection dataset contained several thousand intersections located throughout six districts.

Location of the Intersection

Video mile values were calculated based on the original location of the vehicle and the distance traveled as determined by the DMI located in the vehicle. The DMI provides new distances approximately every 0.05 miles (260 ft) and these distances are recorded on the video. Unlike roadway segments, where there may be several miles of geometric homogeneity, intersections are spot locations, with the potential for several intersections to be within 1000 feet of each other. Intersections located using the distances generated by the DMI needed to be checked using other sources to accurately connect the intersection visible on the video with the crash data available in the database.

To improve the overall accuracy for the placement of intersections, additional intersectionrelated data were obtained. In addition to the RhiNO database, the Texas Reference Marker System includes the P-HiNI intersection database. In the P-HiNI database, intersections are located using control section/mile point and reference markers. The P-HiNI database control section/mile points were used to locate intersection and intersection-related crashes for the intersections. In addition to locating intersections, the P-HiNI database includes descriptions about the location, type, number of legs, and other intersection characteristics.

Integration of P-HiNI Data

With several thousand intersections, the final merge between the P-HiNI intersection control section/mile points in conjunction with the video mile values from the DMI was very time intensive. During the data analysis, there were several occasions when the location for an intersection was not exact between the P-HiNI database and the INTER dataset. The most prominent explanation is the result of the cumulative effects from the correct beginning position of the vehicle and the lag period associated with the DMI updates on the video. In this study the difference between the measurements was generally less than 0.15 mi.

Quality Control Integration

Several stages of quality control were used to create the final intersection dataset. Initially, an attempt was made to match all intersections observed from the video to intersections found in the Texas Reference Marker P-HiNI database. Unfortunately not all observed intersections matched intersections found in P-HiNI. In order to use these intersections, their video mile value had to be adjusted to a mile point equivalent value. This adjusted value was then compared to the P-HiNI mile point.

Data from a roadway sample can show the impact of the different quality control stages on the final outcome of the INTER dataset. It is important to mention that the tables used in the following example are abbreviated. There are additional columns and rows that are not shown. These columns and rows are not important to the overall trends discussed below.

• Stage 1. Stage 1 includes the initial merge between the P-HiNI intersection mile points and video mile values. This stage was completed by hand. Intersections were shifted to achieve the best match between adjusted video mile points (MPs) and P-HiNI mile

points. For the example shown in Table 4-5, the P-HiNI intersection is missing between P-HiNI mile points 5.421 and 11.302, and two intersections were originally missed from the video. In total for the first stage of cleaning the information, intersection information is missing from three of the eight intersections (three intersections are not shown in abbreviated Table 4-5).

| P-HiNI Mile Point | Adjusted Video MP | Video Mile Values | Check |
|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------|
| 5.421 | 5.564 | 7.12 | -0.143 |
| | 5.563 | 7.121 | - |
| 11.302 | | | |
| 12.364 | 12.481 | 14.043 | -0.117 |
| 13.327 | | | |

 Table 4-5. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 1.

- Stage 2. With the help of TxDOT straight-line diagrams, Stage 2 further increased the accuracy of the merge between P-HiNI and the INTER dataset. Straight-line diagrams were consistent with the P-HiNI data, and using key characteristics such as highway number, intersection skew, and numbers of legs, researchers were able to increase the accuracy of merging P-HiNI and Stage 1 data.
- Stage 3. In addition to the differences between the two measurements, there were some initial problems associated with missing intersections. Missing intersections were present in both the video collection analysis and the P-HiNI database. In the video collection the most common errors were intersections that were labeled as driveways. In the P-HiNI database, the majority of the errors were a result of new intersections that were added after the P-HiNI database was created. If data were not present, a code of "N/R" for no record was placed in the mile point cell (see Table 4-6).

| 1 able 4-6. Abbrev | viated Control Section N | mepoint Check for Sta | ge 4. |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|--------|
| P-HiNI Mile Point | Adjusted Video MP | Video Mile Values | Check |
| 5.421 | 5.564 | 7.12 | -0.143 |
| N/R | 5.563 | 7.121 | - |
| 11.302 | | | |
| 12.364 | 12.481 | 14.043 | -0.117 |
| 13.327 | | | |

Table 4-6. Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 4.

- Stage 4. Researchers reviewed the video once again to check for the existence of "N/R" intersections at the mile points provided and to resolve any issues with other intersections missing data. Shown in Table 4-7, two additional intersections were found and located at video MPs 12.967 and 15.054. For many of the missed intersections, the intersecting roadway was a ranch/farm road that was relatively hard to find and easy to miss on the video.
- Stage 5. In Stage 5, the video was rewatched and missing N/R values were replaced. The replacement of the N/R values was calculated with the average check value shown in Table 4-7. The check value is the P-HiNI value minus the adjusted video MP. The average check value was calculated for each control section. The N/R value was replaced by the adjusted video MP minus 0.130. In this case the new adjusted video MP value was 5.433.

| Table 4-7. Abbrev | able 4-7. Abbreviated Control Section Minepoint Check for Stage 5. | | | |
|-------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------|--------|--|
| P-HiNI Mile Point | Adjusted Video MP | Video Mile Values | Check | |
| 5.421 | 5.564 | 7.12 | -0.143 | |
| 5.433 | 5.563 | 7.121 | - | |
| 11.302 | 11.406 | 12.967 | -0.103 | |
| 12.364 | 12.481 | 14.043 | -0.117 | |
| 13.327 | 13.492 | 15.054 | -0.165 | |
| | | Average Value | -0.130 | |

Table 4-7 Abbreviated Control Section Milepoint Check for Stage 5

Stage 6. When the data for INTER reaches Stage 6, the final quality control check is done. During this stage, random lines are checked to make sure the intersection merge has been completed. In the example, there were five different pieces of information that were originally missing from the analysis. At the end of Stage 6, all of this information has been updated (see Table 4-8).

| Table 4-8. Abbrev | viated Control Section N | Allepoint Check for Stag | ge 6. |
|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------|
| P-HiNI Mile Point | Adjusted Video MP | Video Mile Values | Check |
| 5.421 | 5.564 | 7.12 | -0.143 |
| 5.433 | 5.563 | 7.121 | - |
| 11.302 | 11.406 | 12.967 | -0.103 |
| 12.364 | 12.481 | 14.043 | -0.117 |
| 13.327 | 13.492 | 15.054 | -0.165 |

Stage 7. In some cases, however, the final dataset still contained some missing information. In these cases, the intersections with missing information were not included in the final analysis. Upon the completion of Stage 6, the researchers felt the intersection database achieved a high level of integrity. After the completion of Stage 6, incorrect data from other areas relating to the geometric characteristics of the roadway were reviewed. The most common errors included typos or missing turn lane length or width values when the presence of a turn lane was indicated. Typos found in the INTER dataset were corrected. Isolated intersections with errors requiring reviewing video were deleted. This deletion was mainly due to limited returns on the time spent correcting isolated errors. For clustered errors located on the same roadway and control section, original videos were rewatched and corrections made accordingly.

ADDITION OF CRASH RECORDS TO INTERSECTION DATASET

For the final analysis, the researchers obtained a 3-year crash history (1999-2001) for each intersection from the DPS RI accident file. In this study, the influence of the intersection was considered to be 250 ft in each direction, or 500 ft total. The mile point values representing the intersection influence area were determined as being 250 ft prior to the intersection mile point and 250 ft after the intersection mile point. In areas where intersections were in close proximity, the distance between the two intersections was split. Under these conditions the 250-ft intersection influence length was not able to be maintained due to the overlapping of the two intersections.

Similar to the crashes associated with the roadway segments, the DPS RI file was merged to the INTER dataset. In this case, the control sections were set equal to each other and the mile point of the crash was greater or equal to the beginning mile point and less than the ending mile point associated with the intersection.

CHAPTER 5

CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS

OVERVIEW

The objective of this effort was to determine the relationship between crashes on rural two-lane highways and lane and shoulder widths.

CRASHES

A subset of Texas on-system crashes for the years 1999 to 2001 was used in the analysis. Crashes associated with surface width should be affected by variability in shoulder width and lane width. In previous research, this type of crash has been referred to as "related crashes" (*10*, *18*). Related crashes are defined as single-vehicle run-off-road and multiple-vehicle head-on, opposite-direction sideswipe, and same-direction sideswipe.

The codes in the Texas crash database do not permit using the exact same descriptor to generate "related crashes" as used in previous research; however, similar types of crashes can be identified. The following TxDOT codes were used to identify surface width influenced crashes:

- nonintersection crashes (intersection related code = 4)
- collision code, vehicle movement/manner:
 - two motor vehicles going same direction,
 - o two motor vehicles going opposite directions, and
 - o single vehicles.

DATA

The roadway segments in the rural two-lane highway dataset represent 3944 miles. On those 3944 miles, a total of 4117 crashes (0.35 annual crashes per mile) occurred, with 3099 crashes meeting SWIC criteria (0.26 annual SWICs per mile). SWICs represented 75 percent of the crashes on the rural two-lane highways included in the dataset.

Roadway characteristic variables examined included:

- lane width (RT Lane),
- shoulder width (RT Shou),
- segment length (Seg Len), and/or
- ADT.

The distribution for each variable is provided in Figure 5-1. Crash rate (crashes per mile) was the method selected for presentation of the number of crashes because each segment length varied. Converting to a common unit – crashes per mile – permitted the graphing of the crash rate by the total number of miles. Bins of 1 crash/mi increments were used. As can be seen in Figure 5-1, the majority of the mileage represented in the dataset had less than 1 crash/mi. The average values and range for the key variables are listed in Table 5-1. In such a large dataset, a few of the segments had right-lane width values that normally would be considered outside of an expected range (e.g., 24-ft right lane width). These wider widths generally reflected widening for a mailbox or the addition of a nonmarked right-turn lane. Those segments with right-lane widths greater than 15 ft were removed.

| Lusie e Li Lunge u | Tuste e Tritunge und fiverage values for Rarar 1 no Lane ingivajs Dataset | | |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------|------------|
| Variable | Variable Name | Average for Dataset | Range |
| Average Daily Traffic | ADT | 1459 | 16–19,333 |
| Segment Length (mi) | Seg Len | 1.50 | 0.20-29.37 |
| Lane width (ft) | RT Lane | 11.29 | 9–15 |
| Shoulder width (ft) | RT Shou | 3.59 | 0–13 |

Table 5-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Dataset.

MODELS

Generalized linear models (GLMs), specifically a negative binomial regression model and a linear regression model, were used to determine the effects of independent variables on SWIC. A negative binomial regression model is often used to model the count data when variance is much larger than the mean (this phenomenon is referred to as overdispersion). Crash frequencies can be predicted by using the mean function of the negative binomial regression. Two goodness-of-fit measures, the mean deviance and the Pearson chi-square ratio (the Pearson chi-square value divided by degrees of freedom), were used to assess the fit of the model. Generally, if the Pearson chi-square ratio is between 0.8 and 1.2, this is an indication that the model can be assumed to be appropriate in modeling the data.



Figure 5-1. Distribution of Variables per Number of Miles for Rural Two-Lane Highway Dataset.

Alternatively, a linear regression model can be applied to the transformed counts. Note that crash frequencies such as SWICs do not follow a normal distribution as they are, and the variance usually increases as the crash frequency increases, which violates the usual assumptions in a linear regression. The purpose of transformation is to make the distribution of the transformed variable close to a normal distribution and to stabilize the variance. It needs to be remembered, however, that in some cases, the problem of nonconstant variance and/or nonnormality may still not be completely corrected even after the transformation is applied. For the count data, the square-root transformation of the form given in the following equation is used conventionally.

Transformed Count =
$$(\text{Count} + 3/8)^{0.5}$$
 (1)

A linear regression model with a normal error distribution can be employed to develop a prediction equation based on the transformed count. Once the coefficients of the equation are estimated, prediction can also be made for the original untransformed crash frequency by back-transforming transformed crash frequency.

When a variable was not significant at the preestablished alpha level (typically 5 percent), the regression was performed again excluding those variables that did not meet the alpha level.

Negative Binomial Regression Model

Three types of negative binomial regression models were employed:

- Model 1A) Segment Length (Seg Len) and the log of ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to other roadway characteristic variables, RT Lane and RT Shou.
- Model 1B) The log of Segment Length (LogLen) and the log of ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to other roadway characteristic variables, RT Lane and RT Shou.
- Model 1C) Exposure is defined as a function of Seg Len, and ADT is included as an offset variable in addition to RT Lane and RT Shou.

The functional form for the mean of each negative binomial regression model is given below:

1A)
$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{ RT Lane} + \beta_2 \text{ RT Shou} + \beta_3 \text{ Seg Len} + \beta_4 \text{ LogADT})$$
 (2)

1B)
$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1 \text{ RT Lane} + \beta_2 \text{ RT Shou} + \beta_3 \text{ LogLen} + \beta_4 \text{ LogADT})$$
 (3)

1C)
$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = EXPO_3 exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1 RT Lane + \beta_2 RT Shou)$$
 (4)

Where:

| E(3 yr SWIC) = | the expected number of SWICs for 3 years, |
|---------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|
| RT Lane = | width of right lane (ft), |
| RT Shou = | width of right shoulder (ft), |
| Seg Len = | length of segment (mi), |
| ADT = | average daily traffic for the segment, and |
| EXPO ₃ = | exposure in million vehicle-miles of travel for 3 years (MVM) |
| = | (ADT) (365) (3) (length of segment in miles) (10^{-6}) . |
| | |

Once the predicted values for the 3-year SWICs, E(3 yr SWIC), are obtained, the predicted SWICs per year can be obtained simply by dividing E(3 yr SWIC) by 3.

Tables 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4 contain the SAS outputs for Models 1A, 1B, and 1C, obtained by using SAS PROC GENMOD. Table 5-2 shows that under Model 1A both RT Lane and RT Shou have statistically significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$ as well as Seg Len and LogADT. The estimated equation for the expected SWICs for two-lane roadways is as follows:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-5.1891 - 0.1280 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0519 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.3935 \text{ Seg Len} + 0.8785 \text{ LogADT})$$
(5)

| | | | The GENM | OD Procedure | е | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| | | | Model In | formati on | | | |
| Data Se Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | oution Inction ent Vari | i abl e | 518.TWO_LANE_ Negati | GROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log SWIC 2627 | SWI C | | |
| | | Cri te | ria For Asses | sing Goodne | ss Of Fit | | |
| | Cri | teri on | DF | Va | alue | Val ue/DF | |
| | Sca Pea Sca Log | i ance led Devi ance rson Chi -Squa led Pearson X Li kel i hood | | 2299. 2299. 2560. 2560. -805. | 7970 1230 1230 | 0. 8771 0. 8771 0. 9764 0. 9764 | |
| Al gor | ithm co | onverged. | | | | | |
| | | Ana | alysis Of Par | ameter Esti | mates | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limi | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| I ntercept RT_I ane RT_Shou Length LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 1 | -5. 1891 -0. 1280 -0. 0519 0. 3935 0. 8785 0. 7894 | 0. 4726 0. 0387 0. 0089 0. 0174 0. 0333 0. 0551 | -6. 1154 -0. 2039 -0. 0693 0. 3594 0. 8132 0. 6884 | -4. 2628 -0. 0520 -0. 0344 0. 4277 0. 9437 0. 9052 | 120. 55 10. 91 33. 99 510. 14 695. 70 | <. 0001 0. 0010 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 |

Table 5-2. Model 1A Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression.

Table 5-3 shows that under Model 1B a similar conclusion is drawn; the effect of RT Shou and RT Lane are statistically significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The estimated equation for the expected 3-year SWICs for two-lane roadways is given as follows:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-5.0189 - 0.1126 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0509 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9091 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9085 \text{ LogADT})$$
(6)

Table 5-3. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression.

| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|----------------------|------|-----------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| Model Information | | | | | | | | | |
| Data SetLIB4618.TWO_LANE_GROUP_EXP03DistributionNegative BinomialLink FunctionLogDependent VariableSWICObservations Used2627 | | | | | | | | | |
| Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit | | | | | | | | | |
| Ci | riterion | DF | Va | lue | Val ue/DF | | | | |
| So Pe So | Devi ance26222400. 56600. 9155Scal ed Devi ance26222400. 56600. 9155Pearson Chi -Square26223120. 49591. 1901Scal ed Pearson X226223120. 49591. 1901Log Li kel i hood-619. 1623-619. 1623 | | | | | | | | |
| Algorithm | converged. | | | | | | | | |
| | Anal y | sis Of Para | ameter Estim | ates | | | | | |
| Parameter DF | | andard Error | Wald 95% Co Limit | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | | |
| Intercept 1 -5.0189 0.4313 -5.8643 -4.1735 135.40 <.0001 | | | | | | | | | |
| NOTE. The negative bindin at dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum riverridou. | | | | | | | | | |

Table 5-4 shows that under Model 1C the effect of RT Lane and RT Shou are significant at α = 0.05. The estimated equation for the expected 3-year SWICs for two-lane roadways is given as follows:

 $E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = EXPO_3 exp(1.2305 - 0.1196 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0617 \text{ RT Shou})$ (7)

| Table 5-4. Model 1C Information for 3 | yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression. |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|
| | 1 Divice Duta with regulite Dinomial Regression. |

| | | The GENMOD |) Procedure | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| Data Set Distributic Link Functi Dependent V Offset Vari Observatior | on on /ari abl e abl e | 518.TWO_LANE_G Negativ | ROUP_EXP03 'e Bi nomi al Log SWI C LogEXP03 2627 | SWI C LogEXP(|)3 | | | |
| | Cri ter | ria For Assess | ing Goodnes | s Of Fit | | | | |
| (| Criterion | DF | Va | ıl ue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| F | Devi ance Scal ed Devi ance Pearson Chi -Squai Scal ed Pearson X Log Li kel i hood | | 2405.1 2405.1 3484.2 3484.2 -626.6 | 687 932 932 | 0.9166 0.9166 1.3279 1.3279 | | | |
| Algori thm | m converged. | | | | | | | |
| | Ana | alysis Of Para | meter Estim | nates | | | | |
| Parameter DF | - Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Cc Limit | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| Intercept RT_Lane RT_Shou Dispersion | 1 -0. 1196 1 -0. 0617 1 0. 4020 | 0.0074 0.0410 | 0. 4443 -0. 1919 -0. 0762 0. 3291 | 2. 0167 -0. 0474 -0. 0473 0. 4910 | 9. 41 10. 53 70. 03 | 0.0022 0.0012 <.0001 | | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |

From the "Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit" table (see Tables 5-2 to 5-4), it can be seen that the negative binomial Models 1A, 1B, and 1C fit the data fairly well. Both deviance and Pearson chi-square divided by degrees of freedom are close to 1 for all three models.

Linear Regression Model for Transformed SWIC (TSWIC)

The SWICs were transformed using the following equation:

3 yr TSWIC =
$$(3 \text{ yr SWIC} + 3/8)^{0.5}$$
 (8)

Initially, two types of linear regression models were fitted on the transformed SWIC data:

- Model 2A) Segment Length (Seg Len) and the log of ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to RT Lane and RT Shou.
- Model 2B) The log of Segment Length (LogLen) and the log of ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to RT Lane and RT Shou.

Reviews of the findings and the desire to match the variable format with the greatest promise from the negative binominal regression resulted in an emphasis of the Model 2B form. Table 5-5 contains the result of the fit for TSWIC for Model 2B. In the initial model, RT Lane was not significant. The bottom half of Table 5-5 shows the output when RT Shou, LogLen, and LogADT are included. This model has an adjusted r-square of 0.38.

The prediction equations for TSWIC (the estimated equations for the expected TSWIC) can be written as follows:

Prediction equations for TSWIC under Model 2B: E(3 yr TSWIC) = -0.6498 - 0.0108 RT Shou + 0.3158 LogLen + 0.2684 LogADT(9)

The prediction equations for SWICs (the estimated equation for the expected SWIC) can be obtained by back-transforming TSWIC using the relationship shown above. The predicted values are for 3-year SWIC. The predicted SWIC per year can be obtained simply by dividing E(3 yr SWIC) by 3.

Prediction equations for SWIC under Model 2B:

$$E(SWIC) = [(-0.6498 - 0.0108 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.3158 \text{ LogLen} + 0.2684 \text{ LogADT})^2 - 3/8]/3$$
(10)

Table 5-5. Information for 3 yr TSWIC with Least-Squares Fit.

| (A) Linear with | n RT La | ine, RT Sho | u, LogLen, a | and LogADT | | • | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|---|--|
| Response TSWIC (Summary of Fit | Transfo | rmed SWIC) | | | | | |
| RSquare RSquare Adj Root Mean Square Mean of Response Observations (or St | |) | 0.381356 0.380413 0.507087 1.067622 2627 | | | | |
| Analysis of Varian | | | | | | | |
| | DF 4 2622 2626 | 6 | Squares 15.6129 74.2150 89.8280 | Mean Square 103.903 0.257 | F Ratio 404.0763 Prob > F <.0001 | | |
| Parameter Estimat | es | | | | | | |
| Term Intercept RT Lane RT Shou LogLen LogADT | | Estimate -0.626177 -0.002135 -0.010584 0.3156523 0.2683329 | Std Error 0.144022 0.011708 0.003145 0.009828 0.010001 | t Ratio -4.35 -0.18 -3.37 32.12 26.83 | Prob> t <.0001 0.8553 0.0008 <.0001 <.0001 | | |
| (B) Li near with Response TSWIC (Summary of Fit | | - | , and LogAD1 | Г | | | |
| RSquare RSquare Adj Root Mean Square Mean of Response Observations (or St | |) | 0.381349 0.380641 0.506994 1.067622 2627 | | | | |
| Analysis of Varian | ce | | | | | | |
| Source Model Error | DF 3 2623 2626 | 4 6 | Squares 15.6044 74.2236 89.8280 | Mean Square 138.535 0.257 | F Ratio 538.9559 Prob > F <.0001 | | |
| Parameter Estimat | es | | | | | | |
| Term Intercept RT Shou LogLen LogADT | C | Estimate -0.649782 -0.010786 0.3157638 0.2683679 | Std Error 0.063129 0.002942 0.009808 0.009997 | t Ratio -10.29 -3.67 32.20 26.84 | Prob> t <.0001 0.0003 <.0001 <.0001 | | |

Selection of Model

All of the models developed and presented within this chapter fit the data well. Models 1A and 1B were preferred over Model 1C (where exposure is considered as an offset variable) and the linear regression models (negative binomial is a better match with the distribution of the data). Model 1B is preferred over 1A and 1C because experimenting with the models revealed questionable results for model 1A (which included segment length) and model 1C (which included segment length as part of an offset variable) for longer segment lengths (on the order of 7 miles and more). Experimenting with the linear regression models also revealed that the negative binomial equations provided more reasonable results for the range of segment lengths reviewed (1 to 10 miles). Therefore, the following evaluations are performed using the negative binomial regression model where LogLen and LogADT are included as independent variables in addition to RT Lane and RT Shou. The selected regression equation for two-lane highways is:

$$E(SWIC) = [exp(-5.0189 - 0.1126 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0509 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9091 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9085 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(11)

COMPARISON BETWEEN ACTUAL DATA AND PREDICTED VALUES

While the statistical evaluation results indicate that the developed models are a good fit with the data, a visual review of the actual data with the results from the prediction equation shows the variability in the data. Figure 5-2 shows the number of SWICs on a per-year and per-mile basis for segments with 12-ft lanes and ADTs greater than 2000. Figure 5-3 shows similar data for segments with ADTs less than or equal to 2000. Also on these figures is a plot of the results from using the regression model for ADT of 4000 and 1000, respectively. The plot of the regression equation results represents the mean value over roadway segments of similar conditions.

As can be seen in Figures 5-2 and 5-3, there are segments with annual SWICs/mile much greater (and less) than that predicted using the regression equation. This is important to consider, as the regression equation is used in selecting a lane width or a shoulder width. While on average using a wider shoulder should result in fewer crashes than using a narrow shoulder (as demonstrated by the downward slope of the regression equation), not all situations will have that result.



Figure 5-2. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway Segments with ADT Greater Than 2000.



Figure 5-3. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway Segments with ADT 2000 or Less.

EFFECTS OF VARIABLES

The regression evaluation found the following variables to affect the crash prediction: ADT, lane width, shoulder width, and segment length. Figures 5-4 and 5-5 illustrate the effect that some of the variables have on crash prediction for rural two-lane highways by shoulder width and lane width, respectively.

As ADT increases, the number of SWICs also increases. For example, the number of crashes on a roadway segment with 4000 ADT is about 8.1 times the number of crashes on a roadway segment with only 400 ADT. Figure 5-4 provides a plot of the predictions by ADT and shoulder width, while Figure 5-5 shows the plot by ADT and lane width. These plots were developed assuming a 10 mile segment and then converted to a per-mile increment.



Figure 5-4. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation by Shoulder Width for a Range of ADT Values.



Figure 5-5. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation by Lane Width for a Range of ADT Values.

RATIO

The ratio between the numbers of crashes at different lane width or shoulder width values can provide an appreciation for the potential benefit of widening a lane or shoulder. The ratio of crashes to a 12-ft lane and an 8-ft shoulder width is listed in Table 5-6 and shown in Figure 5-6.



Figure 5-6. Plot of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways.

| Highways based on Fredictions of Switcs. | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------|---------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane | | | | | |
| 12 | 1.00 | | | | | |
| 11 | 1.12 | | | | | |
| 10 | 1.25 | | | | | |
| 9 | 1.40 | | | | | |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane | | | | | |
| 10 | 0.90 | | | | | |
| 9 | 0.95 | | | | | |
| 8 | 1.00 | | | | | |
| 7 | 1.05 | | | | | |
| 6 | 1.11 | | | | | |
| 5 | 1.16 | | | | | |
| 4 | 1.23 | | | | | |
| 3 | 1.29 | | | | | |
| 2 | 1.36 | | | | | |
| 1 | 1.43 | | | | | |
| 0 | 1.50 | | | | | |

 Table 5-6. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane

 Highways Based on Predictions of SWICs.

Other researchers have examined the benefits of widening lanes and shoulders. The most current knowledge on the topic is represented in the *Draft Prototype Chapter* (2) developed for consideration of the forthcoming *Highway Safety Manual*. Background material on the *Draft Prototype Chapter* is included in Chapter 2 of this TxDOT report. A comparison of the findings from this project with the *Draft Prototype Chapter* can provide an appreciation of whether similar trends are present for Texas as assumed for the nation. The *DPC* uses accident modification factors to describe the relationship between crashes and roadway or roadside variables. The AMF is applied to the crash prediction for the base condition. The two AMFs of interest to this project are lane width and shoulder width AMFs. The AMF is adjusted to reflect the proportion of the 'related' crashes to total crashes. The base condition assumes 12-ft lanes and 6-ft shoulders.

The *Draft Prototype Chapter* assumes smaller AMFs for lane and shoulder widths with ADTs of less than 2000. The data available in this study were reviewed to determine if different ratios would be present within different ADT groups. The roadway segments were subdivided into three ADT groups: less than 400, between 400 and 2000, and greater than 2000. These groups represent the divisions assumed in the *DPC*. Table 5-7 lists the general statistics for each group.

Different variables were significant in the individual ADT groups as compared to the entire dataset. The SAS output is in Table 5-8 (<400 ADT), Table 5-9 (400 to 2000 ADT) and Table 5-10 (>2000 ADT). The regression analysis of those roadway segments with ADT of less than 400 found RT Lane and RT Shou not significant. The middle ADT range found all four variables significant, similar to the evaluation using all data. The high ADT range found lane width not to be significant, which is not very surprising given that 70 percent of those roadways had 12-ft lanes.

 Table 5-7. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Roadway

 Characteristics by ADT Group.

| Variable | Average (Range) or Total for Dataset | | | | | | |
|----------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| v ar lable | <400 | 400 to 2000 | >2000 | | | | |
| ADT | 216 (16-396) | 1002 (403–1983) | 3795 (2000–19,333) | | | | |
| Seg Len (mi) | 1.83 (0.20-24.16) | 1.52 (0.20-29.37) | 1.08 (0.20-10.50) | | | | |
| RT Lane (ft) | 11.08 (9–15) | 11.20 (9–15) | 11.55 (9–15) | | | | |
| RT Shou (ft) | 1.27 (0-12) | 3.67 (0-12) | 6.06 (0–13) | | | | |
| Total Crashes (3 yr) | 275 | 1828 | 2014 | | | | |
| 3 yr SWICs | 235 | 1450 | 1414 | | | | |
| Total Miles | 1317 | 1944 | 683 | | | | |

Table 5-8. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT<400.</th>

| | The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| | Model Information | | | | | | | | | |
| | Data Set LIB4618. TWO_LN_8_29_ADT_LESS_400 Distribution Negative Binomial Link Function Log Dependent Variable SWIC SWIC Observations Used 720 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | Cri te | eria For Asse | essing Goodn | ess Of | Fit | | | |
| | | Cri teri | on | DF | : | Val ue | | Val ue/DF | | |
| | Devi ance717449. 92830. 6275Scal ed Devi ance717449. 92830. 6275Pearson Chi - Square717770. 59601. 0748Scal ed Pearson X2717770. 59601. 0748Log Li kel i hood-392. 3273-392. 3273 | | | | | | | | | |
| | Al gori t | hm conve | rged. | | | | | | | |
| | | | Ar | alysis Of Pa | arameter Est | imates | | | | |
| Pa | arameter | DF Es | timate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Lim | | ence | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | |
| Lo Lo Di | tercept ogLength ogADT spersion : The negati | 1 1 1 | 6. 3470 0. 8678 0. 8977 0. 6528 | 0.8893 0.0836 0.1616 0.2154 | -8.0899 0.7040 0.5809 0.3418 | 1. 1. 1. | 6041 0316 2145 2465 | 50. 94 107. 83 30. 84 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | |

Table 5-9. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT between 400 and 2000.

| | | | The GENMO |)D Procedure | 9 | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|--|
| | | | Model Ir | formation | | | | |
| | | | wouer II | | | | | |
| Data SetLI B4618. TWO_LN_8_29_ADT_BT_400_AND_2000Di stri buti onNegati ve Bi nomi alLi nk Functi onLogDependent Vari ableSWI CObservati ons Used1284 | | | | | | | | |
| | | Cri te | eria For Asses | ssing Goodne | ess Of Fit | | | |
| | Cri | teri on | DF | N N | /al ue | Val ue/DF | | |
| | Sca Pea Sca | i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi -Squa I ed Pearson X Li kel i hood | | 1233 1497 1497 | 4829 4829 4227 4227 8638 | 0. 9644 0. 9644 1. 1708 1. 1708 | | |
| Al gori | thm c | onverged. | | | | | | |
| | | Ar | nalysis Of Par | rameter Esti | mates | | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% (Limi | Confidence ts | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | |
| Intercept RT_Iane RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 1 | -3. 2045 -0. 1760 -0. 0471 0. 8644 0. 7568 0. 4463 | 0. 8045 0. 0520 0. 0121 0. 0369 0. 0833 0. 0619 | -4. 7814 -0. 2780 -0. 0708 0. 7921 0. 5936 0. 3401 | -1.6277 -0.0741 -0.0234 0.9367 0.9200 0.5857 | 15.87 11.46 15.19 549.48 82.60 | <. 0001 0. 0007 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |

Table 5-10. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, ADT>2000.

| | The GEN | MOD Procedure | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. TWO_LN_8_29_ADT_GT_2000 Distribution Negative Binomial Link Function Log Dependent Variable SWIC SWIC Observations Used 623 | | | | | | | | |
| | Criteria For Ass | essing Goodness Of | Fit | | | | | |
| Cri teri or | ר D | F Value | Val ue/D | F | | | | |
| Devi ance Scal ed De Pearson (Scal ed Pe Log Li kel | Chi-Square 61 earson X2 61 | 9 671.7937 9 689.4237 | 1. 085 1. 085 1. 113 1. 113 | 3 8 | | | | |
| Algorithm converg | ged. | | | | | | | |
| | Anal ysis Of P | arameter Estimates | 5 | | | | | |
| Parameter DF Esti | Standard mate Error | Wald 95% Confic Limits | lence Chi Squar | | | | | |
| RT_Shou 1 -0. LogLength 1 0. LogADT 1 0. | 49710. 802206160. 010399560. 043093480. 100929790. 0486 | -0.0818 -0. 0.9114 1. 0.7370 1. | 9247 65.5 0414 35.8 0798 536.8 1325 85.8 4101 | 0 <. 0001 6 <. 0001 | | | | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |
Figure 5-7 shows the ratio using Texas data to the AMFs presented in the *Highway Safety Manual*. Table 5-11 lists the values. The *DPC* AMF assumes that 6 ft represents the desirable minimum shoulder width and that shoulder widths in excess of 8 ft provide no additional benefits. The *DPC* AMFs were adjusted to reflect an 8-ft desirable shoulder width to provide a better comparison with the Texas findings. The Texas data revealed a similar trend as that being assumed on the national level for shoulder widths less than 8 ft. The Texas data did show benefits of 10-ft shoulders over 8-ft shoulders, while the *DPC* assumes no additional benefits. The amount of increases in crashes at very low shoulder widths is assumed to be slightly greater at the national level than found using Texas data. For example, for no shoulders, the *DPC* assumes that related crashes will be 1.72 times the crash value if 8-ft shoulders were present. The Texas data found that crashes will be 1.50 times the crash value if 8-ft shoulders were present.



Figure 5-7. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Shoulder Width.

| | Ratio of Number of Crashes for Given Shoulder Width to Number of Crashes on a Roadway with an 8-ft Shoulder | | | | | | |
|------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|----------------|-------|------|-------|--|
| Shoulder | Roadway Segments with Following ADT Values: | | | | | | |
| Width (ft) | Texas Data DPC (adjusted) | | | | | | |
| | All ADTs | <400 | 400 to 2000 | >2000 | <400 | >2000 | |
| 10 | 0.90 | 1.00 | 0.91 | 0.88 | 1.00 | 1.00 | |
| 9 | 0.95 | 1.00 | 0.95 | 0.94 | 1.00 | 1.00 | |
| 8 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | |
| 7 | 1.05 | 1.00 | 1.05 | 1.06 | 1.01 | 1.07 | |
| 6 | 1.11 | 1.00 | 1.10 | 1.13 | 1.02 | 1.15 | |
| 5 | 1.16 | 1.00 | 1.15 | 1.20 | 1.03 | 1.24 | |
| 4 | 1.23 | 1.00 | 1.21 | 1.28 | 1.04 | 1.32 | |
| 3 | 1.29 | 1.00 | 1.27 | 1.36 | 1.07 | 1.41 | |
| 2 | 1.36 | 1.00 | 1.33 | 1.45 | 1.09 | 1.49 | |
| 1 | 1.43 | 1.00 | 1.39 | 1.54 | 1.11 | 1.61 | |
| 0 | 1.50 | 1.00 | 1.46 | 1.64 | 1.12 | 1.72 | |

| Table 5-11. Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways by ADT Groups for |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Texas Data and DPC Values. |

Similar relationships are present when comparing the AMF for lane widths to the ratios developed in this project as shown in Figure 5-8 and Table 5-12. A trend showing increased crashes as lane width decreases is present with the extreme values (i.e., at 9-ft lanes) being less for the Texas data (when all roadways are considered) than currently being assumed for the national data. Lane width effect on crashes for roadways greater than 2000 ADT was found to be not significant. This finding is influenced by the large number of segments with 12-ft lanes (over 70 percent). Therefore, using the findings for all ADTs would better represent the influence of lane width if a mix of ADTs is present.

 Table 5-12. Ratios for Lane Widths for Rural Two-Lane Highways by ADT Groups for

 Texas Data and DPC Values.

| | Ratio of Number of Crashes for Given Lane Width to Number of Crashes on a Roadway with a 12-ft Lane Width | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|----------------|-------|------|-------|--|--|
| Lane Width (ft) | Roadway Segments with Following ADT Values: Texas Data DPC (adjusted) | | | | | | | |
| | All ADTs | <400 | 400 to 2000 | >2000 | <400 | >2000 | | |
| 12 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | | |
| 11 | 1.12 | 1.00 | 1.19 | 1.00 | 1.01 | 1.05 | | |
| 10 | 1.25 | 1.00 | 1.42 | 1.00 | 1.02 | 1.30 | | |
| 9 | 1.40 | 1.00 | 1.70 | 1.00 | 1.05 | 1.50 | | |



Figure 5-8. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Lane Width.

COMPARISON WITH TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES

A review of the literature indicates that selected types of crashes are affected by changes in lane width and shoulder width. Zegeer and Council (9) state "...since lane and shoulder width logically affect some crash types (e.g., run-off-road, head-on) but not necessarily other crash types (e.g., angle, rear-end), there is a need to express crash effects as a function of those crash types affected by lane and shoulder width." While a subset of crashes (called surface width influence crashes, SWICs) was used in this Texas analysis, a check was made to see if the relationship between crash prediction using total crashes and lane or shoulder width is different. The available width of a shoulder may not be a direct influence on the cause of certain types of crashes (e.g., rear-end or angle) because it does not contribute to the reason for the slowing or stopping vehicle (e.g., a turning vehicle to an intersection). The available width of a shoulder does affect the opportunity for evasive actions by the following vehicle. For example, the

following vehicle may be able to avoid the stopped vehicle by moving onto a sufficient width shoulder. Therefore, shoulder width could affect all types of crashes.

Negative binomial regression was performed using total crashes. Similar model forms were tested as used with the SWICs. The SAS output for the preferred model is shown in Table 5-13. Figure 5-9 compares the ratio of number of crashes at different shoulder widths to number of crashes at an 8-ft shoulder width. Figure 5-10 shows the ratio of number of crashes at different lane widths to number of crashes at a 12-ft lane width. These plots indicate that total crashes have similar trends as SWICs; hence, all crashes may be just as affected by the width of the lane or the shoulder as SWICs are. The values are listed in Table 5-14.

The *Draft Prototype Chapter* assumes that the lane width and shoulder width AMFs (similar to the "ratio" being used in this study) are only applied to "related accidents." Additional, more focused research may be needed to determine if the AMFs assumed in the *Draft Prototype Chapter* should continue to be applied only to related accidents or if they should be applied to all crashes.

A check was also performed using KAB crashes. KAB crashes are defined as those crashes involving a fatality (K), an incapacitating injury (A), or a nonincapacitating injury (B). Concerns have been expressed with the quality of noninjury and PDO crash data, especially their high nonreporting rates. Because of those concerns, KAB crashes were also reviewed to determine if different patterns exist between KAB crashes and shoulder width or lane width. Negative binomial regression was performed using similar model forms as tested for SWICs. Table 5-15 lists the SAS output. For SWIC KABs, RT Lane was not significant. For total crash KABs, all variables were significant. Figure 5-11 shows the shoulder width ratio and Figure 5-12 shows the lane width ratio. KAB crashes have a similar trend to that found for SWICs for shoulder width. The KAB total crashes have a similar trend (higher ratio with decrease in lane width) to that found for total crashes for lane width although the ratio value is smaller for KAB crashes than total crashes.

| Table 5-13. Model Information for 3 yr Total Ci | Crash Data with Negative Binomial |
|-------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|
| Regression. | |

| | The GEN | IMOD Procedure | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| | Model I | nformation | | |
| Dataset Distribution Link Function Dependent Variable Observations Used | 5 | ive Binomial Log | Acci dent | |
| | Criteria for Asse | ssing Goodness of Fit | | |
| Cri teri on | DF | Val ue | Val ue/DF | |
| Devi ance Scal ed Dev Pearson Ch Scal ed Pea Log Li kel i | ni-Square 2622 arson X2 2622 | 2504. 2498 3110. 7341 | 0. 9551 0. 9551 1. 1864 1. 1864 | |
| Algorithm converge Parameter DF Estim | Analysis of Pa Standard | rameter Estimates Wald 95% Confidence Limits | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| LogADT 1 1. C | 0. 0332 | $\begin{array}{cccccc} -5.\ 8767 & -4.\ 3195 \\ -0.\ 2022 & -0.\ 0722 \\ -0.\ 0746 & -0.\ 0456 \\ 0.\ 8031 & 0.\ 8997 \\ 0.\ 9495 & 1.\ 0596 \\ 0.\ 3561 & 0.\ 4983 \end{array}$ | 164. 69 17. 12 66. 39 1193. 35 1280. 92 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 |
| NOTE: The negative binomial | dispersion parame | ter was estimated by m | aximum likel | i hood. |



Figure 5-9. Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Shoulder Width.



Figure 5-10. Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Lane Width.

| Table 5-14. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two- | Lane |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Highways Based on Predictions of Total Crashes. | |

| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
|---------------------|---------------------|
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.51 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.89 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.27 |
| 3 | 1.35 |
| 2 | 1.43 |
| 1 | 1.52 |
| 0 | 1.62 |



Figure 5-11. Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to Total Crashes and SWICs for Shoulder Width.



Figure 5-12. Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to Total Crashes and SWICs for Lane Width.

| | | | | omial Regr | | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| | | | | IOD Procedur | e | | |
| | | | | formation | | | |
| Dataset Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | ution nction nt Vari | i abl e | 18. TWO_LANE_GF Negativ | ROUP_EXP03 ve Binomial Log SWIC_KAB 2627 | SWIC H | (AB | |
| | | Cri te | ria For Assess | sing Goodnes | ss Of Fit | | |
| | Cri [.] | teri on | DF | Va | al ue | Val ue/DF | |
| | Scal Pear Scal | i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi -Squa I ed Pearson X Li kel i hood | | 1871. 7 1871. 7 2935. 0 2935. 0 -1419. 2 | 7388)363)363 | 0. 7139 0. 7139 1. 1194 1. 1194 | |
| Al gor | ithm co | onverged. | | | | | |
| | | An | alysis Of Para | ameter Estin | nates | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limit | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| Intercept RT_I ane RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 1 | -6. 2274 -0. 0635 -0. 0495 0. 9364 0. 8701 0. 3387 | 0.5971 0.0496 0.0107 0.0363 0.0402 0.0657 | -7. 3977 -0. 1607 -0. 0706 0. 8652 0. 7913 0. 2315 | -5.0571 0.0338 -0.0285 1.0075 0.9490 0.4954 | 108.77 1.64 21.33 665.33 467.93 | <. 0001 0. 2009 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 |
| OTE: The nega | tive bi | inomial dispe | rsion paramete | er was estin | nated by m | naximum likeli | hood. |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | The GENM | IOD Procedur | e | | |
| | | | | IOD Procedur formation | e | | |
| Dataset | | LI B46 | Model Int 18. TWO_LANE_GF | formation ROUP_EXP03 | e | | |
| Dataset Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | ution nction nt Vari | i abl e | Model Int 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ | formation | | Accident KAB | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende | ution nction nt Vari | i abl e Used | Model Int 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ | Formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 | Total | Accident KAB | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende | ution nction nt Vari tions l | i abl e Used | Model Inf 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ Total_Ac | formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 sing Goodnes | Total | Accident KAB Value/DF | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende | ution nction nt Vari tions U Cri ⁻ Devi Scal Pear Scal | i abl e Used Cri te | Model Int 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ Total_Ac ria For Assess DF 2622 2622 re 2622 | formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 sing Goodnes | Total ss Of Fit alue 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 | | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | ution nction tions l Cri ⁻ Devi Scal Pear Scal Log | i abl e Used Cri te teri on i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi -Squa I ed Pearson X | Model Int 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ Total_Ac ria For Assess DF 2622 2622 re 2622 | Formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 sing Goodnes Va 2041.0 2041.0 3065.6 | Total ss Of Fit alue 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 | Val ue/DF 0. 7784 0. 7784 1. 1692 | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | ution nction tions l Cri ⁻ Devi Scal Pear Scal Log | i abl e Used Cri te teri on i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi - Squa I ed Pearson X Li kel i hood onverged. | Model Int 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ Total_Ac ria For Assess DF 2622 2622 re 2622 | formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 sing Goodnes Va 2041.0 3065.6 -1413.4 | Total al ue 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 050 | Val ue/DF 0. 7784 0. 7784 1. 1692 | |
| Distrib Link Fu Depende Observa | ution nction tions l Cri ⁻ Devi Scal Pear Scal Log | i abl e Used Cri te teri on i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi - Squa I ed Pearson X Li kel i hood onverged. | Model Inf 18.TWO_LANE_GF Negativ Total_Ad ria For Assess DF 2622 2622 re 2622 2622 2622 | formation ROUP_EXPO3 ve Binomial Log ccident_KAB 2627 sing Goodnes Va 2041.0 3065.6 -1413.4 | Total ss Of Fit alue 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 0508 050 | Val ue/DF 0. 7784 0. 7784 1. 1692 | Pr > Chi Sq |

Table 5-15. Model Information for 3 yr Crash KAB and 3 yr SWIC KAB Data withNegative Binomial Regression.

WIDEN SHOULDER OR WIDEN LANE FIRST?

The ratios indicate that a 1-ft increase in pavement for a travel lane provides greater reduction in SWICs than a 1-ft increase in a shoulder. For example, if a rural two-lane highway with 2000 ADT had 9-ft lanes and 3-ft shoulders, then the predicted number of annual SWICs/mile is 0.56 crashes (value determined assuming a 10-mile section but reported as a per-mile rate for ease in comparisons). If funds are available to widen the roadway surface by 6 ft, should the striping be (a) 9-ft lanes and 6-ft shoulders or (b) 12-ft lanes and 3-ft shoulders? Using the prediction equation, the results are:

9-ft lanes, 6-ft shoulders and 2000 ADT: 0.48 SWICs12-ft lanes, 3-ft shoulders and 2000 ADT: 0.40 SWICs

Therefore, striping the roadway as 12-ft lanes and 3-ft shoulders (rather than 9-ft lanes and 6-ft shoulders) should result in a slightly lower number of SWICs (remember, this assumes that the roadsides such as side slopes, etc., are restored to previous conditions). The predicted crash values represent the <u>mean</u> crash rates. Crash rates for specific locations can vary.

Again, a caution is offered with respect to the variability in the original data (see Figures 5-2 and 5-3). The prediction equation indicates that a reduction should occur; however, factors such as increases in ADT or factors not currently included in the model such as operating speed or roadside environment could influence the outcome. The outcome could especially be influenced if the wider road results in higher speeds, greater volumes, or changes in the roadside (such as steeper ditches). This caution is offered not to discourage the use of the prediction equation but to have an appreciation of their limitations. The user should not expect that an improvement will always result in a decrease in crashes at each site. Crash reductions are more apparent when a treatment is applied at several locations, such as would be present in a district-wide policy change.

-

CHAPTER 6

CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL FOUR-LANE HIGHWAYS

OVERVIEW

The objective of this effort was to find the relationship between crashes on rural four-lane highways and lane, shoulder, and median widths.

CRASHES AND DATA

Similar to the study conducted for two-lane highways (see Chapter 5), on-system crashes for the years 1999 to 2001 were used in the analysis. The roadway segments in the dataset represent 882 miles. On those 882 miles, a total of 4662 crashes (1.76 annual crashes per mile) occurred with 3276 crashes meeting SWIC criteria (1.24 annual SWICs per mile). Higher numbers of crashes per mile occur on four-lane highways than on two-lane highways because they tend to have higher ADTs. Comparing crashes per million vehicle miles provides a better method for comparing between roads with highly different ADTs. SWICs represented 70 percent of the crashes on the rural four-lane highways included in the dataset.

Roadway characteristic variables examined included:

- lane width (RT Lane),
- shoulder width (RT Shou),
- median width,
- median type,
- segment length (Seg Len), and/or
- ADT.

The crash distribution is shown in Figure 6-1. Crash rate (crashes per mile) was the method selected for presentation because each segment length varied. Converting to a common unit – crashes per mile – permitted the graphing of the crash rate by the total number of miles. Bins of 1 crash/mi increments were used. As can be seen in Figure 6-1, most of the mileage represented in the dataset had less than 1 crash/mi. The distribution for each geometric variable is provided

in Figure 6-2. Both of these figures provide the data by number of miles represented in the dimension (for example, there are 266 miles of 10-ft right lane widths in the dataset). The average values and range for the key variables are listed in Table 6-1. For several of the roadway segments the median width could not be determined (generally because it was wider than 16 ft and beyond the view in the video screen). Therefore, in addition to median width, the technician also recorded the median type (e.g., raised median, wide). These median types were regrouped into five classes: drivable wide median, drivable narrow median, no median, undrivable wide median, and undrivable narrow median. These groups were used in the evaluations rather than median width, which was not available for more than half of the segments.

Table 6-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Data Set.

| Variable | Average for Data Set | Range | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------|------------|--|--|
| ADT | 8917 | 253–29,666 | | |
| Seg Len (mi) | 1.33 | 0.20-13.28 | | |
| RT Lane (ft) | 11.72 | 10–14 | | |
| RT Shou (ft) | 7.29 | 0–14 | | |
| Median Width (ft) | 4.39 | 0–40* | | |
| *Limit that was viewable on some of the video. The dataset included roadways with greater | | | | |
| median widths than could be measured | | | | |



Figure 6-1. Distribution of Crashes by Mile for Rural Four-Lane Highway Dataset.



Figure 6-2. Distribution of Variables by Mile for Rural Four-Lane Highway Dataset.

MODELS

Similar to the two-lane highway analysis, GLMs, specifically a negative binomial regression model and a linear regression model, were used to determine the effects of independent variables. See Chapter 5 for additional discussion and the form for the models. Several different attempts were made to determine the optimal regression equation. Only the final attempts are reported here.

Negative Binomial Regression

Table 6-2 shows the SAS output when all variables are in the model and logs of segment length and ADT are used. Right lane is not significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. Table 6-3 shows the SAS output when lane width is not included. The remaining variables (RT Shou, median class revised, LogLen, and LogADT) are all significant at $\alpha = 0.05$ when examining the Type 3 Analysis; however, when reviewing the individual parameters almost all of the median class revised categories are not significant. Only the "undrivable – narrow" medians were significant at 0.0489. Table 6-4 shows the SAS output when median class revised is not included in the model.

Table 6-2. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression for Four-Lane Highway.

| | The GENM | OD Procedure | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Model I | nformation | | |
| Data Set L Distribution Link Function Dependent Variable Observations Used | B4618. FOUR_LAN Nega | tive Binomial Log | /I C | |
| | Class Leve | l Information | | |
| CI ass | _evels Value | S | | |
| Med_CI ass_Revi sed | 5 Drive | -Nar Drive-Wide Non | ne UnDri-Nar UnDri-Wio | de |
| Cr | teria For Asse | ssing Goodness Of F | it | |
| Cri teri on | DF | Val ue | Val ue/DF | |
| Devi ance Scal ed Devi an Pearson Chi -So Scal ed Pearso Log Li kel i hoo | quare 654 n X2 654 | 745. 9234 724. 6305 | 1. 1406 1. 1406 1. 1080 1. 1080 | |
| Algorithm converged. | | | | |
| | Analysis Of Pa | rameter Estimates | | |
| Parameter | DF Estimate | | 195% Chi- nce Limits Square P | Pr > Chi Sq |
| I ntercept RT_I ane RT_Shou Med_CI ass_Revised Drive-Nar Med_CI ass_Revised Drive-Wide Med_CI ass_Revised None Med_CI ass_Revised UnDri -Nar Med_CI ass_Revised UnDri -Wide LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$ | $\begin{array}{ccccc} -5.\ 3528 & 60.\ 99 \\ 0.\ 1860 & 0.\ 49 \\ -0.\ 0358 & 24.\ 97 \\ 0.\ 5177 & 1.\ 39 \\ 0.\ 0902 & 1.\ 13 \\ 0.\ 0441 & 2.\ 32 \\ 0.\ 7344 & 4.\ 01 \\ 0.\ 0000 & . \\ 1.\ 0018 & 841.\ 16 \\ 1.\ 0285 & 402.\ 61 \\ 0.\ 3343 \end{array}$ | <. 0001 0. 4844 <. 0001 0. 2381 0. 2879 0. 1277 0. 0452 0001 <. 0001 |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dis | | ter was estimated b OD Procedure | oy maximum likelihood. | |
| | | or Type 3 Analysis | | |
| Source | | Chi- DF Square P | Pr > Chi Sq | |
| RT_I ane RT_Shou Med_CI ass, LogLength LogADT | | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 0. 4844 <. 0001 0. 0320 <. 0001 <. 0001 | |

Table 6-3. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regressionfor Four-Lane Highway with Right Shoulder, Median Class Revised, LogLen, and LogADT Included in Model.

| | The GEN | MOD Procedure | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| | Model | Information | | |
| Data Set Distribution Link Function Dependent Variable Observations Used | LI B4618. FOUR_LA Neg | NE_GROUP_EXPO3 ative Binomial Log SWIC 663 | SWI C | |
| | Class Lev | el Information | | |
| CI ass | Levels Valu | es | | |
| Med_CI ass_Revi sed | 5 Driv | e-Nar Drive-Wi | de None UnDri-Na | r UnDri-Wide |
| с | riteria For Ass | essing Goodness | s Of Fit | |
| Cri teri on | C | F Val | lue Value | /DF |
| Deviance Scaled Devia Pearson Chi- Scaled Pears Log Likeliho | Square 65 on X2 65 | 5 745.89 5 724.59 | 952 1.1 925 1.1 925 1.1 | 388 388 062 062 |
| Algorithm converged. | | | | |
| | Analysis Of F | arameter Estima | ates | |
| Parameter | DF Estimate | Standard Error Coi | Wald 95% nfidence Limits | Chi - Square Pr > Chi Sq |
| Intercept RT_Shou Med_Class_Revised Drive-Nar Med_Class_Revised Drive-Wide Med_Class_Revised None Med_Class_Revised UnDri-Nar Med_Class_Revised UnDri-Wide LogLength LogADT Dispersion | 1 -0. 1568 1 0. 3644 | 0.0114 -0. 0.1649 -0. 0.1005 -0. 0.1008 -0. 0.1850 0. 0.0000 0. 0.0324 0. 0.0467 0. | $\begin{array}{ccccc} .4439 & -5.7259 \\ .0792 & -0.0345 \\ .1272 & 0.5194 \\ .3026 & 0.0913 \\ .3544 & 0.0407 \\ .0018 & 0.7271 \\ .0000 & 0.0000 \\ .8758 & 1.0027 \\ .8451 & 1.0283 \\ .2064 & 0.3349 \end{array}$ | 225.74 <.0001 |
| NOTE: The negative binomial d | ispersion param | eter was estima | ated by maximum | l i kel i hood. |
| | | | | |
| | | MOD Procedure | | |
| | LR Statistics | For Type 3 Anal Chi | | |
| Source | | DF Square | | |
| RT_Shou Med_Cl as LogLengt LogADT | s_Revi sed h | 1 24.6 4 10.50 1 556.90 1 333.52 | 0.0327 0.0001 | |

| Table 6-4. Model 1B Information for 3 yr SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| for Four-Lane Highway with Right Shoulder, LogLen, and Log ADT Included in Model. |

| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| Data Set Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | tion Variable | | | | | | | | |
| | Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit | | | | | | | | |
| | Criterion | DF | Valu | le | Val ue/DF | | | | |
| | Devi ance Scal ed Devi ance Pearson Chi -Squ Scal ed Pearson Log Li kel i hood | are 659 | 750. 134 750. 134 738. 34 738. 34 3946. 12 | 93 70 70 | 1. 1383 1. 1383 1. 1204 1. 1204 | | | | |
| Al gori t | hm converged. | | | | | | | | |
| | Д | nalysis Of Par | rameter Estima | tes | | | | | |
| Parameter | DF Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Cont Limits | fi dence | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | | |
| Intercept RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | 1 -6.8122 1 -0.0427 1 0.9354 1 0.9441 1 0.2692 | 0. 4075 0. 0081 0. 0319 0. 0463 0. 0330 | -0. 0585 0. 8730 0. 8535 0. 2117 | -6.0135 -0.0269 0.9979 1.0348 0.3422 | 279. 44 27. 98 862. 39 416. 48 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | | |
| NOTE: The negati | NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |

From "Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit" table (see Tables 6-2, 6-3, and 6-4), it can be seen that the negative binomial model fits the data fairly well. Both deviance and Pearson chi-square divided by degrees of freedom are close to 1 for all models.

The estimated equation for expected SWICs including median class revised for four-lane roadways is as follows:

The estimated equation for expected SWICs not including median class revised for four-lane roadways is as follows:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-6.8122 - 0.0427 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9354 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9441 \text{ LogADT}$$
(13)

Linear Regression Model for Transformed SWIC (TSWIC)

SWICs were transformed and evaluated using the same approach as documented in Chapter 5. Table 6-5 contains the result of the fit for TSWIC for Model 2B. In the initial model, right lane and revised median class were not significant. The bottom half of Table 6-5 shows the output when RT Shou, LogLen, and LogADT are included. This model has an adjusted r-square of 0.61.

The prediction equations for TSWIC (the estimated equations for the expected TSWIC) can be written as follows:

Prediction equations for TSWIC under Model 2B:

$$E(3 \text{ yr TSWIC}) = -3.2880 - 0.0373 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.8510 \text{ LogLen} + 0.6475 \text{ LogADT}$$
(14)

The prediction equations for SWICs (the estimated equations for the expected SWICs) can be obtained by back-transforming TSWIC. As before, these predicted values are for 3 yr SWICs. The predicted SWICs per year can be obtained simply by dividing E(3 yr SWIC) by 3.

Prediction equations for SWIC under Model 2B:

$$E(SWIC) = [(-3.2880 - 0.0373 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.8510 \text{ LogLen} + 0.6475 \text{ LogADT})^2 - 3/8]/3$$
(15)

Table 6-5. Information for 3 yr TSWIC with Least-Squares Fit for Four-Lane Highway.

| | | 0] 0 1 | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|----------|------------|------------|---------|----------|----------|---------|--------|
| A. Linear with RT | lane | RT Shou | Revi sed | Medi an | CLass | l ogl en | and | |
| A. Ernear with Kr | Lanc | Ki Shou, | Nevi Seu | mear an | 01 435 | LogLen, | anu | LOGADI |
| | | | | | | | | |
| RSquare | | 0.614 | 034 | | | | | |
| RSquare Adj | | 0.609 | | | | | | |
| Root Mean Square Error | | 0.7992 | | | | | | |
| Mean of Response | | 1.919 | | | | | | |
| Observations (or Sum Wgts) | | (| 663 | | | | | |
| , S, | | | | | | | | |
| Analysis of Variance | | | | | | | | |
| Source DF | Sum c | of Squares | Mean Sq | uare | F Ratio | | | |
| Model 8 | | 664.6350 | | | 130.0561 | | | |
| Error 654 | | 417.7729 | 0.6 | 388 | Prob > F | | | |
| C. Total 662 | 1 | 082.4078 | | | <.0001 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Parameter Estimates | | | | | | | | |
| Term | | | Estimate | Std Er | ror | t Ratio | Prob> t | |
| Intercept | | | -3.627544 | 0.8559 | 958 | -4.24 | <.0001 | |
| RT lane | | | 0.0335452 | 0.0653 | 353 | 0.51 | 0.6079 | |
| RT Shou | | | -0.038482 | 0.0107 | 787 | -3.57 | 0.0004 | |
| Med Class Revised[Drive-Na | r] | | 0.0176468 | 0.1279 | 932 | 0.14 | 0.8903 | |
| Med Class Revised[Drive-Wid | de] | | -0.175457 | 0.085 | 563 | -2.05 | 0.0409 | |
| Med Class Revised[None] | | | -0.090979 | 0.0771 | | -1.18 | 0.2386 | |
| Med Class Revised[UnDri-Na | r] | | 0.3487174 | 0.1555 | 526 | 2.24 | 0.0253 | |
| LogLength | | | 0.850863 | 0.0316 | 695 | 26.84 | <.0001 | |
| LogADT | | | 0.6523928 | 0.0384 | 111 | 16.98 | <.0001 | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Effect Tests | | | | - | | | | |
| Source | Nparm | | | Squares | F R | | rob > F | |
| RT lane | 1 | | | 0.16830 | 0.26 | | 0.6079 | |
| RT Shou | 1 | | | 8.13019 | 12.72 | | 0.0004 | |
| Med Class Revised | 4 | - | | 4.45579 | 1.74 | | 0.1386 | |
| LogLength | 1 | | | 0.34874 | 720.6 | | <.0001 | |
| LogADT | 1 | 1 | 18 | 4.27722 | 288.47 | 757 | <.0001 | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| B. Linear with RT | Shou | l oal en | and Local | т | | | | |
| | Shou, | LogLon, | and LogA | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| RSquare | | 0.609 | 306 | | | | | |
| RSquare Adj | | 0.608 | | | | | | |
| Root Mean Square Error | | 0.800 | | | | | | |
| Mean of Response | | 1.9192 | | | | | | |
| Observations (or Sum Wgts) | | | 663 | | | | | |
| (| | | | | | | | |
| Parameter Estimates | | | | | | | | |
| Term | Estimate | Std Erro | or t Ratio | Prob> | > t | | | |
| | 3.288018 | 0.31576 | | | | | | |
| | 0.037358 | 0.00823 | | | | | | |
| | 8510065 | 0.03104 | | | | | | |
| - 5 - 5 | 6474653 | 0.03683 | - | | - | | | |

Selection of Model

Similar to the two-lane highway analysis, all of the models developed and presented within this chapter fit the data well. Model 1B was preferred over Models 1A (not including the log of segment length resulted in illogical findings at long segment lengths), 1C (where exposure is considered an offset variable), and the linear regression models (negative binomial is a better match with the distribution of the data). Therefore, the following evaluations are performed using the negative binomial regression model where LogLen and LogADT are included as independent variables in addition to RT Lane, and RT Shou. The selected regression equation for four-lane highways is:

 $E(SWIC) = [exp(-6.8122 - 0.0427 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9354 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9441 \text{ LogADT})]/3 \quad (16)$

COMPARISON BETWEEN ACTUAL DATA AND PREDICTED VALUES

Similar to the two-lane scenario, while the statistical evaluation results indicate that the developed models are a good fit with the data, a visual review of the actual data with the results from the prediction equation can show the variability in the data. Figure 6-2 shows the number of SWICs on a per-year and per-mile basis for segments with 12-ft lanes and ADTs less than 5000. Figure 6-3 shows similar data for segments with ADTs equal to or greater than 5000. Also on these figures is a plot of the results from using the regression model for ADT of 4000 and 8000, respectively.

As can be seen in Figures 6-3 and 6-4, there are segments with annual SWICs/mile much greater (and less) than what is predicted using the regression equation. This is important to consider, as the regression equation is used in selecting a lane width or a shoulder width. While on average using a wider shoulder should result in fewer crashes than using a narrow shoulder (as demonstrated by the downward slope of the regression equation), not all situations will have that result.



Figure 6-3. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway Segments with ADT Less Than 5000.



Figure 6-4. Comparison of Results from Prediction Equation to Actual Data for Roadway Segments with ADT Greater than 5000.

EFFECTS OF VARIABLES

The regression evaluation found the following variables to affect the crash prediction: ADT, shoulder width and segment length. Figure 6-5 illustrates the effect that these variables have on crash prediction for rural four-lane highways by shoulder width. As ADT increases, the number of SWICs also increases. For example, the number of crashes on a roadway segment with 10,000 ADT is about 4.7 times the number of crashes on a roadway segment with only 2000 ADT. This plot was developed assuming a 10-mile segment and then converted to a per-mile increment.



Figure 6-5. Comparison of Results From Prediction Equation by Shoulder Width for a Range of ADT Values.

RATIO

The ratio between the numbers of crashes at different shoulder width values can provide an appreciation for the potential benefit of widening a shoulder on a four-lane rural highway. The ratio of crashes to an 8-ft shoulder width is listed in Table 6-6 and shown in Figure 6-6.

Since lane width was found to be not significant, one interpretation could be that there are no benefits to widening a lane. This conclusion should not be made because most of the segments within this dataset had either 11- or 12-ft lanes – a too small range to identify a relationship.



Figure 6-6. Plot of Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on SWICs.

| Predictions of SWICs. | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|--------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane | | | | | |
| 12 | 0.84 | | | | | |
| 11 | 0.88 | | | | | |
| 10 | 0.92 | | | | | |
| 9 | 0.96 | | | | | |
| 8 | 1.00 | | | | | |
| 7 | 1.04 | | | | | |
| 6 | 1.09 | | | | | |
| 5 | 1.14 | | | | | |
| 4 | 1.19 | | | | | |
| 3 | 1.24 | | | | | |
| 2 | 1.29 | | | | | |
| 1 | 1.35 | | | | | |
| 0 | 1.41 | | | | | |

 Table 6-6. List of Ratios for Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways Based on Predictions of SWICs.

Other researchers have examined the benefits of widening lanes and shoulders on two-lane rural highways, however research on rural four-lane highways was not identified. The most current knowledge on the topic is represented in the Draft Prototype Chapter (2) developed for consideration of the *Highway Safety Manual*. Background material on the *Draft Prototype Chapter* is included in Chapter 2 and Chapter 5 of this TxDOT report. A comparison of the findings from this project with the *Draft Prototype Chapter* can provide an appreciation of whether similar trends are present for four-lane highways as two-lane highways. Figure 6-7 compares the findings for the four-lane highways to those of two-lane highways (see Chapter 5) and the *Draft Prototype Chapter* two-lane shoulder width AMF. The findings for four-lane highways are similar to the findings for two-lane highways with the two-lane highways showing a slightly greater sensitivity to shoulder width (as evidenced from larger ratios).



Figure 6-7. Comparison of Ratios.

The *DPC* assumes different AMF values for different ADT levels. The four-lane highway data were used to investigate whether the ratios should vary depending upon the ADT present at the site. The roadway segments were subdivided into three ADT groups: less than 4320, between 4320 and 8800, and greater than 8800. These groups represent divisions developed based on the level of service (LOS) criteria in the *Highway Capacity Manual* for multilane highways (see Exhibit 21-2 of that document). For a free-flow speed of 60 mph and LOS B, the maximum service flow rate is 1080 pc/h/ln. The 4320 ADT value represents the 1080 service flow rate flow rate of 2200. Table 6-7 lists the general statistics for each group.

Different variables were significant in the individual ADT groups as compared to the entire dataset. The regression analysis of those roadway segments with ADT of less than 4320 (see Table 6-8) found all variables significant except revised median class. The analysis for ADTs between 4320 and 8800 (see Table 6-9) found only RT Shou and LogLen significant – LogADT was found to be not significant, a potentially surprising finding given the known importance of ADT in predicting crashes. When the LogADT limits for this group are reviewed, the difference is small, which may contribute to the variable not being significant. (Log of 4320 is 8.376, while log of 8800 is 9.0825, a difference of only 0.707.) For ADTs above 8800 (see Table 6-10), RT Shou, LogADT, and LogLen were all found to be significant, similar to the findings for the model that used all the four-lane highway data.

| Characteristics by AD1 Group. | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|---------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Variable | Average (Range) or Total for Dataset | | | | | | |
| variable | <4320 | 4320 to 8800 | >8800 | | | | |
| ADT | 2416 (253–4300) | 6648 (4333-8800) | 15201 (8833–29,666) | | | | |
| Seg Len (mi) | 1.6 (0.2–13.3) | 1.5 (0.2–9.8) | 1.0 (0.2–6.1) | | | | |
| RT Lane (ft) | 11.76 (10–14) | 11.69 (10–13) | 11.72 (11–13) | | | | |
| RT Shou (ft) | 6.04 (0–14) | 7.10 (0–13) | 8.28 (0-13) | | | | |
| Total Crashes (3 yr) | 453 | 1456 | 2753 | | | | |
| 3 yr SWICs | 360 | 1097 | 1819 | | | | |
| Total Crash KABs (3 yr) | 190 | 571 | 959 | | | | |
| 3 yr SWIC KABs | 149 | 423 | 612 | | | | |
| Total Miles | 264 | 350 | 269 | | | | |

 Table 6-7. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane Highways Roadway

 Characteristics by ADT Group.

Table 6-8. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADT < 4320.

| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| | Model Information | | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. FOUR_LN_8_29_ADT_LESS_4320 Di stri buti on Negati ve Bi nomi al Li nk Functi on Log Dependent Vari abl e SWI C SWI C Observati ons Used 166 | | | | | | | | |
| Dev Sca Pea Sca Log | terion viance al ed Deviance arson Chi -Square al ed Pearson X2 g Likelihood | For Asses: DF 161 161 161 161 | si ng Goodnes Vá 179. 5 179. 5 182. 6 182. 6 163. 5 | al ue 5160 5160 5236 5236 | Val ue/DF 1. 1150 1. 1150 1. 1343 1. 1343 | | | |
| Algorithm o | converged. | | | | | | | |
| | Anal ys | is Of Para | ameter Estin | nates | | | | |
| Parameter DF Intercept 1 RT_lane 1 RT_Shou 1 LogLength 1 LogADT 1 Dispersion 1 | Estimate -0.5501 1 -0.3416 0 -0.0679 0 0.8982 0 0.6819 0 0.1020 0 | ndard Error . 9870 . 1395 . 0164 . 0623 . 1141 . 0612 | Wald 95% Co Limit -4. 4445 -0. 6151 -0. 1000 0. 7762 0. 4582 0. 0315 | ts 3. 3444 -0. 0681 -0. 0358 1. 0203 0. 9055 0. 3305 | Chi - Square 0.08 5.99 17.16 208.17 35.72 | Pr > Chi Sq 0. 7819 0. 0144 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |

Table 6-9. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADTBetween 4320 and 8800.

| | | | The GEN | MOD Procedur | е | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------|
| | | | Model | Informati on | | | | |
| Data Set Distributio Link Functi Dependent V Observation | on 'ari abl | le | | 29_ADT_4320_ egative Binc | | SWI C | | |
| Al gori | Devi Scal Pea Scal Log | Crite terion iance led Deviance rson Chi-Squa led Pearson X Likelihood onverged. | Di 230 230 re 230 | 6 275 6 275 6 292 6 292 | ess 0f Val ue . 6775 . 6775 . 5176 . 5176 . 8023 | | Val ue/DF 1. 1681 1. 1681 1. 2395 1. 2395 | |
| | | An | alvsis Of Pa | arameter Est | imates | | | |
| Parameter Intercept RT_Shou LogLength Dispersion NOTE: The negat | DF 1 1 1 1 | Estimate 1.3698 -0.0388 1.0130 0.3117 | Standard Error 0. 1047 0. 0130 0. 0565 0. 0621 | Wald 95% Lim -0.0643 0.9022 0.2109 | Confide its -0.0 1.1 0.40 | 750 133 237 606 | Chi - Square 171.33 8.87 321.16 | Pr > Chi Sq <. 0001 0. 0029 <. 0001 |

| | | | | 0000 | | | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|--|--|
| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | | |
| | Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| Data Set LIB4618.FOUR_LN_8_29_ADT_GT_8800 Distribution Negative Binomial Link Function Log Dependent Variable SWIC SWIC Observations Used 258 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Cri te | ria For Asse | essing Goodne | ess Of Fit | | | | |
| | Cri | terion | DF | | /al ue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| Deviance Scaled Deviance Pearson Chi-Square Scaled Pearson X2 Log Likelihood | | | | 301 280 280 | 0559 0559 2730 2730 4886 | 1. 1853 1. 1853 1. 1034 1. 1034 | | | |
| Al gori | thm c | onverged. | | | | | | | |
| | | An | alysis Of Pa | rameter Est | mates | | | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% (Lim | Confidence ts | Chi- Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| Intercept RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Dispersion | 1 1 1 1 1 | -9. 0957 -0. 0303 0. 9370 1. 1742 0. 2476 | 1.3281 0.0127 0.0469 0.1417 0.0427 | -11. 6987 -0. 0552 0. 8451 0. 8966 0. 1767 | -6. 4927 -0. 0055 1. 0290 1. 4519 0. 3471 | 46.90 5.72 398.85 68.71 | <. 0001 0. 0167 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | |
| Hore. The negative | NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |

Table 6-10. SAS Output for Analysis by ADT Group, Four-Lane Highway with ADT > 8800.

Figure 6-8 shows the ratio using Texas data to the AMFs presented in the *Draft Prototype Chapter* for rural two-lane highways. Table 6-11 lists the values. The *DPC* AMF assumes that 6 ft represents the desirable minimum shoulder width and that shoulder widths in excess of 8 ft provide no additional benefits. The *DPC* AMF was adjusted to reflect an 8-ft desirable shoulder width to provide a better comparison with the Texas findings. The Texas data revealed a similar trend as that assumed on the national level for shoulder widths less than 8 ft on two-lane highways. The Texas data did show benefits for 10-ft shoulders over 8-ft shoulders, while the *DPC* assumes no additional benefits. The increase in crash prediction at minimal shoulder widths is greater for the national values on two-lane highways than found using Texas four-lane highway data. For example, for no shoulders, the *DPC* assumes that related crashes will be 1.72 times the crash value if 8-ft shoulders were present. The Texas data found that crashes will be 1.41 times the crash value if 8-ft shoulders were present when using all the data. For lower volume four-lane highways, the Texas data found that 0-ft shoulders would have 64 percent more crashes than segments with 8-ft shoulders.



Figure 6-8. Comparison of Texas Findings to Draft Prototype Chapter for Shoulder Width.

| | Ratio of Number of Crashes for Given Shoulder Width to Number of Crashes on a Roadway with an 8-ft Shoulder | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------------------|------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| Shouldon | | Roadway Segments with Following ADT Values: | | | | | | | | |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | | Texas | | <i>DPC</i> (adjusted) Two-lane highway | | | | | | |
| | All ADTs | <4320 | 4320 to 8800 | >8800 | <400 | >2000 | | | | |
| 10 | 0.91 | 0.87 | 0.93 | 0.94 | 1.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| 9 | 0.95 | 0.93 | 0.96 | 0.97 | 1.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| 8 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| 7 | 1.05 | 1.07 | 1.04 | 1.03 | 1.01 | 1.07 | | | | |
| 6 | 1.10 | 1.15 | 1.08 | 1.06 | 1.02 | 1.15 | | | | |
| 5 | 1.15 | 1.23 | 1.12 | 1.10 | 1.03 | 1.24 | | | | |
| 4 | 1.20 | 1.31 | 1.17 | 1.13 | 1.04 | 1.32 | | | | |
| 3 | 1.26 | 1.40 | 1.21 | 1.16 | 1.07 | 1.41 | | | | |
| 2 | 1.32 | 1.50 | 1.26 | 1.20 | 1.09 | 1.49 | | | | |
| 1 | 1.38 | 1.61 | 1.31 | 1.24 | 1.11 | 1.61 | | | | |
| 0 | 1.45 | 1.72 | 1.36 | 1.27 | 1.12 | 1.72 | | | | |

 Table 6-11. Ratios for Shoulder Widths for SWICs on Rural Four-Lane Highways by ADT

 Groups for Texas Data and Two-Lane Highway DPC Values.

COMPARISON WITH TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES

As in the two-lane highway analysis, negative binomial regression was performed using total crashes. Similar model forms were tested as used with the SWICs. The SAS output for the preferred model is shown in Table 6-12. Figure 6-9 compares the ratio of number of crashes at different shoulder widths to number of crashes at an 8-ft shoulder width. This plot indicates that total crashes are also sensitive to shoulder width. Table 6-13 lists the lane width and shoulder width ratios generated based on predictions of total crashes. The *Draft Prototype Chapter* assumes that the lane width and shoulder width AMFs (similar to the "ratio" being used in this study) are only applied to "related accidents" on rural two-lane highways. Similar to the observation made in the two-lane highway chapter, additional, more focused research may be needed to determine if AMFs should be applied only to related accidents or if they should be applied to all crashes.

Table 6-12. Model Information for 3yr Total Crash data with Negative Binomial Regression.

| | | | The GENM | OD Procedure | 9 | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|
| | | | Model I | nformati on | | | |
| Dataset Distribu Link Fur Depender Observat | nction nt Var | i abl e | Nega | _GROUP_EXPO3 tive Binomia Lo otal_Accider 66 | al og nt Total | Acci dent | |
| | Dev Sca Pea Sca | Criter terion iance led Deviance rson Chi-Squa led Pearson X Likelihood | DF 658 658 re 658 | 764. 764. 754. | /al ue 6679 6679 4177 4177 | Val ue/DF 1. 1621 1. 1621 1. 1465 1. 1465 | |
| Al gori | thm c | onverged. | | | | | |
| Parameter Intercept RT Iane | DF 1 1 | Ana Estimate -5.1437 -0.1392 | alysis Of Pa Standard Error 0.8647 0.0677 | rameter Esti Wald 95% (Limi -6.8385 -0.2718 | Confidence | Chi - Square 35.38 4.23 | Pr > Chi Sq <. 0001 0. 0397 |
| RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 | -0. 0618 0. 7956 0. 9990 0. 3583 | 0. 0087 0. 0311 0. 0454 0. 0356 | -0. 0788 0. 7347 0. 9101 0. 2949 | -0. 0448 0. 8565 1. 0879 0. 4354 | 50. 85 655. 14 485. 21 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 |
| | NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | |



Figure 6-9. Comparison of Total Crash to SWIC for Shoulder Width.

| | 15 01 10tal Clashes. |
|---------------------|----------------------|
| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.52 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.88 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.28 |
| 3 | 1.36 |
| 2 | 1.45 |
| 1 | 1.54 |
| 0 | 1.64 |

 Table 6-13. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways

 Based on Predictions of Total Crashes.

A check was also performed using KAB crashes. KAB crashes are defined as those crashes involving a fatality (K), an incapacitating injury (A), or a nonincapacitating injury (B). Concerns have been expressed with the quality of noninjury and PDO crash data, especially their high nonreporting rates. Because of those concerns, KAB crashes were also reviewed to determine if different patterns exist between KAB crashes and shoulder width or lane width. Negative binomial regression was performed using similar model forms as tested for the SWICs. Table 6-14 lists the SAS output. For SWIC KABs and total crash KABs, RT Lane was not significant. Figure 6-10 shows the shoulder width ratio. The SWIC KAB crashes followed a similar trend as was found for SWICs. The total crash KAB trend mirrors the trend seen in Figure 6-9 – shoulder width has a greater effect.

Table 6-14. Model Information for 3 yr Crash KAB and 3 yr SWIC KAB Data withNegative Binomial Regression.

| Itegutite | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| The | GENMOD Procedure |
| Dataset LI B4618. FOUR_I | el Information LANE_GROUP_EXPO3 Negative Binomial Log SWIC_KAB SWIC KAB 663 |
| Criteria For A Criterion Deviance Scaled Deviance Pearson Chi-Square Scaled Pearson X2 Log Likelihood | Assessing Goodness Of Fit DF Value Value/DF 659 666.4506 1.0113 659 666.4506 1.0113 659 667.7077 1.0132 659 667.7077 1.0132 231.5638 |
| Algorithm converged. | |
| Anal ysi s Or Standard Parameter DF Estimate Error Intercept 1 -6.9855 0.558 RT_Shou 1 -0.0506 0.0109 LogLength 1 0.9781 0.043 LogADT 1 0.8542 0.0624 Di spersi on 1 0.2821 0.054 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion par | rameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. |
| The | GENMOD Procedure |
| Mode Dataset LIB4618.FOUR_I Distribution Link Function | el Information _ANE_GROUP_EXPO3 Vegative Binomial _Log otal_Accident_KAB Total Accident KAB 663 |
| Criteria for A Criterion Deviance Scaled Deviance Pearson Chi-Square Scaled Pearson X2 Log Likelihood | Assessing Goodness of Fit DF Value Value/DF 659 713.1417 1.0822 659 713.1417 1.0822 659 735.3597 1.1159 659 735.3597 1.1159 916.7683 |
| Algorithm converged. | |
| Anal ysis or Standard Parameter DF Estimate Error Intercept 1 -7.2233 0.5039 RT_Shou 1 -0.0677 0.0039 LogLen 1 0.8605 0.0379 LogADT 1 0.9407 0.0560 Dispersion 1 0.2936 0.0450 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion particular | rameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. |



Figure 6-10. Comparison of Total Crash KABs and SWIC KABs to SWICs for Shoulder Width.

CHAPTER 7

FINDINGS FROM COMPARISON OF CRASHES ON 44- TO 54-FT SURFACE WIDTH

A low-cost method to increase capacity on rural highways is to stripe a formerly two-lane with wide shoulder highway into a four-lane with minimal shoulders. These decisions have generally been made based on capacity criteria. Information on the safety trade-offs is being sought.

OVERVIEW

The following analysis will use crash data from 1999 to 2001 to examine the safety performance on highways with a surface with of 44 to 54 ft with either two lanes and wide shoulders or four lanes with minimal shoulders. The dimensions of 44 to 54 ft were identified as being widths used for both two-lane and four-lane highways. Wider highways generally have either passing lanes, turn lanes, medians, or very wide shoulders.

At the 44-ft widths for two-lane highways, the cross sections generally consist of two 11- or 12-ft lanes and 11- or 10-ft shoulders. For four-lane highways, a 44-ft cross section would typically include four 11-ft lanes with no shoulders. For the 54-ft widths, the two-lane highways generally had 12-ft and sometimes 13- or 14-ft lanes with the remaining width allocated to the shoulders or to a wider centerline. For a four-lane highway, the cross section of a 54-ft wide highway would typically have four 12-ft lanes and 3-ft shoulders.

CRASHES

A subset of total crashes was used in the analysis. Crashes associated with the surface width rather than intersections should be affected by the change in number of lanes or availability of shoulder width. In previous research, this type of crash has been referred to as "related crashes" (*10*, *18*). Related crashes are defined as single vehicle run-off-road and multiple-vehicle head-on, opposite-direction sideswipe, and same-direction sideswipe.

The codes in the Texas accident database do not permit using the exact same descriptor to generate "related crashes" as used in previous research; however, similar types of crashes can be identified. The following TxDOT codes were used to identify SWICs:

- nonintersection crashes (intersection related code = 4),
- collision code, vehicle movement/manner:
 - o two motor vehicles going same direction,
 - o two motor vehicles going opposite directions, and
 - o single vehicles.

SWICs occurring between 1999 and 2001 were included in the study.

DATA

The dataset included a total of 804 miles of highway segments with 44- to 54-ft surface widths. A total of 514 miles of two-lane highways and 290 miles of four-lane highways were available.

Table 7-1 lists the general characteristics of the highway segments.

Table 7-1. Range and Average Values for Rural Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways withSurface Widths of 44 to 54 ft.

| Variable | Average (Range) or Total for Data Set | | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|
| variable | Two Lane | Four Lane | | | | |
| ADT | 3176 (170–14,033) | 6546 (253–18,166) | | | | |
| Seg Len (mi) | 1.39 (0.20–10.80) | 1.88 (0.20–9.80) | | | | |
| RT Lane (ft) | 11.97 (10–15) | 11.42 (11–12) | | | | |
| RT Shou (ft) | 10.34 (2–13) | 1.68 (0–5) | | | | |
| SWICs | 754 | 1135 | | | | |
| Total Crashes | 991 | 1745 | | | | |
| Total Crashes KAB | 378 | 661 | | | | |
| SWIC KABs | 286 | 441 | | | | |
| Total Miles | 514 | 290 | | | | |

Highway characteristics considered within the prediction equations included:

- number of Lanes (LN),
- lane width (RT Lane),
- shoulder width (RT Shou),
- median width,
- segment length (Seg Len), and/or
- ADT.

The highway characteristic variable median width was removed from the list of the independent variables because most of the highway segments in the database had zero median width. Only one of the 91 four-lane highway segments and 30 of 237 two-lane highway segments have non-zero median widths. The distribution for each of the remaining variables by lane is provided in Figure 7-1. Crash rate (crashes per mile) was the method selected for presentation of the crash data because each segment length varied. Converting to a common unit – crashes per mile – permitted the graphing of the crash rate by the total number of miles. Bins of 1 crash/mi increments were used. As can be seen in Figure 7-1, most of the mileage represented in the two-lane dataset had less than 1 crash/mi while the four-lane dataset had much higher number of crashes per mile.

MODELS

GLMs, specifically a negative binomial regression model and an analysis of covariance model, were used to determine the effects of independent variables on SWICs. A negative binomial regression model is often used to model the count data of which variance is much larger than the mean (this phenomenon is referred to as overdispersion). The prediction of crash frequencies can be made by using the mean function of the negative binomial regression.

Alternatively, an analysis of covariance model can be applied to the transformed counts. Note that crash frequencies such as SWICs do not follow a normal distribution as they are, and the variance usually increases as the crash frequency increases, which violates the usual assumptions in the analysis of covariance/variance. The purpose of transformation is to make the distribution of the transformed variable close to a normal distribution and to stabilize the variance. For the count data, the square-root transformation of the form given in Chapter 5 is used conventionally.

An analysis of covariance model with a normal error distribution can be employed to develop a prediction equation based on the transformed count. Once the coefficients of the equation are estimated, prediction can be made for the original untransformed crash frequency by back-transforming transformed crash frequency.



Figure 7-1. Distribution of Variables per Mile by Number of Lanes.

Negative Binomial Regression Model

Three types of negative binomial regression models were used:

- Model 1A) Segment Length (Length) and the log of ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to other variables (RT Lane, and RT Shou).
- Model 1B) The log of both Segment Length (LogLength) and ADT (LogADT) are included as the independent variables in addition to other highway characteristic variables (RT Lane, and RT Shou).
- Model 1C) Exposure was defined as a function of Segment Length and ADT. It is included as an offset variable in addition to RT Lane, and RT Shou.

To check if the effects of any of the highway characteristic variables change for different number of lanes, models with all possible two-way interactions between number of lanes (LN) and other highway characteristic variables were first examined. The results showed that the interactions LN * RT Shou and LN * RT Lane were significant, suggesting that the effects of RT Shou and/or RT Lane are different for different number of lanes. Therefore, a separate model was fitted for each of two-lane and four-lane highways. The functional form for the mean of each negative binomial regression model for each number of lanes is given in Chapter 5.

Once the predicted values for the 3 year SWICs, E(3 yr SWIC), are obtained, the predicted SWICs per year can be obtained simply by dividing E(3 yr SWIC) by 3. Typical alpha levels used in determining whether a variable is significant range between 5 and 20 percent. An alpha of 5 percent was desired.

Initial efforts using Model 1A revealed that for two-lane highways the effects of RT Lane and RT Shou are not statistically significant. Table 7-2 shows the SAS output for the revised twolane highway Model 1A, where only Length and LogADT are retained in the model. Also shown in Table 7-2 is the four-lane highway output. For the four-lane highways, all the variables (RT Lane, RT Shou, Length, and LogADT) are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. From "Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit" (see Table 7-2), it can be seen that the negative binomial model fits the data very well. Note that both deviance and Pearson chi-square divided by degrees of freedom are close to 1. The ratios (Value/DF) close to 1.0 indicate that the model is adequate.

| | | | Two- | LANE HIGHWA | Y | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| | | | | ENMOD Proced | | | | |
| | | | | Information | | | | |
| Data Set | | LIB4 | 618. NEW44T05 | | P03 | | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | ction Varia | abl e | Ne | gative Binom | i al Log | NIC | | |
| Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit | | | | | | | | |
| | Cri | terion | D | F | Val ue | Val ue/DF | | |
| | Scal Pear Scal | i ance Led Devi ance rson Chi -Squa Led Pearson X Li kel i hood | | 8 367 8 350 8 350 | 7.2472 7.2472 9.6858 9.6858 7.3481 | 0. 9980 0. 9980 0. 9530 0. 9530 | | |
| Al gori | thm co | onverged. | | | | | | |
| Parameter | DF | Aı Estimate | nalysis Of Pa Standard Error | Wald 95% | | ce Chi- Square | Pr > Chi Sq | |
| lntercept Length LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 | -8. 0391 0. 5066 0. 9662 0. 4715 | 0. 7191 0. 0383 0. 0864 0. 0828 | -9. 4485 0. 4315 0. 7968 0. 3342 | -6.629 0.58 1.13 0.66 | 18 174.63 56 124.94 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | |
| IOTE: The negat | ive bi | inomial disp | ersion param | eter was est | imated by | y maximum like | l i hood. | |
| FOUR-LANE HIGHWAY The GENMOD Procedure Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| | | | The GE | | ure | | | |
| Data Set Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | ction : Varia | abl e | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom | P03 ni al Log | NIC | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent | ction : Varia | abl e sed | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom S | CPO3 ni al Log WIC SN 154 | | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent | ction Varia ons Us | abl e sed | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 Ney | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom S essing Goodr | CPO3 ni al Log WIC SN 154 | | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent | ction Varia ons Us Cri Devi Scal Pear Scal | abl e sed Cri te | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 Ney eria For Asse D 14 14 are 14 | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom s essing Goodr F 9 162 9 158 9 158 | (PO3 nial Log WIC SI 154 ness Of Fi | it | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | ction Varia ons Us Cri Devi Scal Pea Scal Log | able sed Crite terion i ance led Deviance rson Chi -Squ led Pearson X | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 Ney eria For Asse D 14 14 are 14 | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom s essing Goodr F 9 162 9 158 9 158 | 2P03 i al Log WIC SI 154 ress Of Fi Val ue 2. 0544 2. 0544 2. 8114 | i t Val ue/DF 1. 0876 1. 0876 1. 0876 1. 0658 | | |
| Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | ction Varia ons Us Cri Devi Scal Pea Scal Log | able sed Crite terion i ance led Deviance rson Chi-Squa led Pearson X Likelihood ponverged. | The GE Model 618. NEW44T05 Ney eria For Asse D 14 14 are 14 | Information 4FT_GROUP_EX gative Binom s essing Goodr F 9 162 9 162 9 158 9 158 9 158 9 158 1702 arameter Est Wald 95% | 2P03 i al Log WIC SI 154 eess Of Fi Value 2.0544 2.8114 2.8114 2.8114 2.5624 i mates | i t Val ue/DF 1. 0876 1. 0876 1. 0658 1. 0658 | Pr > Chi Sq | |

Table 7-2. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model

Two-Lane Highway using Model 1A:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-8.0391 + 0.5066 \text{ Length} + 0.9662 \text{ LogADT})$$
(17)

Four-Lane Highway using Model 1A:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-3.0750 - 0.2688 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.1779 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.5249 \text{ Length} + 0.8047 \text{ LogADT})$$
(18)

Evaluations with Model 1B also revealed that not all variables are significant. Table 7-3 shows the results for two-lane highways, while the results for four-lane highways are in Table 7-4. For two-lane highways, the effects of RT Lane and RT Shou are not significant. The bottom half of Table 7-3 show the results when RT Lane and RT Shou are not included. For four-lane highways the effect of RT Lane is nearly significant at $\alpha = 0.1$. The bottom half of Table 7-4 show the results when RT Lane is not included. From "Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit," it can be seen that the negative binomial model fits the data well (both deviance and Pearson chisquare divided by degrees of freedom are less than 1.2). The estimated equations for the expected SWICs for two-lane and four-lane highways follow.

Two-Lane Highway using Model 1B:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-6.8674 + 0.9691 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9139 \text{ LogADT})$$
(19)

Four-Lane Highway using Model 1B:

$$E(3 \text{ yr SWIC}) = \exp(-4.4688 - 0.1338 \text{ RT Shou} + 1.0009 \text{ LogLen} + 0.6895 \text{ LogADT})$$
(20)

| Table 7-3. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 1B: Two-Lane Highways). |

| | | | The GENMO | D Procedure | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| | | | Model Ir | nformati on | | | | | |
| Data Set Distribu Link Fun Dependen Observat | ition Iction It Vari | abl e | | SW | al og | | | | |
| Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit | | | | | | | | | |
| | Cri | teri on | DF | Va | alue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| | Sca Pea Sca | i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi -Squar I ed Pearson X2 Li kel i hood | | 379. 379. 393. 393. 227. | 5614 3684 3684 | 1.0371 1.0371 1.0748 1.0748 | | | |
| Al gor | ithm c | onverged. | | | | | | | |
| | | Ana | lysis Of Par | rameter Esti | mates | | | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limi | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| Intercept RT_Lane RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Dispersion NOTE: The nega | 1 1 1 1 1 1 vtive b | -8.3647 0.1102 0.0159 0.9709 0.9152 0.1879 i nomi al di sper: | 1.9881 0.1423 0.0505 0.0518 0.0737 0.0545 sion paramet | -12.2613 -0.1686 -0.0831 0.8694 0.7707 0.1064 ter was estil | -4.4680 0.3890 0.1150 1.0723 1.0597 0.3317 mated by mated | 17.70 0.60 0.10 351.89 154.07 aximum likel | <. 0001 0. 4385 0. 7527 <. 0001 <. 0001 i hood. | | |
| 5 | | | | MOD Procedur | | | | | |
| | | | Model Ir | nformation | | | | | |
| Data Set | | LI B461 | | T_GROUP_EXP | | | | | |
| Distribu Link Fun Dependen Observat | nction nt Vari | | Nega | SW | og | | | | |
| | | Cri ter | ia For Asses | ssing Goodne | ss Of Fit | | | | |
| | Cri | teri on | DF | Va | alue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| | Sca Pea Sca | i ance I ed Devi ance rson Chi -Squar I ed Pearson X2 Li kel i hood | | 378. 378. 390. 390. 226. | 8006 6109 6109 | 1. 0293 1. 0293 1. 0614 1. 0614 | | | |
| Al gor | ithm c | onverged. | | | | | | | |
| | | Ana | lysis Of Par | rameter Esti | mates | | | | |
| Parameter | DF | Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limi | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| l ntercept LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | 1 1 1 1 | -6.8674 0.9691 0.9139 0.1913 | 0. 6024 0. 0517 0. 0735 0. 0548 | -8.0481 0.8678 0.7700 0.1092 | -5.6867 1.0704 1.0579 0.3353 | 129.95 351.55 154.77 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | |
| NOTE: The nega | ntive b | inomial disper | sion paramet | ter was estin | mated by ma | aximum likel | i hood. | | |

Table 7-4. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1B: Four-Lane Highways).

Г

| The GENMOD Proc | edure | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| | | Model In | formation | | | | | |
| Data SetLI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROUP_EXP03Di stri buti onNegati ve Bi nomi alLi nk Functi onLogDependent Vari abl eSWI CObservati ons Used154 | | | | | | | | |
| | Crite | ria For Asses | sing Goodnes | s Of Fit | | | | |
| | Cri teri on | DF | Va | lue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| | Devi ance Scal ed Devi ance Pearson Chi -Squa Scal ed Pearson X Log Li kel i hood | | 161.6 161.6 171.4 171.4 171.5 | 212 552 552 | 1.0847 1.0847 1.1507 1.1507 | | | |
| Al gori | thm converged. | | | | | | | |
| | An | alysis Of Para | ameter Estim | ates | | | | |
| Parameter | DF Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limit | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| Intercept RT_Iane RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Dispersion NOTE: The negat | 1 -2.2608 1 -0.1794 1 -0.1484 1 0.9903 1 0.6735 1 0.1647 ive binomial dispension | 1.5259 0.1109 0.0368 0.0580 0.0805 0.0395 rsion paramete | -5.2515 -0.3967 -0.2205 0.8767 0.5157 0.1029 er was estim | 0.7299 0.0378 -0.0764 1.1040 0.8313 0.2635 ated by ma | 2.20 2.62 16.30 291.81 70.00 aximum likel | 0. 1384 0. 1055 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | |
| | | The GENN | IOD Procedure | 9 | | | | |
| | | Model In | formation | | | | | |
| Data Set Distribut Link Func Dependent Observati | i on ti on Vari abl e | 18. NEW44T054F ⁻ Nega ⁻ | T_GROUP_EXPO tive Binomia Lo SWI 15 | I g C SWIC | | | | |
| | | ria For Asses | | | | | | |
| | Cri teri on | DF | 0 | lue | Val ue/DF | | | |
| | Devi ance Scal ed Devi ance Pearson Chi -Squa Scal ed Pearson X Log Li kel i hood | | 163. 9 163. 9 177. 5 177. 5 177. 2 | 146 134 134 | 1. 0928 1. 0928 1. 1834 1. 1834 | | | |
| Al gori | thm converged. | | | | | | | |
| | An | alysis Of Para | ameter Estim | ates | | | | |
| Parameter | DF Estimate | Standard Error | Wald 95% Co Limit | | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq | | |
| Intercept RT_Shou LogLength LogADT Di spersi on | $\begin{array}{rrrrr} 1 & -4.\ 4688 \\ 1 & -0.\ 1338 \\ 1 & 1.\ 0009 \\ 1 & 0.\ 6895 \\ 1 & 0.\ 1656 \end{array}$ | 0.7044 0.0356 0.0577 0.0802 0.0401 | -5.8494 -0.2036 0.8878 0.5323 0.1030 | -3.0882 -0.0641 1.1140 0.8467 0.2660 | 40. 25 14. 14 300. 69 73. 91 | <. 0001 0. 0002 <. 0001 <. 0001 | | |
| NOTE: The negat | ive binomial dispe | rsion paramete | er was estim | ated by ma | aximum likel | i hood. | | |

Table 7-5 shows the SAS output for Model 1C. For two-lane highways, RT Lane and RT Shou are not significant. For four-lane highways, the effect of RT Shou is statistically significant, but not the effect of RT Lane. From "Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit," it can be seen that the negative binomial model fits the data well (both deviance and Pearson chi-square divided by degrees of freedom are close to 1), but not as well as other models.

Analysis of Covariance Model for Transformed SWIC (TSWIC)

The SWIC were transformed using the equation presented in Chapter 5. To check if the effects of any of the highway characteristic variables change for different number of lanes, an analysis of covariance model having LN as a discrete factor and RT Lane, RT Shou, Seg Len, and LogADT as continuous factors along with all possible two-way interactions between LN and other factors was first examined. The results showed that the interaction effects LN * RT Shou, LN * Seg Len, and LN * LogADT are significant, suggesting that the effects of shoulder width, segment length, and LogADT might be different when the number of lanes is two and when it is four. Therefore, a separate model was fitted for each of two-lane and four-lane highways.

Table 7-6 contains the result of the fit for two-lane highways for 3 yr TSWIC. For two-lane highways, neither RT Lane nor RT Shou has a significant effect on 3 yr TSWIC. Table 7-7 contains the results of the fit for four-lane highways. For four-lane highways, the effect of RT Shou is statistically significant at alpha = 0.05, while the effect of RT Lane is significant at alpha = 0.15 but not at alpha = 0.05. Note from the tables that the parameter estimates are quite different for two-lane highways and four-lane highways, as was expected from the significant interaction effects between LN and other variables.

The prediction equations for TSWIC (the estimated equations for the expected TSWIC) can be written as follows:

Prediction equations for TSWIC for two-lane highways:

$$E(3 \text{ yr TSWIC}) = -1.5867 + 0.4994 \text{ LogLen} + 0.3876 \text{ LogADT}$$
(21)

Prediction equations for TSWIC for four-lane highways:

E(3 yr TSWIC) = -2.2168 - 0.1008 RT Shou

+ 0.9896 LogLen + 0.5409 LogADT (22)

Table 7-5. Model Information for SWIC Data with Negative Binomial Regression (Model 1C: Two- and Four-Lane Highways).

| TWO-LANE HIG | SHWAY | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| The GENMOD Proc | edure | | | | | | |
| Model Informat | | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable Offset Variable L Observations Used | | | | | | | |
| Criteria For Assessing G Criterion DF Deviance 368 Scaled Deviance 368 Pearson Chi-Square 368 Scaled Pearson X2 368 Log Likelihood | oodness Of Fit Value Value/DF 381.4607 1.0366 381.4607 1.0366 416.9468 1.1330 416.9468 1.1330 226.3186 1 | | | | | | |
| Algorithm converged. | | | | | | | |
| Anal ysis Of Parameter Standard Mal d Parameter DF Estimate Error Intercept 1 -2. 3171 1. 8934 -6. 02 RT_l ane 1 0. 1188 0. 1430 -0. 16 RT_Shou 1 0. 0127 0. 0508 -0. 08 Dispersion 1 0. 1866 0. 0547 0. 10 | 95% Confidence Chi - Limits Square Pr > Chi Sq 82 1.3940 1.50 0.2210 14 0.3990 0.69 0.4059 68 0.1122 0.06 0.8028 | | | | | | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was | estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | |
| FOUR-LANE HI | GHWAY | | | | | | |
| The GENMOD Proc | edure | | | | | | |
| Model Information | | | | | | | |
| | i on | | | | | | |
| Data Set LIB4618.NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable | P_EXP03 | | | | | | |
| Data Set LIB4618.NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable Offset Variable L | P_EXP03 i nomi al Log SWI C SWI C ogEXP03 LogEXP03 154 | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable L Offset Variable L Observations Used Criteria For Assessing G Criterion DF Deviance 152 Scaled Deviance 152 Pearson Chi-Square 152 Scaled Pearson X2 152 | P_EXP03 i nomi al Log SWI C SWI C ogEXP03 LogEXP03 154 | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable Offset Variable L Observations Used Criteria For Assessing G Criterion DF Deviance 152 Scaled Deviance 152 Pearson Chi-Square 152 Scaled Pearson X2 152 | P_EXP03 i nomi al Log SWIC SWIC ogEXP03 LogEXP03 154 oodness Of Fit Value Value/DF 163.6884 1.0769 163.6884 1.0769 189.3908 1.2460 189.3908 1.2460 | | | | | | |
| Data Set LI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROU Distribution Negative B Link Function Dependent Variable L Observations Used Criteria For Assessing G Criterion DF Deviance 152 Scaled Deviance 152 Pearson Chi-Square 152 Scaled Pearson X2 152 Log Likelihood Al gorithm converged. | P_EXP03 i nomi al Log SWIC SWIC ogEXP03 LogEXP03 154 oodness Of Fit Val ue Val ue/DF 163.6884 1.0769 163.6884 1.0769 189.3908 1.2460 189.3908 1.2460 189.3908 1.2460 1710.5477 Estimates 95% Confi dence Chi - Limits Square Pr > Chi Sq 20 -0.1853 18.09 <.0001 62 -0.0780 16.19 <.0001 | | | | | | |

| Table 7-6. Least-Squares Fit for 3 | yr TSWIC for Two-Lane Highways. |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|

| Table 7-6. Least-Squares Fit for 5 yr 18 will for 1 wo-Lane Highways. | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------|----------------------|----------|-----------|-----------|--|--|
| 2-lane roadw LN=2 | ays with Rt | Lane, Rt Sh | nou, Log | Length ar | nd LogADT | | |
| Response TSW Summary of Fit | IC (Transformed | d SWIC) | | | | | |
| RSquare RSquare Adj | | 0.530656 0.525526 | | | | | |
| Root Mean Squa | are Error | 0.563427 | | | | | |
| Mean of Respor | | 1.319126 | | | | | |
| Observations (o | | 371 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Parameter Estin | mates | | | | | | |
| Term | Estimate | Std Error | t Ratio | Prob> t | | | |
| Intercept | -1.223415 | 0.887803 | -1.38 | 0.1690 | | | |
| RT lane | -0.029146 | 0.065836 | -0.44 | 0.6582 | | | |
| RT Shou | -0.002057 | 0.022492 | -0.09 | 0.9272 | | | |
| LogLength | 0.4999183 | 0.028215 | 17.72 | <.0001 | | | |
| LogADT | 0.3884623 | 0.037816 | 10.27 | <.0001 | | | |
| 2-Lane roadw | ays with Log | enath and | | | | | |
| LN=2 | ays with Log | | LUGADI | | | | |
| Response TSW | IC | | | | | | |
| Summary of Fit | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| RSquare | | 0.530404 | | | | | |
| RSquare Adj | | 0.527852 | | | | | |
| Root Mean Squa | | 0.562044 | | | | | |
| Mean of Respor | | 1.319126 | | | | | |
| Observations (o | r Sum Wgts) | 371 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Parameter Estin | mates | | | | | | |
| Term | Estimate | Std Error | t Ratio | Prob> t | | | |
| Intercept | -1.586762 | 0.293406 | -5.41 | <.0001 | | | |
| LogLength | 0.4994148 | 0.028119 | 17.76 | <.0001 | | | |
| LogADT | 0.3875847 | 0.037487 | 10.34 | <.0001 | | | |

Table 7-7. Least-Squares Fit for 3 yr TSWIC for Four-Lane Highways.

| | | - | | | | <u> </u> | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|---------------|------------------|------------|----------|--|
| 4-I ane roadway LN=4 Response TSWIC Summary of Fit | - | _ane, RT Sh | iou, Log | Length, | and LogADT | | |
| RSquare | | 0.702973 | | | | | |
| RSquare Adj Root Mean Squar | o Error | 0.694999 0.810924 | | | | | |
| Mean of Respons | | 2.367082 | | | | | |
| Observations (or \$ | | 154 | | | | | |
| Parameter Estima | ates | | | | | | |
| Term | Estimate | Std Error | t Ratio | Prob> t | | | |
| Intercept | 0.6644301 | 1.927752 | 0.34 | 0.7308 | | | |
| RT lane | -0.229981 | 0.143223 | -1.61 | 0.1104 | | | |
| RT Shou | -0.122757 | 0.045577 | -2.69 | 0.0079 | | | |
| LogLength | 0.9730825 | 0.062309 | 15.62 | <.0001 | | | |
| LogADT | 0.5156751 | 0.083554 | 6.17 | <.0001 | | | |
| 4-I ane roadway Response TSWIC Summary of Fit | | Shou, LogLe | ength, a | nd LogAD | т | | |
| RSquare | | 0.697833 | | | | | |
| RSquare Adj | | 0.69179 | | | | | |
| Root Mean Squar | | 0.81518 | | | | | |
| Mean of Respons | | 2.367082 | | | | | |
| Observations (or S | Sum Wgts) | 154 | | | | | |
| Parameter Estimation | ates | | | | | | |
| Term | Estimate | Std Error | t Ratio | Prob> t | | | |
| Intercept | -2.21684 | 0.708381 | -3.13 | 0.0021 | | | |
| RT Shou | -0.100796 | 0.043705 | -2.31 | 0.0225 | | | |
| LogLength LogADT | 0.9895873 0.5408748 | 0.061778 0.082498 | 16.02 6.56 | <.0001 <.0001 | | | |
| LUYADI | 0.0400740 | 0.002490 | 0.00 | <.0001 | | | |

The prediction equations for 3 yr SWICs (the estimated equations for the expected 3 yr SWIC) can be obtained by back-transforming 3 yr TSWIC. As before, these predicted values are for SWICs for 3 years. The predicted SWICs per year can be obtained simply by dividing E(3 yr SWIC) by 3.

Prediction equations for SWIC for two-lane highways:

$$E(SWIC) = [(-1.5867 + 0.4994 \text{ LogLen} + 0.3876 \text{ LogADT})^2 - 3/8]/3$$
(23)

Prediction equations for SWIC for four-lane highways:

$$E(SWIC) = [(-2.2168 - 0.1008 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9896 \text{ LogLen} + 0.5409 \text{ LogADT })^2 - 3/8]/3$$
 (24)

Selection of Model

Similar to the decisions presented in Chapters 5 and 6, Model 1B was the preferred form for the evaluation of converting the number of lanes on a 44- to 54-ft surface width. The selected regression equations are:

Two-Lane Highway for Surface Width 44- to 54-ft Evaluation:

$$E(SWIC) = [exp(-6.8674 + 0.9691 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9139 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(25)

Four-Lane Highway for Surface Width 44- to 54-ft Evaluation:

$$E(SWIC) = [exp(-4.4688 - 0.1338 \text{ RT Shou} + 1.0009 \text{ LogLen} + 0.6895 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(26)

TOTAL CRASHES AND KAB CRASHES

Previous research had indicated that selected crashes should be examined when evaluating treatments associated with the width of the pavement. Reallocating the surface width between adding a lane or retaining a wide shoulder should be associated with those crashes affected by the surface width. The previous evaluation was done with surface width influenced crashes, or SWICs, as called within this report. To verify that the results will not be different, a similar comparison was done using total crashes and KAB crashes (as described in Chapter 5).

 Table 7-8 shows the SAS output for the preferred models for the total crash regression analysis.

 Both models fit the data well, as both deviance and Pearson chi-square divided by degrees of freedom are close to 1.

COMPARISON

To investigate when a four-lane highway with minimal shoulders is preferred over a two-lane highway with wide shoulders, researchers compared the equations generated using the Model 1B form and negative binomial regression. A variety of reasonable lane widths and shoulder width values along with assumptions of segment length and ADT can be used within the equations to predict number of crashes. Figure 7-2 shows such a prediction using a 10 mile segment and a 6000 ADT for SWICs. The plot uses predicted number of SWICs per million vehicle miles (MVM). Surface widths of 44 to 54 ft were included in the evaluation. Lane widths were 10, 11, or 12 ft for two-lane highways and 11 or 12 ft for four-lane highways (mimicking the lane widths present in the dataset). The shoulder widths were calculated from the surface and lane widths (for example, for a 50-ft surface width and 12-ft lanes, the shoulders would be 13 ft for the two-lane highways and 1 ft for the four-lane highways).

Figure 7-2 shows that at lower surface width values, four-lane highways have higher numbers of SWICs/MVM than two-lane highways. At approximately a 53-ft surface width, the number of SWICs is similar for both the four-lane and two-lane cross sections. This figure illustrates that there could be conditions where, on a safety basis, it is logical to convert a two-lane highway with wide shoulders to a four-lane highway with minimal shoulders.

Table 7-8. Model Information for Total Crash Data with Negative Binomial Regression(Two- and Four-Lane Highways).

| TWO-LANE HI GHWAY | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | |
| Model Information Dataset LIB4618.NEW44T054FT_GROUP_EXP03 Distribution Negative Binomial Link Function Log Dependent Variable Total_Accident Total Accident Observations Used 371 | | | | | | | | |
| Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit Criterion DF Value Value/DF Deviance 368 408.0642 1.1089 Scaled Deviance 368 408.0642 1.2343 Pearson Chi -Square 368 454.2176 1.2343 Scaled Pearson X2 368 454.2176 1.2343 Log Likelihood 514.5326 Algorithm converged. | | | | | | | | |
| Anal ysis Of Parameter Estimates Standard Wald 95% ConfidenceChi -ParameterDFEstimateErrorLimitsSquarePr > Chi SqIntercept1-6.78060.5716-7.9009-5.6602140.70<.0001 | | | | | | | | |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | | |
| FOUR-LANE HI GHWAY | | | | | | | | |
| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | |
| Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| DatasetLI B4618. NEW44T054FT_GROUP_EXP03Di stri buti onNegati ve Bi nomi alLi nk Functi onLogDependent Vari abl eTotal _Acci dentObservati ons Used154 | | | | | | | | |
| Criteria For Assessing Goodness Of Fit Criterion DF Value Value/DF Deviance 149 178.2341 1.1962 Scaled Deviance 149 178.2341 1.1962 Pearson Chi-Square 149 198.5757 1.3327 Scaled Pearson X2 149 198.5757 1.3327 Log Likelihood 3334.7202 Al gorithm converged. | | | | | | | | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | | | | | | | | |



Figure 7-2. Comparison of SWIC Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (10 mile Segment and ADT of 6000).

Conversions of two-lane with wide shoulder highways to a four-lane with minimal shoulder highway could occur on varying lengths of highway. Lengths of 5, 10, and 20 miles were checked as representative lengths for a project where a cross section could be changed after a resurfacing project. Figure 7-3 illustrates the predicted number of SWICs per million vehicle miles determined using an assumed 10-mile segment with ADTs ranging from 2000 to 12,000 in increments of 2000. At an ADT of 4000, a 54-ft surface width has similar predicted number of crashes for both two-lane and four-lane highways. At very high ADTs (10,000 and greater), similar SWIC values were predicted for both the four-lane and two-lane highway conditions for a 50-ft surface width. Reviewing the original data, for the 50-ft surface width, the four-lane highways had either 12-ft lanes with 1-ft shoulders or 11-ft lanes with 3-ft shoulders. The two-lane highways had 12- and 11-ft lanes with 10- to 12-ft shoulders. The balance of the surface width was allocated to a wider median (e.g., two 12-ft lanes with two 10-ft shoulders and a 6-ft median).



Figure 7-3. Examples of Predicted Number of Annual SWICs by Surface Width for Different ADT Levels.

For this evaluation a 10-mile segment length was assumed. If a project will have a different length, then the equations can be used to determine the surface width when the number of crashes on the two-lane cross section will be similar to the four-lane cross section. A review of other assumed lengths was conducted, and generally similar results were found (difference was on the order of only a 1-ft change in the surface width where the predicted crashes on the two-lane highway was similar to the predicted crashes on the four-lane highway).

Similar comparisons were performed using total crashes, SWIC KABs, and total crashes KAB with slightly different results. Figure 7-4 shows an example of the findings when total crashes rather than SWICs are used. The total crash predictions for four-lane highways are slightly higher than the predictions for SWICs. With the higher four-lane highway predictions, the plots cross at a wider surface width. For the scenario shown in Figure 7-4, a conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulders to a four-lane with minimal shoulders could possibly be considered at 54 ft (which is the limit of the data). When total crashes are compared between the four-lane and two-lane highway segments, only one ADT and surface width combination results in a situation where a four-lane cross section could be considered. Only when ADT is very high, on the order of 10,000 or more, did the four-lane cross section have similar number of total crashes.

When the SWIC KABs (see Figure 7-5) are used rather than total crashes or SWICs, an even stronger message is present. In all combinations of lane and shoulder widths, the four-lane highway predictions are higher than the two-lane highway predictions. The sensitivity to wider shoulder widths on a four-lane highway can be seen in Figure 7-5. The two data points for four-lane highway for a specific surface width represent either an 11-ft lane or a 12-ft lane with the remaining surface width as the shoulder. The higher predicted crash rate generally represents only 1 ft of shoulder width, while the other data point generally represents 3 ft of shoulder width.



Figure 7-4. Comparison of Total Crash Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (10-mile Segment and ADT of 6000).



Figure 7-5. Comparison of SWIC KAB Predictions for Two-Lane and Four-Lane Highways (10-mile Segment and ADT of 6,000).

The surface width dimension when the predicted number of crashes for a four-lane highway essentially equals the predicted number of crashes for a two-lane highway was determined for each type of crash used in the evaluation: SWICs, total crashes, total crashes KAB, and SWIC KABs. Figure 7-6 shows a plot of the findings. Surface widths to the left of a curve indicate that the two-lane cross section had fewer crashes, while surface widths to the right of the curve indicate that the four-lane cross section had fewer crashes. The conclusions vary depending upon which type of crash is used in the evaluation (in other words, which of the curves in Figure 7-6 is used). Using a more conservative result (for example, the total crash curve), the recommendation would be that converting from a two-lane with wide shoulders to a four-lane with minimal shoulders only be considered at ADTs over 10,000 and a minimum 53-ft surface width (see curve with diamonds in Figure 7-6).



Figure 7-6. Comparison of Results Using Different Crash Types.

CHAPTER 8

CRASH PREDICTION FOR RURAL INTERSECTIONS

OVERVIEW

The objective of this study was to find the relationship between crashes at rural intersections and geometric variables available within TxDOT databases or from the field.

CRASHES AND DATA

Similar to the studies conducted for two-lane highways (see Chapter 5) and four-lane highways (see Chapter 6), on-system crashes for the years 1999 to 2001 were used in the analysis. Intersections were identified during the data reduction efforts on the roadway segments. A total of 3739 intersections were identified, with 3109 being on two-lane highways and 630 on four-lane highways. Previous research has clearly demonstrated that ADT – both for the major road and for the cross road – is one of the strongest (if not the strongest) predictor of crashes at intersections. Cross-road ADTs were available through TxDOT maps for 265 of the 3739 intersections.

Intersection characteristic variables available from the field data reduction efforts included:

- number of lanes,
- lane width,
- shoulder width,
- median width,
- median class,
- functional class,
- number of legs,
- intersection skew,
- intersection control (e.g., signal, stop-control on minor),
- presence of left-turn lane,

- major road ADT, and/or
- cross-road ADT.

The distribution for key variable is provided in Table 8-1 for the 3109 intersections located on two-lane highways, in Table 8-2 for the 630 intersections located on four-lane highways, and in Table 8-3 for the 265 intersections with cross-road ADT. Frequency data are plotted for total crashes and fatal/injury crashes for the different types of intersections used in the evaluation: Figure 8-1 for the 3109 intersections located on two-lane highways, in Figure 8-2 for the 630 intersections located on four-lane highways, and in Figure 8-3 for the 265 intersections with cross-road ADT. Because almost all of the intersections were stop-controlled on the cross road, the intersection control variable was eliminated from the evaluation.

| Description | 1 w | Description | % |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Functional Class | | Number of Lanes | 1 |
| 2 – Principal Arterial | 7 | Two lanes | 100 |
| 6 – Minor Arterial | 16 | Four lanes | 0 |
| 7 – Major Collector | 55 | | |
| 8 – Minor Collector | 22 | | |
| 9 – Local Road | 0.1 | | |
| Intersection Skew | | Number of Legs | |
| M – approximately 90° | 18 | Three approaches to intersection | 83 |
| $R - not quite 90^{\circ}$ | 73 | Four approaches to intersection | |
| S – obvious skew | 9 | | 17 |
| Median Class | | Right Lane Width (ft) | |
| Depressed, ≥ 16 ft | 0.1 | 9 | 2 |
| Flush, >2 ft and <12 ft | 1 | 10 | 24 |
| Flush, ≥12 ft | 0.3 | 11 | 36 |
| None, <2 ft | 99 | 12 | 37 |
| Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, ≥ 12 ft | 0.4 | >13 | 1 |
| Median Width (ft) | | Right Shoulder Width (ft |) |
| NULL- Could not be determined | 0.3 | 0 | 41 |
| | | 1 | 18 |
| 0 | 99 | l | 10 |
| 0 4 | 99 0.1 | 1 2 | 7 |
| 4 5 | | 3 | 7 |
| 4 | 0.1 | 3 4 | |
| 4 5 | 0.1 0.1 | 3 4 5 | 7 3 3 1 |
| 4 5 6 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 | 3 4 | 7 3 3 1 3 |
| 4 5 6 10 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 | 3 4 5 6 7 | 7 3 3 1 3 3 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 | 7 3 3 1 3 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 | 7 3 3 1 3 3 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 | 7 3 3 1 3 3 8 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 | 7 3 1 3 3 8 1 10 1 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 16 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 | 7 3 1 3 3 8 1 10 1 2 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 16 Presence of Left-Turn Lane | 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Presence of Right-Turn La | 7 3 1 3 3 8 1 10 1 2 |
| 4 5 6 10 12 15 16 | 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 | 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 | 7 3 1 3 3 8 1 10 1 2 |

 Table 8-1. Distribution of Variables for Intersections on Two-Lane Highways (3109 Intersections).

| Intersections). | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|------------------|--|--|
| Description | % | Description | % | | |
| Functional Class | I | Number of Lanes | | | |
| Principal Arterial | 75 | Two lanes | 0 | | |
| Minor Arterial | 20 | Four lanes | 100 | | |
| Major Collector | 6 | | | | |
| Intersection Skew | | Number of Legs | | | |
| approximately 90° | 11 | Two approaches to | 2 | | |
| not quite 90° | 87 | intersection | | | |
| Obvious skew | 3 | Three approaches to | 77 | | |
| | | intersection | | | |
| | | Four approaches to | 22 | | |
| | | intersection | | | |
| Median Class | | Right Lane Width (ft) | | | |
| Depressed, <16 ft | 4 | 10 | 0.2 | | |
| Depressed, ≥ 16 ft | 55 | 11 | 19 | | |
| Flush, >2 ft and <12 ft | 2 | 12 | 80 | | |
| Flush, ≥ 12 ft | 1 | 13 | 1 | | |
| None, <2 ft | 20 | | | | |
| Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, >2 ft and <12 ft | 1 | | | | |
| Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, ≥ 12 ft | 17 | | | | |
| Median Width (ft) | | Right Shoulder Width (f | ťt) | | |
| NULL- Could not be determined | 53 | 0 | 5 | | |
| 0 | 20 | 1 | | | |
| 4 | 1 | 2 | 2 | | |
| 6 | 0.3 | 3 | 3 2 2 2 | | |
| 8 | 0.3 | 4 | 2 | | |
| 10 | 1 | 5 | 1 | | |
| 12 | 10 | 6 | 3 | | |
| 13 | 0.3 | 7 | 1 | | |
| 14 | 4 | 8 | 12 | | |
| 16 | 3 | 9 | 1 | | |
| 18 | 1 | 10 | 43 | | |
| 20 | 2 | 11 | 8 | | |
| 24 | 5 | 12 | 16 | | |
| | | 13 | 0.2 | | |
| | | 14 | 0.3 | | |
| Presence of Left-Turn Lane | 1 | Presence of Right-Turn L | | | |
| Yes | 43 | Yes | 7 | | |
| No | 57 | No | 93 | | |
| 1.0 | <i>. . .</i> | 110 | | | |

Table 8-2. Distribution of Variables for Intersections on Four-Lane Highways (630 Intersections).

| Description | % | Description | % |
|------------------------------------------|-----|--------------------------|-----|
| Functional Class | , , | Number of Lanes | , . |
| 2 – Principal Arterial | 27 | Two lanes | 80 |
| 6 – Minor Arterial | 24 | Four lanes | 20 |
| 7 – Major Collector | 42 | | |
| 8 – Minor Collector | 8 | | |
| Intersection Skew | | Number of Legs | |
| M – approximately 90° | 18 | Three approaches to | 66 |
| $R - not quite 90^{\circ}$ | 74 | intersection | |
| S – Obvious skew | 8 | Four approaches to | 34 |
| | | intersection | |
| Median Class | | Right Lane Width (ft) |) |
| Depressed, >16 ft | 1 | 10 | 10 |
| Depressed, ≥ 16 ft | 11 | 11 | 28 |
| Flush, >2 ft and <12 ft | 2 | 12 | 60 |
| $Flush, \ge 12 ft$ | 2 | 13 | 1 |
| None, <2 ft | 78 | 14 | 1 |
| Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, >2 ft and <12 ft | 0.4 | 15 | 0.4 |
| Two-Way Left-Turn Lane, ≥ 12 ft | 6 | | |
| Median Width (ft) | | Right Shoulder Width (| ft) |
| NULL- Could not be determined | 11 | 0 | 24 |
| 0 | 78 | 1 | 9 |
| 6 | 1 | 2 | 5 |
| 10 | 2 | 3 | 3 |
| 12 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| 14 | 1 | 5 | 0.4 |
| 16 | 1 | 6 | 3 |
| 18 | 1 | 7 | 5 |
| 20 | 2 | 8 | 11 |
| 24 | 1 | 9 | 2 |
| | | 10 | 22 |
| | | 11 | 2 |
| | | 12 | 8 |
| Presence of Left-Turn Lane | n | Presence of Right-Turn I | |
| Yes | 17 | Yes | 9 |
| No | 83 | No | 91 |

Table 8-3. Distribution of Variables for Intersections with Known Cross-Road ADT (265 Intersections).



Figure 8-1. Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections on Rural Two-Lane Highways (3109 Intersections).



Figure 8-2. Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections on Rural Four-Lane Highways (630 Intersections).



Figure 8-3. Crash Frequency Data by Number of Intersections for Intersections with Known Cross-Road ADT (265 Intersections).

MODELS

Similar to the roadway segment analysis, a negative binomial regression model is used to determine the effects of independent variables on intersection crashes. See Chapter 5 for additional discussion on negative binomial regression. Several attempts were made to determine the optimal regression equation. Only the final attempts are reported here.

CRASH PREDICTION FOR INTERSECTIONS WITH CROSS-ROAD ADT

A negative binomial regression model having the following variables as independent variables was used for total crashes, total intersection-related crashes, and total fatal/injury crashes:

- right shoulder (RT Shou),
- functional class,
- number of legs (Legs),
- intersection skew (Int_Skew),
- major road approach number of lanes (Major Road Approach),
- cross-road approach number of lanes (Cross Road Approach),
- log of traffic subject ADT (LogADT_Subj), and
- log of traffic cross-road ADT (LogADT_Cross).

The results are presented in Tables 8-4, 8-5, and 8-6. From Table 8-4, it can be seen that for total crashes the effects of major road ADT and cross-road ADT are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The effects of functional class and number of legs are significant at $\alpha = 0.1$ but not at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Table 8-5 shows that for total intersection crashes the effects of functional class, major road ADT, and cross-road ADT are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The effect of number of legs is significant at $\alpha = 0.1$ but not at $\alpha = 0.05$.

From Table 8-6, it can be seen that for total crashes KAB, the effect of cross-road ADT is significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The effect of major road ADT is significant at $\alpha = 0.1$, but not at $\alpha = 0.05$.

| Table 8-4. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available. |

| | The GENMOD Pr | ocedure | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Dataset LIB4 Distribution Link Function Dependent Variable Observations Used | Model Inform 1618.INTERSECTION_D Negative Total_ | ATA_NEW Bi nomi al Log | Acci dent | |
| Legs Int_Ske Maj or_R | onal_Class | ormation Levels Values 4 2678 2 34 3 M R S 4 1 2 3 3 1 2 3 | | |
| Crit Criterion Deviance Scaled Deviance Pearson Chi-Squ Scaled Pearson Log Likelihood | lare 250 | Goodness of Fit Value 209. 4325 209. 4325 248. 1522 248. 1522 -126. 6160 | Val ue/DF 0. 8377 0. 8377 0. 9926 0. 9926 | |
| Algorithm converged. | Analysis Of D | Daramatar Estimat | 05 | |
| Intercept1RT_Shou1Functional_Class2Functional_Class6Functional_Class7Functional_Class8OLegs3Legs4Int_SkewMInt_SkewRInt_Skew8Major_Road_Approach1Major_Road_Approach3Major_Road_Approach3Major_Road_Approach4OCross_Road_Approach1 | Anal ysi s of F Standard Esti mate Error 27. 9131 1. 6503 -0. 0224 0. 0312 1. 2518 0. 6598 1. 3037 0. 5988 0. 3991 0. 5623 0. 0000 0. 0000 -0. 4339 0. 2210 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 0250 0. 5117 0. 2257 0. 4433 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 4189 0. 5397 0. 0818 0. 5372 -0. 0405 0. 5047 0. 0000 0. 0000 20. 3848 0. 2465 20. 1343 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 5099 0. 1783 0. 3707 0. 0981 0. 8445 0. 2604 | $\begin{array}{c} \mbox{Parameter Estimat} \\ \mbox{Wald } 95\% \\ \mbox{Confidence Limi} \\ -31.1476 -24.67 \\ -0.0834 0.07 \\ -0.0414 2.54 \\ 0.1302 2.47 \\ -0.7030 1.57 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ -0.8671 -0.07 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ -0.6432 1.07 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ -0.6432 1.07 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ -0.6438 1.47 \\ -0.9771 1.17 \\ -1.0297 0.94 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ 19.9016 20.86 \\ 20.1343 20.17 \\ 0.0000 0.07 \\ 0.1604 0.85 \\ 0.1784 0.56 \\ 0.4615 1.54 \\ \end{array}$ | Chi - ts Square 785 286.07 787 0.52 451 3.60 773 4.74 012 0.50 000 007 3.85 000 278 0.00 946 0.26 000 767 0.60 347 0.02 488 0.01 000 579 6838.81 343 000 594 8.18 529 14.28 | Pr > Chi Sq <.0001 0.4729 0.0578 0.0295 0.4779 0.0496 0.9610 0.6106 0.4376 0.8790 0.9361 <.0001 |
| NOTE: The negative binomial disp | | 2 | naximum likel | i hood. |
| LR Source RT_Shou Functional_C Legs Int_Skew Major_Road_A Cross_Road_A LogADT_Subj LogADT_Cross | Approach 3 Approach 2 1 | Chi - | > Chi Sq 0. 4716 0. 0519 0. 0539 0. 7213 0. 5336 0. 5066 0. 0040 0. 0002 | |

| Regression for intersections where Cross-Road AD I is Available. | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | The GENMO | D Procedure | | | | | | |
| Dataset Distribution Link Function Dependent Variable Observations Used | LI B4618. I NTERSECTI (Negati | ive Binomial Log | Int Accident | | | | | |
| | Class Level Class Functional_Class Legs Int_Skew Major_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach | Information Levels Values 4 2 6 7 8 2 3 4 3 M R S 4 1 2 3 4 3 1 2 3 | | | | | | |
| | Criteria for Assess on DF 250 Veviance 250 Chi-Square 250 Vearson X2 250 Pearson X2 250 | sing Goodness of Fit | Val ue/DF 0. 7205 0. 7205 1. 1119 1. 1119 | | | | | |
| Parameter Intercept RT_Shou Functional_Class 2 Functional_Class 6 Functional_Class 7 Functional_Class 8 Legs 3 Legs 4 Int_Skew M Int_Skew M Int_Skew M Int_Skew M Int_Skew M Jor_Road_Approach 1 Major_Road_Approach 3 Major_Road_Approach 3 Major_Road_Approach 1 Cross_Road_Approach 1 Cross_Road_Approach 3 LogADT_Subj LogADT_Subj LogADT_Cross Dispersion NOTE: The negative binomi | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | ard Wald 95% ror Confidence Limit 615 -32.7428 -25.054 363 -0.0874 0.054 481 -0.3220 2.610 779 0.0773 2.734 451 -1.0315 1.497 000 0.0000 0.000 564 -0.9683 0.036 000 0.0000 0.000 934 -1.2189 1.107 053 -0.5396 1.948 299 -0.9901 1.478 948 -1.2333 1.096 000 0.0000 0.000 397 20.471 000 000 19.5904 19.590 000 0.0000 0.000 133 0.1803 1.016 188 0.1829 0.648 615 0.5660 2.085 | $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | | | | | |
| Legs Int_S Major Cross LogAD | e iou i onal _Cl ass | r Type 3 Anal ysi s Chi - DF Square Pr > 1 0.20 3 8.99 1 3.17 2 1.22 3 4.12 2 1.35 1 8.02 1 12.01 | Chi Sq 0. 6536 0. 0295 0. 0749 0. 5444 0. 2489 0. 5085 0. 0046 0. 0005 | | | | | |

Table 8-5. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available.

| | intersections where cross-Road ADT is Available. | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | | |
| Model Information | | | | | | | | |
| Dataset Distribution Link Function | LI B4618. I NTERSECTI ON_DATA_NEW Negati ve Bi nomi al Log | | | | | | | |
| Dependent Variabl Observations Used | 265 | | | | | | | |
| | Class Level InformationClassLevel sValuesFunctional_Class4267Legs234Int_Skew3M R SMajor_Road_Approach41234Cross_Road_Approach3123 | | | | | | | |
| Pearson | e250160. 42780. 6417Devi ance250160. 42780. 6417Chi - Square250243. 95220. 9758Dearson X2250243. 95220. 9758 | | | | | | | |
| Algorithm conve | rged. | | | | | | | |
| Parameter Intercept RT_Shou Functional_Class Functional_Class Functional_Class Functional_Class Legs Legs Int_Skew Int_Skew Int_Skew Major_Road_Approach Major_Road_Approach Major_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Cross_Road_Approach Dispersion | Anal ysi s of Parameter Estimates StandardWald 95% Wald 95%Chi - Chi - DF EstimateDF EstimateErrorConfidence LimitsSquare $Pr > Chi S$ 1-27.60992.1823-31.8871-23.3327160.07<.000 | 1 8 9 5 5 9 1 1 0 1 4 1 1 1 9 | | | | | | |
| Leg Int Majo Croo Log/ | nou 1 1.14 0.2866 :i onal _CLass 3 4.55 0.2080 1 1.09 0.2971 | | | | | | | |

Table 8-6. Model Information for Total Crashes KAB with Negative Binomial Regression for Intersections Where Cross-Road ADT is Available.

CRASH PREDICTION FOR ALL INTERSECTIONS

Previous research has clearly demonstrated the importance of cross-road ADT in predicting crashes at intersections. Many intersections could be identified from the video due to the data needs for the roadway segment evaluations (see Chapters 5 and 6). Unfortunately, the cross-road ADT values could not be as easily determined for these intersections. The previous section presents the findings from the statistical modeling efforts for the 265 intersections where cross-road ADT was available. This section will present the findings from all intersections available within the database, recognizing that the evaluations will not be as strong due to the missing information.

A negative binomial regression model having the following variables as independent variables was used for total crashes and total intersection-related crashes:

- right shoulder (RT Shou),
- functional class,
- number of legs (Legs),
- intersection skew (Int_Skew),
- presence of left-turn lane on major road (Major_Lf), and
- log of major road traffic ADT (LogADT_Subj).

The results are presented in Tables 8-7, 8-8, 8-9, and 8-10. From Table 8-7, it can be seen that for total crashes at intersections on two-lane highways, the effects of major road ADT, presence of left-turn lane on the major road, the number of legs, and the right shoulder width are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The effect of intersection skew is significant at $\alpha = 0.15$ but not at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Table 8-8 shows that for total intersection-related crashes at intersections on two-lane highways, the effects of major road ADT, presence of left-turn lane on the major road, and the number of legs are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The effect of right shoulder width is significant at $\alpha = 0.1$ but not at $\alpha = 0.05$.

| Table 8-7. Mod | | | ions on Two | o-Lane Hi | - | Ioiiiiai Ke | egression for |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| Dataset Distribution Link Function | | LI B4618. I NTE | The GENMOD I Model Inform RSECTION_DAT Negativ | ation | | | |
| Dependent Var Observations | | | Tota | I _Acci dent 3109 | Total Ac | ci dent | |
| | | CI a CI ass | iss Level Inf Le | | lues | | |
| | | Functional_C | lass | 5 2 | 6789 | | |
| | | Legs Int_Skew Major_Lf | | 2 3 3 M 2 0 | RS | | |
| D S P S | earson caled F | on | for Assessing DF 3098 3098 3098 3098 3098 | Goodness Val u 1487. 411 1487. 411 3281. 857 3281. 857 -1339. 072 | e Val 3 0 3 0 6 1 6 1 | ue/DF . 4801 . 4801 . 0593 . 0593 | |
| Algorithm | conver | 0 | | | | | |
| | | Anal ysi | s of Paramet | | | <u>Chi</u> | |
| Parameter | [| DF Estimate | Standard Error | | Confidence mits | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| Intercept RT_Shou Functi onal _Cl ass Functi onal _Cl ass Functi onal _Cl ass Functi onal _Cl ass Functi onal _Cl ass Legs Legs Int_Skew Int_Skew | 2 6 7 8 9 3 4 M R | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 0. 5862 0. 0164 0. 2395 0. 1825 0. 1419 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 1227 0. 0000 0. 1986 0. 1740 | -28. 3396 -0. 1044 18. 5751 18. 7872 19. 1634 0. 0000 -0. 5764 0. 0000 -0. 5157 -0. 6346 | -26. 0416 -0. 0401 19. 5140 19. 5024 19. 4275 19. 1634 0. 0000 -0. 0953 0. 0000 0. 2629 0. 0475 | 2151. 23 19. 42 6321. 29 11010. 2 18207. 5 7. 49 0. 40 2. 85 | <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 <. 0001 |
| | | | The SAS Sy | stem | 16:59 Monda | y, August | 22, 2005 129 |
| Parameter Int_Skew Major_Lf Major_Lf LogADT_Subj Dispersion | 5 0 1 | | The GENMOD Pr s of Paramet Standard Error 0.0000 0.3199 0.0000 0.0632 0.2102 | ocedure er Estimat Wald 95% | · | Chi - Square 3. 79 317. 94 | Pr > Chi Sq 0. 0516 <. 0001 |
| NOTE: The negative | bi nomi | al dispersior | n parameter w | as estimat | ed by maximu | m likeliho | ood. |
| | | LR Stati | stics for Ty | | si s | | |
| | Fund Legs Int_ Majo | Shou ctional_Class | DF 1 4 1 2 1 1 | Chi - Square 19. 84 0. 79 7. 36 4. 00 3. 95 356. 14 | Pr > Chi Sq <. 0001 0. 9399 0. 0067 0. 1355 0. 0468 <. 0001 | | |

Table 8-7. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for

| The GENMOD Procedure | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Model Information | | | | | | | |
| Dataset Distribution Link Function Dependent Vari Observations L | | LI B4618. I NTER | Negāti v | A_BIG_2LN e Binomial Log t_Accident 3109 | Total Ir | nt Acciden [.] | t |
| | | Class Class Functional_Cl Legs Int_Skew Major_Lf | | ormation vels Val | 2 S | | |
| De Sc Pe Sc | ri teri o evi ance cal ed D earson cal ed P cal ed P og Li ke | n eviance Chi-Square earson X2 | or Assessing DF 3098 3098 3098 3098 3098 | Value | e Val C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C | ue/DF). 2682). 2682 . 1012 . 1012 | |
| Algorithm | conver | ged. | | | | | |
| | | Anal ysi s | s of Paramet Standard | | | Chi - | |
| Parameter | D | F Estimate | Error | | ni ts | Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| Intercept RT_Shou Functional_Class Functional_Class Functional_Class Functional_Class Functional_Class Legs | 2 6 | $\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$ | 0. 8984 0. 0239 0. 3536 0. 2714 0. 2192 0. 0000 0. 0000 0. 1789 | -29. 4551 -0. 0903 16. 9488 17. 4829 17. 5302 18. 0244 0. 0000 -0. 9781 | -25.9334 0.0035 18.3349 18.5469 18.3896 18.0244 0.0000 -0.2769 | 950. 23 3. 29 2489. 22 4405. 37 6711. 41 12. 31 | 0.0697 |
| Legs Int_Skew Int_Skew | 4 M | 0 0.0000 1 -0.0240 1 0.1179 | 0. 0000 0. 3221 0. 2790 | 0.0000 -0.6554 -0.4289 | 0. 0000 0. 6073 0. 6647 | 0. 01 0. 18 | 0. 9406 0. 6727 |
| | | Anal ys | sis of Param | | | | |
| Parameter | D | F Estimate | Standard Error | Lim | ni ts | Chi - Square | Pr > Chi Sq |
| Int_Skew Major_Lf | S 0 1 | 0 0.0000 1 -0.9784 | 0.0000 | 0.0000 | 0.0000 | 5.00 | 0.0253 |
| Maj or_Lf LogADT_Subj Di spersi on | | 0 0.0000 1 1.2716 1 4.1230 | Error 0. 0000 0. 4375 0. 0000 0. 0977 0. 5830 | -1. 8360 0. 0000 1. 0801 3. 1250 | 0. 0000 1. 4630 5. 4396 | 169. 47 | <. 0001 |
| NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. | | | | | | | |
| LR Statistics for Type 3 Analysis Chi- | | | | | | | |
| | Legs Int_ Maj o | hou ti onal _CI ass | DF 1 4 1 2 1 1 | Square 3. 32 2. 19 12. 11 0. 62 5. 57 199. 15 | Pr > Chi So 0. 0684 0. 7000 0. 0005 0. 7325 0. 0182 <. 0001 | | |

Table 8-8. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for Intersections on Two-Lane Highways.

From Table 8-9, it can be seen that for total crashes for intersections on a four-lane highway, the effect of major road ADT, number of legs, and functional class are significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. The results are slightly different when only total intersection-related crashes are considered (see

Table 8-10). At $\alpha = 0.05$ only number of legs and major road ADT are significant. When $\alpha = 0.1$ is used, then right shoulder width, functional classification, and presence of left-turn lane become significant.

| Table 8-9. Model Information for Total Crashes with Negative Binomial Regression for |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Intersections on Four-Lane Highways. |

| Model Information | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Model Information Dataset LIB4618. INTERSECTION_DATA_BIG_4LN | | | | | | | | |
| Distribution Link Function | | | Negāti ve Bi nomi al Log | | | | | |
| Dependent Var Observations | i abl e | | Tota | Il _Acci dent 630 | Total Acc | ci dent | | |
| | | Cl ass Cl ass Functi onal Legs Int_Skew Maj or_Lf | | Levels Va 3 2 2 3 | al ues 67 4 RS 1 | | | |
| D S P S | earson | n eviance Chi-Square earson X2 | for Assessing DF 621 621 621 621 621 | Goodness of Value 509. 3729 509. 3729 762. 7149 762. 7149 -382. 1373 | Val u 0. 0. 1. | ue/DF 8202 8202 2282 2282 2282 | | |
| Algorithm | conver | ged. | | | | | | |
| | | Anal ysi | s of Paramet | er Estimates | 5 | | | |
| Parameter | D | 5 | Standard | Wald 95% Co | onfi dence | Chi - Square | Pr > ChiSa | |
| Parameter Intercept RT_Shou Functi onal _Class Functi onal _Class Functi onal _Class Legs Legs Int_Skew Int_Skew Int_Skew Maj or_Lf | 2 6 7 3 4 M R S | F Estimate 1 -7.5044 1 -0.0188 1 -1.1855 1 -0.8498 0 0.0000 1 -0.6130 0 0.0000 1 -0.757 1 0.2485 0 0.0000 1 -0.0990 | Error 1. 1695 0. 0246 0. 4140 0. 4203 0. 0000 0. 1654 0. 0000 0. 4911 0. 4369 0. 0000 0. 1568 | Li mi -9. 7967 -0. 0669 -1. 9971 -1. 6737 0. 0000 -0. 9371 0. 0000 -1. 0383 -0. 6078 0. 0000 -0. 4063 | ts -5. 2122 0. 0294 -0. 3740 -0. 0260 0. 0000 -0. 2889 0. 0000 0. 8870 1. 1048 0. 0000 0. 2082 | Square 41. 17 0. 58 8. 20 4. 09 13. 74 0. 02 0. 32 0. 40 | Pr > Chi Sq <.0001 0.4450 0.0042 0.0432 0.0002 0.8775 0.5695 0.5276 | |
| | | | The SAS Sy | vstem 1 | 16:59 Monday | , August | 22, 2005 133 | |
| | | т | he GENMOD Pr | ocedure | | | | |
| | | Anal ysi | s of Paramet | er Estimates | 6 | | | |
| Parameter Maj or_Lf LogADT_Subj Di spersi on | 1 | F Estimate 0 0.0000 1 0.9655 1 1.4568 | Standard Error 0. 0000 0. 1223 0. 2172 | Wald 95% Cc Limi O.0000 O.7258 1.0875 | | Chi - Square 62.34 | Pr > Chi Sq <.0001 | |
| NOTE: The negative | bi nomi | al dispersion | parameter w | as estimated | d by maximum | n likeliho | ood. | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| LR Statistics for Type 3 Analysis Chi- De Olio | | | | | | | | |
| | Legs Int_ Majc | hou ti onal _CI ass | DF 1 2 1 2 1 1 | Square 0.58 9.64 13.78 1.88 0.40 67.57 | Pr > Chi Sq 0. 4458 0. 0081 0. 0002 0. 3915 0. 5280 <. 0001 | | | |
| Table 8-10. Model Information for Total Intersection Crashes with Negative Binomial |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Regression for Intersections on Four-Lane Highways. |

| $\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | Regression for metersections on Four-Lane righways. |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Dataset LiB4618. INTERSECTION_DATA_BIG_4LN Negative Binomial Link Function Observations Used Class Level Information Class Level Information Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit Criteria for Assessing for Assessing Goodness of Fit Criteria for Assessing Goodness of Fit Criteria for Assessing for Asses | The GENMOD Procedure |
| bistribution Negative Binomial Link Function Carlot Binomial Binom | |
| $\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $ | Distribution Negative Binomial Link Function Log |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | |
| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | CL ass Levels Values Functional_CL ass 3 2 6 7 Legs 2 3 4 Int_Skew 3 M R S |
| $\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | Criterion DF Value Value/DF Deviance 621 293.1068 0.4720 Scaled Deviance 621 293.1068 0.4720 Pearson Chi-Square 621 585.8679 0.9434 Scaled Pearson X2 621 585.8679 0.9434 |
| $\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $ | Algorithm converged. |
| $\begin{tabular}{l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l $ | Analysis of Parameter Estimates |
| $\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$ | $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ |
| LR Statistics for Type 3 Analysis Chi - Source DF Square Pr > Chi Sq RT_Shou 1 2.82 0.0929 Functional_Class 2 5.35 0.0688 Legs 1 11.60 0.0007 Int_Skew 2 0.92 0.6313 Maj or_Lf 1 3.27 0.0705 | Anal ysis of Parameter Estimates Standard Wald 95% Confidence Chi - Parameter DF Estimate Error Limits Square Pr > Chi Sq Maj or_Lf 1 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 . . . LogADT_Subj 1 1.3644 0.2179 0.9374 1.7914 39.22 <.0001 |
| Chi - Chi - Source DF Square Pr > Chi Sq RT_Shou 1 2.82 0.0929 Functi onal_Class 2 5.35 0.0688 Legs 1 11.60 0.0007 Int_Skew 2 0.92 0.6313 Maj or_Lf 1 3.27 0.0705 | NOTE: The negative binomial dispersion parameter was estimated by maximum likelihood. |
| Chi - Chi - Source DF Square Pr > Chi Sq RT_Shou 1 2.82 0.0929 Functi onal_Class 2 5.35 0.0688 Legs 1 11.60 0.0007 Int_Skew 2 0.92 0.6313 Maj or_Lf 1 3.27 0.0705 | LR Statistics for Type 3 Analysis |
| | Chi - Source DF Square Pr > Chi Sq RT_Shou 1 2.82 0.0929 Functi onal_Class 2 5.35 0.0688 Legs 1 11.60 0.0007 Int_Skew 2 0.92 0.6313 Maj or_Lf 1 3.27 0.0705 |

CHAPTER 9

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The selection of the cross section for a roadway is a critical decision in the design process. This decision substantially impacts safety, capacity, and cost. Although capacity and cost considerations are generally readily evaluated, the impact of cross section on safety is not always apparent. Previously, safety information was not available on a level similar to capacity and cost. Recent efforts, both on a national level as part of the development of the *Draft Prototype Chapter* and within the state of Texas as part of Research Project 0-4703, however, are developing guidance materials that can evaluate potential safety effects of different design alternatives.

SUMMARY OF RESEARCH

To compare the safety relationships for cross-sectional elements on rural two- and four-lane roadways, a dataset containing a range of lane widths and shoulder widths is needed. Figure 9-1 illustrates examples of the types of roadway segments included in the dataset. The dataset of rural highway roadway segments developed for this project included the following:

- two- and four-lane segments,
- range of shoulder widths (between 0 and >12 ft),
- range of lane widths (between 9 and >12 ft), and
- a sample of median types and widths.

The dataset for intersections included the above information and a number of other variables such as skew of the intersection, number of legs, and presence of turn lanes.

The overall data collection procedure was to identify roadway segments of interest, to videotape those roadways while driving at or near highway speed, and then to pull geometric information such as lane width and shoulder width from the video tapes in the office. The videotapes were also used to identify intersections of interest for the intersection analysis. Supplementing the data from the video was (a) information from straight-line diagrams provided by the districts and (b) data, such as average daily traffic values, from the Texas Reference Marker databases.





TTI researchers developed a video collection system that was used for the field data collection. This video system recorded lane/shoulder/median conditions along with distance traveled while driving. The video camera was mounted to the windshield of the vehicle for each trip. The video recording included distance traveled from a selected starting point (generally a reference marker or an intersection) as determined from a distance measuring instrument that was installed in the vehicle. These distances were related to the department's control section/mile point system so that crash data could be matched to the geometric conditions present within a segment or at an intersection.

Two primary datasets were generated for use in the evaluations – roadway segments and intersections. Subsets of these datasets were used depending upon the evaluation, for example, only roadway segments with 44- to 54-ft surface widths were used in the comparison of converting a two-lane with wide shoulder to a four-lane with narrow shoulder cross section.

Following is a summary of the findings from the research.

Impacts of Lane Width and Shoulder Width on Crashes on Rural Two-Lane Highways

The objective of this portion of the study was to find the relationship between crashes on rural two-lane highways with lane and shoulder widths. A subset of Texas on-system crashes called SWICs, for surface width influence crashes, for the years 1999 to 2001 was analyzed. While SWICs were the crash type primarily used in the evaluations, other crash types (e.g., total crashes and KAB crashes) were also considered.

The following model was selected for predicting SWICs on a rural two-lane highway:

$$E(SWIC) = [exp(-5.0189 - 0.1126 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0509 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9091 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9085 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(27)

The following model was selected for predicting total crashes on a rural two-lane highway:

$$E(\text{Total Crashes}) = [\exp(-5.0981 - 0.1372 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0601 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.8514 \text{ LogLen} + 1.0045 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(28)

The impact of changes in lane width and shoulder width on crashes can be seen in the ratios of number of crashes for a given width to the number of crashes on a roadway with a selected width. For example, the ratio of crashes on a roadway with no shoulders compared to a roadway with an 8-ft shoulder is 1.51. In other words, the no-shoulder segment is predicted to have 51 percent more crashes. This example assumes that all other conditions for the two roadways are similar, such as lane width and roadside conditions. The ratios for shoulders and lane widths were determined and are listed in Table 9-1.

| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
|---------------------|---------------------|
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.51 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.89 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.27 |
| 3 | 1.35 |
| 2 | 1.43 |
| 1 | 1.52 |
| 0 | 1.62 |

 Table 9-1. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane

 Highways Based on Total Crashes.

Impacts of Lane Width and Shoulder Width on Crashes on Rural Four-Lane Highways

The relationship between crashes on rural four-lane highways with lane, shoulder, and median widths was also examined as part of this study. Again SWICs along with other crash types for the years 1999 to 2001 were analyzed. The regression evaluations using total crashes found median class to not meet the significance at the 5 percent alpha level requirement. Other research has found median width or type of median to be significant; however, the data available within this project (which included a large portion of segments with no median due to other objectives of the project) did not find a relationship between crashes and median class or width. When the evaluation was performed using SWICs, one of the median classes was found significant (undrivable narrow medians); however, the other classes were not within the 5 percent alpha level.

The following model was selected for predicting SWIC on a rural four-lane highway:

$$E(SWIC) = [exp(-6.8122 - 0.0427 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.9354 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9441 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(29)

The following model was selected for predicting total crashes on a rural four-lane highway:

$$E(\text{Total Crashes}) = [\exp(-5.1437 - 0.1392 \text{ RT Lane} - 0.0618 \text{ RT Shou} + 0.7956 \text{ LogLen} + 0.9990 \text{ LogADT})]/3$$
(30)

Similar to the two-lane highway analysis, the impact of changes in lane width and shoulder width on crashes can be seen in the ratios of number of crashes. The ratios for shoulders and lane widths were determined based on the predictions of total crashes and are listed in Table 9-2.

| Daseu oli i i euleue | ons of Total Crashes. |
|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.52 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.88 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.28 |
| 3 | 1.36 |
| 2 | 1.45 |
| 1 | 1.54 |
| 0 | 1.64 |

 Table 9-2. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways

 Based on Predictions of Total Crashes.

Conversion from a Two-Lane to a Four-Lane Highway

Previous research has clearly shown that a full-scale upgrade from a rural two-lane highway to a divided four-lane facility can result in notable crash reduction. Predicted crash reductions for conversion from a typical two-lane roadway to a four-lane divided section ranged from 40 to 60 percent. The reduction due to conversion from a two-lane roadway to a four-lane undivided configuration is much less well defined, ranging from no effect to perhaps a 20 percent reduction. Note that these conversions always involved shoulders of at least 8 ft in width; therefore, similar reductions in crashes should not be expected when converting a two-lane highway with wide shoulders to a four-lane highway with minimal shoulders.

A low-cost method to increase capacity on rural highways is to stripe a formerly two-lane with wide shoulder highway into a four-lane with minimal shoulders. These decisions have generally been made based on capacity criteria. Information on the safety trade-offs was sought. Previous research has indicated that at certain ADT levels, the four-lane highway may operate with fewer crashes than the two-lane cross section. The researchers reached this conclusion through the use of extrapolated data, and they did not qualify their findings by the amount of surface width available. Therefore, additional investigation into this question was needed. Previous research also examined the change in number of crashes from a 2-year before period to a 2-year after period at locations where the change was made from a two-lane cross section to a four-lane cross section. The before-and-after study did find a reduction in crashes; therefore, there could be locations where it is logical to consider a change in the number of lanes within the available surface width.

This analysis used crash data from 1999 to 2001 to examine the safety performance on highways with a surface width of 44 to 54 ft with either two lanes and wide shoulders or four lanes with minimal shoulders. Crashes associated with the surface width rather than intersections should be affected by the change in number of lanes or availability of wider shoulder widths. SWICs were identified from the TxDOT database as being nonintersection crashes where the vehicle movement/manner was two motor vehicles going same direction, two motor vehicles going opposite directions, or single vehicles. A negative binomial regression model determined the effects of the independent variables (lane width, shoulder width, ADT, and segment length) on SWICs. Prediction equations were developed. These equations identified if there are conditions when it would be logical, on a safety basis, to convert a two-lane with wide shoulders to a four-lane with minimal shoulders.

Additional analyses were also conducted to determine if the results would change if total crashes were examined (i.e., include intersection crashes) or if only the more severe crashes were examined (i.e., to account for differences in reporting practices for PDO crashes). A graph was developed to show the surface width (in 1-ft increments) where the predicted number of crashes on a two-lane highway essentially equals the predicted number of crashes on a four-lane highway. In summary, conversion would be considered only at very high ADTs (e.g., 10,000 and

138

greater) and wide surface widths (53 ft and more) based on safety. A scenario where the conversion may be considered is when a roadway section with high ADT and a wide surface width (e.g., 53 ft or more) is experiencing crashes (e.g., passing-related crashes) that would be addressed by the addition of another through lane. Evaluation of the section should include consideration of turning vehicles. For example, would reallocating the surface width to include left-turn bays be a better solution?

Intersections

Similar to the roadway segment analysis, negative binomial regression determined the effects of independent variables on intersection crashes. Previous research has clearly demonstrated the importance of cross-road ADT in predicting crashes at intersections. While many intersections could be identified within this project's roadway segment evaluations, the cross-road ADT values could not be as easily determined. Therefore, evaluations were conducted using both the entire intersection dataset (3109 intersections on two-lane highways and 630 intersections on four-lane highways) and the 265 intersections where cross-road ADTs were available.

Table 9-3 summarizes the findings from this project's regression analyses. For all scenarios, major road ADT was statistically significant. Cross-road ADT was also significant when available. Other variables were significant in different situations and should be considered as appropriate when making safety decisions regarding an intersection. For example, the right shoulder width and the presence of left-turn lane were significant in certain conditions. Previous research projects (*11, 16*) have also demonstrated the value of left- and right-turn lanes and wider outside shoulders, along with the value of lighting.

| | Intersection Lane High | ons on Two- ways (Cross– Data Not | Intersection Lane High | ons on Four- ways (Cross- Data Not | Intersection | ons Where Cr ta Are Availat | oss-Road |
|----------------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------|
| | | ilable) | | ilable) | Du | | |
| Number Sites | 3 | 109 | | 630 | | 265 | |
| Type of Crash | Total Crashes | Total Intersection Crashes | Total Crashes | Total Intersection Crashes | Total Crashes | Total Intersection Crashes | Total Crash KABs |
| Major Road ADT | 5% | 5% | 5% | 5% | 5% | 5% | 10% |
| Cross-Road ADT | Not available | Not available | Not available | Not available | 5% | 5% | 5% |
| Presence of Left-Turn Lane on Major | 5% | 5% | NS | 10% | NS | NS | NS |
| Number of Legs | 5% | 5% | 5% | 5% | 10% | 10% | NS |
| Right Shoulder Width | 5% | NS | NS | 10% | NS | NS | NS |
| Intersection Skew | 15% | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| Functional Class | NS | NS | 5% | 10% | 10% | 5% | NS |
| NS = not sign | ificant at an a | lpha level of 15 | 5% or less | | | | |

| Table 0.2 Almba Lawel Degulta from | Nagative Dimensiol Decreasion for Intersections |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Table 9-5. Alpha Level Results from | Negative Binomial Regression for Intersections. |

CONCLUSIONS

Following are the conclusions from the research.

Impacts of Lane Width and Shoulder Width on Crashes on Rural Two-Lane Highways

 Lane width and shoulder width have a significant impact on safety of rural two-lane highways. Prediction models generated the percent change in crashes between different shoulder or lane width decisions. These values can be used when evaluating alternatives.

Impacts of Lane Width and Shoulder Width on Crashes on Rural Four-Lane Highways

 Lane width and shoulder width also have a significant impact on safety of rural four-lane highways. Prediction models generated the percent change in crashes between different shoulder or lane width decisions. These values can be used when evaluating alternatives.

Conversion from a Two-Lane with Wide Shoulders to a Four-Lane with Narrow Shoulders Highway

 With consideration for safety, conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulder cross section to a four-lane with narrow shoulder cross section should be considered only at very high ADTs and wide surface widths.

Intersections

 Several variables were found through the literature and through this research that affect crash prediction at rural intersections. Those elements that can be influenced by designers with the greatest benefits in affecting crashes include left-turn lanes, lighting, and wider right shoulders/right-turn lanes. Variables with the greatest influence on crashes are subject road ADT and the cross-road ADT.

APPENDIX

SUGGESTIONS ON MATERIAL FOR REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

Findings from this project can be incorporated into future editions of the TxDOT *Roadway Design Manual* (RDM) (13), the national *Draft Prototype Chapter* (2), or in materials being developed as part of the TxDOT Project 0-4703 (*Incorporating Safety in Design*)(3).

POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER 3 ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL

The following comments are suggestions on where findings from this project could be incorporated into the *Roadway Design Manual*. Within Chapter 3 (New Location and Reconstruction (4R) Design Criteria) they would represent isolated direct references to crashes or crash predictions. In other words, not all roadway design elements would have an associated safety discussion thus resulting in an uneven treatment on the topic. Therefore, full integration of the findings from this project (e.g., tables listing ratio of crashes at different lane widths, etc.) into Chapter 3 of the *Roadway Design Manual* is not recommended at this time. Rather, in the future, a comprehensive integration of known crash relationships could be included in the next *Roadway Design Manual* rewrite. Another option is to add a statement indicating the availability of other materials that provide information on crash relationships with geometric elements. Examples of materials that could be referenced include the forthcoming *Highway Safety Manual*, materials being developed as part of the TxDOT Project 0-4703 (Incorporating Safety in Design), or this report (FHWA/TX-06/0-4618-1) or its summary report (TxDOT 0-4618-S).

Rural Two-Lane Highways (*Roadway Design Manual* Chapter 3, Section 4, and Chapter 4, Section 2)

A new footnote to the *Roadway Design Manual* Table 3-8 (reproduced here as Figure A-1) or Table 4-2 (reproduced as Figure A-2) could inform the reader of the availability of material on the relationship between lane and shoulder width and crashes. The new footnote could be attached to the title of the table or to the LANES and SHOULDERS headings within Table 3-8 or Lane Width and Shoulder Outside rows within Table 4-2. The footnote could state:

An appreciation of the relationship between lane width or shoulder width and crashes is available in the TxDOT 0-4618-S report available on-line at <provide address here>.

| | | (US Cu | istomary) | | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------|--|--|
| Functional Class | Design Speed (mph) | М | inimum Width 1.2 | (ft) for future AD | C of: | | |
| | | < 400 | 400-1500 | 1500-2000 | > 2000 | | |
| Arterial | | | LANES (ft) | | | | |
| | All | | | 12 | | | |
| | SHOULDERS (ft) | | | | | | |
| | All | 43 | 43 or 83 | 83 | 8 - 10 ³ | | |
| Collector | | | LANES (ft) | | | | |
| | 30 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 35 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 40 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 45 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 50 | 10 | 10 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 55 | 10 | 10 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 60 | 11 | 11 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 65 | 11 | 11 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 70 | 11 | 11 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 75 | 11 | 12 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | 80 | 11 | 12 | 12 | 12 | | |
| | SHOULDERS (ft) | | | | | | |
| l . | All | 243 | 45 | 85 | 8 - 10 ⁵ | | |
| Local ⁶ | | | LANES (ft) | | | | |
| | 30 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 35 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 40 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 45 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | 50 | 10 | 10 | 11 | 12 | | |
| | | | SHOULDERS (fr | 0 | | | |
| | All | 2 | 4 | 4 | 8 | | |
| 1 Minimum su | rfacing width is 24 f | t for all on-syste | m state highway ro | utes. | | | |
| 10 ft shoulders sl ³ On arterials, ⁴ On collectors ⁵ For collector desirable even if | apped fills through re dway sections. For a hould be used. shoulders fully surfa s, use minimum 4 ft s s, shoulders fully sur partial width for coll uly to off-system rou | iced. shoulder width a rfaced for 1,500 lectors with low | t locations where r or more ADT. Sho er volumes and all | oadside barrier is u ulder surfacing no local roads. | tilized. required but | | |

Figure A-1. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Table 3-8.

| | (US Cust | tomary) | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Design Element Current Average Daily Traffic | | | |
| | 0 - 400 | 400 -1500 | 1500 or more |
| Design Speed ^b | 30 mph | 30 mph | 40 mph |
| Shoulder Width | 0 ft | 1 ft | 3 ft |
| Lane Width | 10 ft | 11 ft | 11 ft |
| Surfaced Roadway | 20 ft | 24 ft | 28 ft |
| Turn Lane Width ⁶ | 10 ft | 10 ft | 10 ft |
| Horizontal Clearance | 7 ft | 7 ft | 16 ft |
| Bridges ^d : Width to be retained | 20 ft | 24 ft | 24 ft* |
| | (Met | ric) | |
| Design Element | | Current Average Daily 1 | Traffic |
| | 0 - 400 | 400 - 1500 | 1500 or more |
| Design Speed ^b | 50 km/h | 50 km/h | 60 km/h |
| Shoulder Width | 0 m | 0.3 m | 0.9 m |
| Lane Width | 3.0 m | 3.3 m | 3.3 m |
| Surfaced Roadway | 6.0 m | 7.2 m | 8.4 m |
| Tum Lane Width [°] | 3.0 m | 3.0 m | 3.0 m |
| Horizontal Clearance | 2.1 m | 2.1 m | 4.9 m |
| Bridges ^d : Width to be retained | 6.0 m | 7.2 m | 7.2 m ^e |
| ^a These values are intended for it values to provide consistency with conditions on similar roadways is conditions on similar roadways is ^b Considerations in selecting de characteristics as discussed in th ^a For two-way left turn lanes, 11 ^d Where structures are to be mo (Approach roadway width is the appropriate if the rehabilitation p selected for the remainder of the teo total lane width is no treduce. | th adjoining roadway's in the area or to provide sign speeds for the proj is chapter. If ft - 14 ft [3.3 m - 4.2 : diffed, bridges should r total width of the lanes project increases roadw project resisting struc | ections, to provide consist e operational improvement iect should include the roa m] usual. neet approach roadway with a and shoulders.) Greater ay life significantly or if h ture widths less than those | ency with prevailing is at specific locations. dway alignment dth as a minimum. bridge widths may be igher design values are |

Figure A-2. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Table 4-2.

The *Roadway Design Manual* could also include information on the findings from the evaluation of a conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulders highway to a four-lane with narrow shoulders highway. A new section within Chapter 3 could be added to discuss the results (Chapter 3 was suggested over Chapter 4 since the change in cross section would result in adding capacity). Suggestions on where to locate the material include after the Transition to Four-Lane Divided Highways section or after the Converting Existing Two-Lane Roadways to Four-Lane Divided Facilities section (reproduced as Figure A-3). The new section could state:

<u>Conversion from a Two-Lane with Wide Shoulders to a Four-</u> <u>Lane with Narrow Shoulders Highway</u>

With consideration of safety, a conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulder cross section to a four-lane with narrow shoulder cross section should be considered only at very high ADTs and wide surface widths.

The above statement was developed to communicate the findings, yet provide some engineering judgment flexibility. There are scenarios where a conversion may be logical, for example, as an interim measure until a widening project for a roadway can be designed. If the preference is to have specific values within the statement, then the section could contain the following:

Conversion from a Two-Lane with Wide Shoulders to a Four-Lane with Narrow Shoulders Highway

With consideration of safety, a conversion from a two-lane with wide shoulder cross section to a four-lane with narrow shoulder cross section should be considered only at ADTs of 10,000 and greater and available surface widths (total of lane and shoulder widths) of a minimum of 53 ft.

Converting Existing Two-Lane Roadways to Four-Lane Divided Facilities

The Federal Highway Administration will allow the existing alignments to remain in place when existing two-lane roadways are converted to four-lane divided facilities. Specifically, the new roadbed will be constructed to full current standards. When the existing lanes are converted to one-way operations, no changes are required in the horizontal or vertical alignment of the existing road. Other features such as signing, roadside hardware, safety end treatments, etc., should meet current standards.

Existing structures with substandard width on the existing lanes may remain if that width meets minimum rehabilitation (3R) requirements for multi-lane facilities.

An accident analysis of the existing two-lane roadway should be conducted. Any specific areas involving high accident frequencies will be reviewed and corrective measures taken where appropriate.

Figure A-3. Material from Roadway Design Manual on Conversion.

Multi-Lane Rural Highways (*Roadway Design Manual* Chapter 3, Section 5, and Chapter 4, Section 2)

A new footnote to the *Roadway Design Manual* Table 3-12 (reproduced here as Figure A-4) or Table 4-1 (reproduced here as Figure A-5) could inform the reader of the availability of material on the relationship between lane and shoulder width and crashes. The new footnote could be attached to the title of the table or to the Lane Width and Shoulder Outside rows within the tables. The footnote could state:

An appreciation of the relationship between lane width or shoulder width and crashes is available in the TxDOT 0-4618-S report available on-line at <provide address here>.

| | | | Customary | nctional Cla | (incl) | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|
| Type of Facili | ty | | Six-Lane Divided | | | | Four-Lane Undivided ¹ | |
| Design Speed (Arterials) ² (| mph) | N | fin. | М | in. | М | in. | |
| Flat | | 7 | 703 | 7 | 0, | 7 | 0, | |
| Rolling | | 6 | 504 | 6 | 04 | 6 | 0* | |
| Lane Width (ft) | | | | | 12 | | | |
| | | Des. | Min. | Des. | Min. | Des. | Min | |
| Median Width (ft) | Surfaced | 16 | 4 | 16 | 4 | Not Ap | plicable | |
| | Depressed | 76 | 48 | 76 | 48 | - | - | |
| Shoulder Outside (ft) | | 10 | 85 | 10 | 85 | 10 | 83 | |
| Shoulder Inside (ft) for Depressed Medians | | 10 | 4 | 4 | 4 | Not ap | olicable | |
| Min. Structure Widths for Bridges to Remain in place (ft) | Depressed Median | | 42 | | 30 | | 56 | |
| ¹ Undivided section may appropriate for use in rolli ² For multilane collector ³ 60 mph acceptable for minimum. ⁴ 50 mph acceptable for minimum for rural design. ⁵ Applies to collector ro- be decreased to 4 ft where from the shoulder edge. | ng terrain and s, minimum d heavy bettern heavy bettern ads only. On i | Vor restrict lesign spee aent under 1 aent under 1 four-lane u | ed right of v d values are unusual circ unusual circ ndivided hij | vay conditio 10 mph less umstances. umstances. ghways, out | ns. 5 than tabulat Otherwise, 7 Otherwise, 6 5ide surfaced | ed. 70 mph sho 50 mph sho 1 shoulder v | uld be uld be vidth may | |

Figure A-4. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Table 3-12.

| | (US Custon | nary) | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Design Element | | Highway Class | |
| | 6-Lane Divided | 4-Lane Divided | 4-Lane Undivided |
| Design Speed ^b | 50 mph | 50 mph | 50 mph |
| Lane Width | 11 ft | 11 ft | 11 ft |
| Outside Shoulder | 4 ft | 4 ft | 4 ft |
| Inside Shoulder | 4 ft | 2 ft | N/A |
| Turn Lane Width [°] | 10 ft | 10 ft | N/A |
| Horizontal Clearance | 16 ft | 16 ft | 16 ft |
| Bridges ^d : Width to be retained | 42 ft | 28 ft | 52 ft |
| | (Metric | ;) | |
| Design Element | | Highway Class | |
| | 6-Lane Divided | 4-Lane Divided | 4-Lane Undivided |
| Design Speed ^b | 80 km/h | 80 km/h | 80 km/h |
| Lane Width | 3.3 m | 3.3 m | 3.3 m |
| Outside Shoulder | 1.2 m | 1.2 m | 1.2 m |
| Inside Shoulder | 1.2 m | 0.6 m | N/A |
| Turn Lane Width ^e | 3.0 m | 3.0 m | N/A |
| Horizontal Clearance | 4.9 m | 4.9 m | 4.9 m |
| Bridges ^d : Width to be retained | 12.3 m | 8.4 m | 15.6 m |
| * These values are intended for u values to provide consistency wit conditions on similar roadways in ^b Considerations in selecting des characteristics as discussed in thi ^c For two-way left turn lanes, 11 ^d Where structures are to be mod (Approach roadway width is the appropriate if the rehabilitation p selected for the remainder of the the total lane width is not reduced. | h adjoining roadway sect a the area or to provide op ign speeds for the project s chapter. ft - 14 ft [3.3 m - 4.2 m] ified, bridges should meet total width of the lanes an opject increases roadway project. Existing structu | tions, to provide consister perational improvements t should include the roady usual. et approach roadway widt ad shoulders.) Greater bri life significantly or if hig re widths less than those s | icy with prevailing at specific locations. vay alignment h as a minimum. idge widths may be her design values are |

Figure A-5. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Table 4-1.

Intersections

The *Roadway Design Manual* discusses intersections in both Section 4 (Two-Lane Highways) and Section 5 (Multi-Lane Highways) of Chapter 3 (reproduced as Figures A-6 and A-7). The material provided is general in nature and when it covers variables included in the intersection evaluations it agrees with the project finding. For example, comments that roadways should cross at approximately a right angle is supported by research. Research has also shown the value of left-turn lanes and wide right shoulders/right-turn lanes. The RDM provides specific guidance on when to consider a left-turn lane (in RDM Table 3-11, reproduced as Figure A-8). Similar guidance on when to install a right-turn lane is not provided in the RDM. The left-turn lane guidance contained in Figure A-8 is based on conflict avoidance (as opposed to crashes) and recommendations for updating those values by updating assumptions used in the development of the original recommendations have been established in a previous project and are provided

elsewhere (19). The following comment could be added in both Section 4 and Section 5 to provide a general observation of the value of turn lanes:

Turn lanes can improve both the operations and safety of an intersection.

Intersections

The provision of adequate sight distance is of utmost importance in the design of intersections along two-lane rural highways. At intersections, consideration should be given to avoid steep profile grades as well as areas with limited horizontal or vertical sight distance. An intersection should not be situated just beyond a short crest vertical curve or a sharp horizontal curve. Where necessary, backslopes should be flattened and horizontal and vertical curves lengthened to provide additional sight distance. For more information on intersection sight distance, see Intersection Sight Distance, in Chapter 2.

Desirably, the roadways should cross at approximately right angles. Where crossroad skew is flatter than 60 degrees to the highway, the crossroad should be re-aligned to provide for a near perpendicular crossing. The higher the functional classification, the closer to right-angle the crossroad intersection should be.

Minimum Designs for Truck and Bus Turns in Chapter 7 provides information regarding the accommodation of various types of truck class vehicles in intersection design. Further information on intersection design may also be found in AASHTO's A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets.

Figure A-6. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Material on Intersections in Chapter 3, Section 4, Rural Two-Lane Highway Section.

| T . | |
|------------|---------|
| Inters | ections |
| | |

In the design of intersections, careful consideration should be given to the appearance of the intersection from the driver's perspective. In this regard, design should be rather simple to avoid driver confusion. In addition, adequate sight distance should be provided throughout, especially in maneuver or conflict areas. See Stopping Sight Distance in Chapter 2 for further information regarding sight distance.

Right angle crossings are preferred to skewed crossings, and where skew angles exceed 60 degrees, alignment modifications are generally necessary. Turn Lanes may be provided in accordance with previous discussions.

Chapter 7, Minimum Designs for Truck and Bus Turns, provides information regarding the accommodation of various types of truck class vehicles in intersection design. AASHTO's *A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets* should be consulted for further information on intersection design and intersection sight distance.

Intersections formed at by-pass and existing route junctions should be designed so as not to mislead drivers. Treatment of an old-new route connection is illustrated in Figure 3-11.

For intersections with narrow, depressed median sections, it may be necessary to effect superelevation across the entire cross section to provide for safer operation at median openings.

For more information on intersection design, see Stopping Sight Distance in Chapter 2.

For more information on border areas, see Borders.

Figure A-7. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Material on Intersections in Chapter 3, Section 5, Multi-lane Rural Highway Section.

| | Table 3-11: Guide for | r Left-Turn Lanes on | Two-Lane Highway: | 5 |
|--------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| Opposing Volume (vph) | | Advancing V | /olume (vph) | |
| | 5 % Left Turns | 10 % Left Turns | 20 % Left Turns | 30 % Left Turns |
| | 40 m | ph [60 km/h] Design S | peed | |
| 800 | 330 | 240 | 180 | 160 |
| 600 | 410 | 305 | 225 | 200 |
| 400 | 510 | 380 | 275 | 245 |
| 200 | 640 | 470 | 350 | 305 |
| 100 | 720 | 515 | 390 | 340 |
| | 50 m | ph [80 km/h] Design S | speed | |
| 800 | 280 | 210 | 165 | 135 |
| 600 | 350 | 260 | 195 | 170 |
| 400 | 430 | 320 | 240 | 210 |
| 200 | 550 | 400 | 300 | 270 |
| 100 | 615 | 445 | 335 | 295 |
| | 60 m | ph [100 km/h] Design | Speed | |
| 800 | 230 | 170 | 125 | 115 |
| 600 | 290 | 210 | 160 | 140 |
| 400 | 365 | 270 | 200 | 175 |
| 200 | 450 | 330 | 250 | 215 |
| 100 | 505 | 370 | 275 | 240 |

Figure A-8. Reproduction of *Roadway Design Manual* Table 3-11.

POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER 4 ROADWAY DESIGN MANUAL

Within Chapter 4 of the *Roadway Design Manual*, Section 3 is dedicated to safety enhancement discussion. The Safety Design subsection within Section 3 discusses suggestions paraphrased from Transportation Research Board (TRB) Special Report 214. These suggestions include comments on horizontal curves and bridge widening. The section could be expanded to include comments regarding pavement widening on roadway segments and intersection treatments. The suggestions are shown with underlines in an excerpt of Section 3 material in Table A-1.

Table A-1. Suggested New Material for Roadway Design Manual Chapter 4, Section 3. Material from Roadway Design Manual Chapter 4, Section 3.

Material from Roadway Design Manual Chapter 4, Section 3.....

Before developing construction plans and specifications, designers should document the project evaluation and give the design criteria which will be used to produce the final rehabilitation project.

Research has also supported the following suggestions:

Along roadway segments, designers should evaluate the benefits of increasing the lane or shoulder width of narrow pavements.

At intersections, designers should consider the value of lighting, and adding left- or right-turn bays.

Other methods have been successfully used to identify potential crash problems....

POTENTIAL MATERIAL FOR SAFETY REFERENCES

Rural Two-Lane Highways

The impact of changes in lane width and shoulder width on crashes can be seen in the ratios of number of crashes for a given width to the number of crashes on a roadway with a selected width. For example, the ratio of crashes on a roadway with no shoulders as compared to a roadway with an 8-ft shoulder is 1.62. In other words, the no-shoulder segment is predicted to

have 62 percent more crashes. This example assumes that all other conditions for the two roadways are similar, such as lane width and roadside conditions. The ratios for shoulders and lane widths were determined based on total crashes. The ratios are listed in Table A-2.

| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
|---------------------|---------------------|
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.51 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.89 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.27 |
| 3 | 1.35 |
| 2 | 1.43 |
| 1 | 1.52 |
| 0 | 1.62 |

 Table A-2. List of Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Two-Lane
 Highways Based on Predictions of Total Crashes.

Rural Four-Lane Highways

Similar to the two-lane highway analysis, the impact of changes in lane width and shoulder width on crashes can be seen in the ratios of number of crashes. The ratios for shoulders and lane widths were determined based on the predictions of total crashes and are listed in Table A-3.

| Based on Predictions of Total Crashes. | |
|----------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Lane Width (ft) | Ratio to 12-ft lane |
| 12 | 1.00 |
| 11 | 1.15 |
| 10 | 1.32 |
| 9 | 1.52 |
| Shoulder Width (ft) | Ratio to 8-ft lane |
| 10 | 0.88 |
| 9 | 0.94 |
| 8 | 1.00 |
| 7 | 1.06 |
| 6 | 1.13 |
| 5 | 1.20 |
| 4 | 1.28 |
| 3 | 1.36 |
| 2 | 1.45 |
| 1 | 1.54 |
| 0 | 1.64 |

| Table A-3. Ratios for Lane Width and Shoulder Widths for Rural Four-Lane Highways |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Based on Predictions of Total Crashes. |

REFERENCES

- Highway Capacity Manual. Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 2000.
- Highway Safety Manual, Prototype Chapter: Two-Lane Highways. NCHRP Project 17-18(4). February 2003. Available from: <u>http://www.highwaysafetymanual.org</u>. Accessed April 2004.
- Incorporating Safety in Design. TxDOT Research Project 0-4703. Project began 2003. Elizabeth Hilton Project Director.
- Council, F. M., and J. R. Stewart. "Safety Effects of the Conversion of Rural Two-Lane to Four-Lane Roadways Based on Cross-Sectional Models" *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1665, TRB, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1999, pp. 35-43.
- Harwood, D. W., and A. D. St. John. *Passing Lanes and Other Operational Improvement on Two-Lane Highways*. Publication FHWA-RD-85-028. FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D.C., 1985.
- 6. Harwood, D. W. *NCHRP Report 282: Multilane Design Alternatives for Improving Suburban Highways*. TRB, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1986.
- Fambro, D. B., D. S. Turner, and R. O. Rogness. *Operational and Safety Effects of Driving* on *Paved Shoulders in Texas*. Publication FHWA-TX-81-31+265-2F. Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, TX, January 1981.
- Zegeer, C.V., J. Hummer, D. Reinfurt, L. Herf, and W. Hunter. Safety Effects of Cross-Section Design for Two-Lane Roads. Volumes I and II. Publication FHWA-RD-87-008, FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D.C., 1987.
- Zegeer, C. V., and F. M. Council. "Safety Relationships Associated with Cross-Sectional Roadway Elements" *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1512, TRB, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1995, pp. 29-36.
- Harwood, D. W., F. M. Council, E. Hauer, W. E. Hughes, and A. Vogt. *Prediction of the Expected Safety Performance of Rural Two-Lane Highways*. Publication FHWA-RD-99-207. FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D.C., 2000.

- Bauer, K. M., and D. W. Harwood. *Statistical Models of At-Grade Intersection Accidents Addendum.* Publication FHWA-RD-99-094. FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, D.C., October 1998.
- 12. *A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets*. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. Washington, D.C., 2001.
- 13. TxDOT *Roadway Design Manual*. February 2004. http://manuals.dot.state.tx.us/docs/coldesig/forms/rdw.pdf. accessed August 2005.
- Pline, J. "Left-Turn Treatments at Intersections." *Synthesis of Highway Practice Report* 225, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1996.
- Neuman, T. R. "Intersection Channelization Design Guide." *NCHRP Report 279*, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C. 1985.
- Harwood, D. W., K. M. Bauer, I. B. Potts, D. J. Torbic, K. R. Richard, E. R. Kohlman Rabbani, E. Hauer, and L. Elefteriadou. *Safety Effectiveness of Intersection Left- and Right-Turn Lanes*. Publication FHWA-RD-02-089. Federal Highway Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, McLean, Virginia, July 2002.
- Evaluation of Minor Improvements: Flashing Beacons, Safety Lighting, Left-Turn Channelization. Traffic Department, California Department of Public Works. [Sacramento, CA, 1967.
- Zegeer, C. V., D. W. Reinfurt, J. Hummer, L. Herf, and W. Hunter. "Safety Effects of Cross-Section Designs for Two-Lane Roads" *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1195, TRB, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1988, pp. 1-10.
- Fitzpatrick, K., and T. Wolff. "Left-Turn Lane Installation Guidelines" *2nd Urban Street Symposium*. Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., July 2003.